## IMMUNOCHEMICAL STUDIES OF TYPE II COLLAGEN DEGRADATION

## IN BOVINE AND HUMAN ARTICULAR CARTILAGE

ΒY

#### GEORGE RAYMOND DODGE

## DEPARTMENT OF SURGERY DIVISION OF SURGICAL RESEARCH MCGILL UNIVERSITY MONTREAL, QUEBEC CANADA

## OCTOBER 1989 (REVISED APRIL 1990)

## A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

C George R. Dodge 1989

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

 $\bigcirc$ 

 $\bigcirc$ 

Abstract Resume Acknowledgements Abbreviations List of Figures and Tables Specific Aim	1 2 3 6 7 12
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	14
I. PREFACE	14
II. JOINT ANATOMY	15
<ul> <li>A. Fibrous capsule</li> <li>B. Synovial membrane</li> <li>C. Synovial fluid</li> <li>D. Articular cartilage <ol> <li>Cartilage Organization</li> <li>Superficial zone</li> <li>Mid zone</li> <li>Deep zone</li> <li>Calcified zone</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	15 16 17 19 20 20 20 22 23 24
III. GENERAL PROPERTIES OF ARTICULAR CARTILAGE	26
IV. CARTILAGE MACROMOLECULES	28
<ul> <li>A. Collagen <ol> <li>Collagen Immunology</li> <li>Type II collagen <ol> <li>Physicochemical properties</li> <li>Biosynthesis</li> <li>Crosslinking</li> </ol> </li> <li>Minor collagens <ol> <li>Type V</li> <li>Type VI</li> <li>Type IX</li> <li>Type XI</li> </ol> </li> </ol></li></ul>	28 29 32 35 36 39 39 40 41 43
	45
A Proteinases	49
1. Collagenase 2. Cathepsins and Elastase 3. Stromelysin	49 49 52 53

# PAGE

	PAGE
VI. MEDIATORS AND STIMULATORS OF PROTEINASE SECRETION	56
A. Interleukin-1	56
B. Autocrine factors	59
C. Proteinase inhibitors	60
D. Connective tissue autoimmunity	61
VII. ARTHRITIC DISEASES	64
A. Osteoarthritis	64
1. General features and etiology	65
2. Pathology	65
B. Rheumatoid arthritis	66
1. General features and etiology	66
2. Pathology	69
CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	71
I. REAGENTS, CHEMICALS, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT	71
II. TISSUE	75
A. Animal	75
B. Human	75
III. COLLAGEN PREPARATION	77
A. Extraction and purification	77
B. Density gradient centrifugation	78
C. Cyanogen bromide cleavage of collagen	78
D. Reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography	79
IV. ANTISERA	81
A. Antibody production	81
B. Preparation of F(ab') <sub>2</sub> for immunohistochemistry	83
V.ANTIBODY CHARACTERIZATION	85
A. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	85
B. Electrophoresis and immunoblot analysis	85
C. Protein sequence analysis	87
VI. IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL METHOD	88

	PAGE
VII. EXPERIMENTAL MODEL OF COLLAGEN DEGRADATION	91
A. Bovine articular cartilage explant cultures	91
B. Cartilage extraction	92
C. Amino acid analysis	92
D. Immunochemical detection of collagen and	93
F Collagenase assay	93
F. Immunohistochemistry	94
VIII. STUDIES OF HUMAN ARTICULAR CARTILAGE DEGRADATION	95
A. Human articular cartilage explant cultures	95
B. Immunohistochemistry	96
C. Electron microscopy	97
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS	99
I. COLLAGEN PURIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION	99
A. Preface	99
B. Type II collagen	102
C. HPLC analyses of type II collagen	103
D. Summary	105
II. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE ANTIBODIES	105
A. Preface	105
B. ELISA analyses of antiserum R181	105
1. Bovine collagens	105
2. Human collagens	106
C. Biochemical characteristics	107
1. SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analyses	107
2. Sequence analyses of type II collagen peptides	110
D. Summary	110
II. ARTICULAR CARTILAGE DEGRADATION IN CULTURE	113
A. Preface	113
B. Explant cultures of bovine articular cartilage	114
1. Immunohistochemistry	114
<ol><li>Immunochemical analyses of explant and culture medium</li></ol>	117
<ol> <li>Amino acid analyses of explant culture medium</li> </ol>	118
<ol> <li>Immunochemical analyses of extracts of explant tissues</li> </ol>	118
2. Collagenase activity	119
C. Summary	120

	PAGE
IV STUDIES OF HUMAN ARTICULAR CARTILAGE TYPE II COLLAGEN DEGRADATION	122
A. Preface	122
B. Immunohistochemistry	122
1. Tissues	122
2. Detection of degraded type II collagen in normal	
and diseased cartilage	123
C. Cartilage explant culture experiments	126
D. Immunoelectron microscopic studies	131
E. Summary	134
CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION	137
I. DISCUSSION	137
II. EPILOGUE	148
REFERENCES	151

#### Abstract

A major limitation in analyzing collagen degradation in articular cartilage in arthritis has been the lack of a technique for identifying collagen breakdown in situ. A new methodology is described which utilizes immunochemical and immunohistochemical protocols and a well characterized antiserum that permits the detection and analysis of type II collagen degradation in human and bovine articular cartilages. The antiserum R181 specifically reacts with unwound alpha chains and the CNBr-derived peptides al(II)CB11 and al(II)CB8 of human and bovine type II collagens and not with helical collagens. Increased degradation of type II collagen was detected in bovine cartilage cultured with IL-1. Increased extractable  $\alpha$  chains and smaller collagen fragments were detected immunochemically. Immunohistochemically, an increase in type II collagen degradation was detected in human cartilages cultured with interleukin-1. This could be inhibited by addition of a metalloproteinase inhibitor. All human arthritic cartilages showed more staining for type II collagen degradation than was seen in normal cartilages. Using light and electron microscopic analyses, distinct patterns of collagen degradation were seen in rheumatoid arthritic compared with osteoarthritic cartilages. The results suggest that type II collagen degradation is a significant and early event in cartilage pathology.

## ACKNOWLEGMENTS

The experiments described in this thesis were carried out in the Joint Diseases Laboratory of the Shriners Hospital, Montreal, Quebec. The Shriners Hospital provided the unique atmosphere where talented scientists and clinicians could work on related problems within state of the art equipped laboratories. I am grateful to the Shriners of North America for their financial support and for the opportunity to be a part of this unique research environment. I would also like to thank the Arthritis Society of Canada for the period of time that I was supported by them.

Most important, are the people which have been a special part of the years I have been at the Joint Diseases Laboratory. I would like to express my special thanks to Dr. A. Robin Poole for giving me the opportunity to come to Montreal to study at McGill and work within his laboratories at the Shriners Hospital. I am grateful to Dr. Poole for his guidance and support through a very interesting and rewarding project. I am especially grateful to Dr. Poole for allowing me the independence which I needed and for the encouragement he gave to me to present my work at both local and international meetings.

A special thank you goes to Drs. Golds, Mort, Recklies, and Roughley for their advice, assistance and friendship over the years. I am deeply indebted to Isabelle Pidoux for her exceptional technical collaboration for the immunohistochemical studies and in particular, for performing the electron microscopic analyses. In addition, I thank Isabelle for the translation of the abstract and for her help in preparing this thesis document. For their help in preparing the final form of this thesis, I am also very grateful to Dr. Peter Roughley and Barbara Small who helped organize things while I was no longer in Montreal.

A very special thank you goes to Renee Leiberman for her exceptional fortitude and skills in processing the manuscript. I am also grateful to Michele Burman-Turner and to Freda Rowbotham for the preparation of many documents and arrangements over the years.

Mark Lepik and Jane Wishart have prepared all the figures and tables in this thesis and have provided outstanding art and photographic assistance throughout my stay at the Joint Diseases Laboratory.

I am very grateful to Nora Shepard and Dr. Nelson Mitchell for providing, me with office space and for their technical advice and friendship. I greatly appreciated the opportunity to interact with the Electron Microscopy Unit and I am grateful to Dr. Mitchell for providing many of the tissue specimens used in this thesis.

Many thanks go to Dr. Michel van der Rest for his advice on the purification and characterization of the collagens and for providing the human collagen types II and IX. I am grateful to Elisa de Miguel for expeditiously performing the amino acid sequence analyses, to Elida Rodriquez for helping me with the HPLC experiments and to Edwin Wan for performing the amino acid analyses. Dr. David Eyre of the University of Washington, Seattle provided purified types V, VI, IX, and XI bovine collagens. I am grateful to Dr. Eyre for providing these collagens which helped in the thorough characterization of the antiserum, R181.

Special thank you to Agnes Reiner for her assistance and technical advice on the biochemical procedures and to Bob White for preparing the initial bovine type II collagen preparation. Lastly, a special heartfelt thanks goes to all the past and present members of the Joint Diseases Laboratory and Genetics Unit for their individual and collective efforts to make my time at the Shriners and in Montreal an interesting, pleasant and rewarding time.

# Abbreviations used in this thesis

Α	Absorbance
АРМА	4-aminophenylmercuric acetate
BES	(N, N-bis [2-Hydroxyethyl-2- aminoethanesulfonic acid)
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CNBr	Cyanogen bromide
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMEM-B	DMEM containing BSA 0.1 mg/ml
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetracetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
GAG	glycosaminoglycan
HEPES	(N-[2-Hydroxyethyl] piperazine-N -[2-ethanesulfonic acid])
HFBA	Heptafluorobutyric acid
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IL-1	Interleukin-1
NRS	Normal rabbit serum
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PVDF	Polyvinylidine difluoride membrane
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SLS	Segment long spacing
TES	(N-tris[Hydroxymethyl]methyl-2-aminoethanesulfonic acid; 2-
	([2-Hydroxy-1,1-bis(hydroxymethyl)-ethyl]amino)ethanesulfonic acid)
TRIS	2-amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)-1,3-propanediol

# PAGE

Figure 1:	Diagramatic Representation of the Anatomy of the	
	Synovial Joint of the Human Knee	15A
Figure 2:	Organization of Adult Articular Cartilage	20A
Figure 3:	Proteoglytic Destruction of Cartilage Collagen	57A
Figure 4:	Preparation of Type II Collagen	77Å
Figure 5:	General Outline of Immunohistochemical Protocol Used	
	for Bovine Articular Cartilage	88A
Figure 6:	SDS-PAGE (7.5%) of Purified Bovine Type II Collagens	
	Demonstrating Fragmentation of Collagen After Boiling	100A
Figure 7:	SDS-PAGE of Purified Bovine Type II Collagen $\alpha$ Chains	
	and CNBr-Derived Peptides	100B
Figure 8:	Demonstration of Similarity Between Adult and Fetal	
	Type II Collagen CNBr-Derived Peptides by Minigel	
	SDS-PAGE (8%) and Immunoblotting with R181	101A
Figure 9:	Reversed-phase HPLC Analysis of Bovine Type II Collagen	102A
Figure 10:	SDS-PAGE of Peaks A and B From Reversed-Phase HPLC	
	Analysis of Bovine Type II Collagen	103A
Figure 11:	ELISA Analyses of Antiserum (R181) with Purified Native	
	Bovine Cartilage Collagens	105A
Figure 12:	ELISA Analyses of Antiserum (R181) with Purified Denatur	ed
	Bovine Cartilage Collagens	106A

7.

PAGE

8.

Figure 13:	Demonstration of Small Quantities of Immunoreactive	
1.19010 131	Example of Tupo II Collagon in Durified Bouing Tupo II	
	Fragments of Type II Collagen in Purified Bovine Type II	
	Collagen	106B
Figure 14:	ELISA Analyses of Antierum (R181) to Demonstrate Cross-	
	Reaction with Human Type II Collagen	106C
Figure 15:	Identification of CNBr-Derived Peptides of Bovine	
	Type II Collagen	107A
Figure 16a	Specificity of Antiserum R181 is Shown by Immunoblotting	108A
Figure 16b	Specificity of Antiserum R181 is Shown by Immunoblotting	108B
Figure 16c	Specificity of Antiserum R181 is Shown by Immunoblotting	108C
Figure 17:	Reaction Specificity of Antiserum R181 with Human	
	Type II Collagen $\alpha$ Chains, CNBr-Derived Peptides and an	
	Unfractionated Extract of Human Articular Cartilage	109A
Figure 18:	Amino Acid Sequence Analysis of CNBr-Derived Peptides	
	of Bovine al(II)	110A
Figure 19:	Diagramatic Representation of Position and Relative Sizes	
	of CNBr-Derived Peptides of Bovine Type II Collagen	112A
Figure 20:	Controls for Immunohistochemical Staining of Bovine	
	Articular Cartilage	114A
Figure 21:	Effects of Trypsin Pre-treatment of Immunolocalization	
	of Type II Collagen Degradation and Detection of	
	Proteoglycan in Bovine Articular Cartilage	115A

PAGE

9.

Figure 22:	Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation in Uncultured and Cultured Bovine Articular	
	Cartilage	115B
Figure 23:	Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation in Bovine Articular Cartilage Cultured for	
	12 Days With or Without IL-1	117A
Figure 24:	Immunochemical Analyses of Bovine Cartilage Extracts	
	After Culture With or Without IL-1	119A
Figure 25:	Accumulation of Latent Collagenase Activity in Culture	
	Media from Bovine Articular Cartilage Explants Cultured	
	With and Without IL-1	120A
Figure 26:	Immunohistochemical Detection of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation and the Presence of Proteoglycan	
	in Rheumatoid Arthritic Human Articular Cartilage	124A
Figure 27:	Comparison of Type II Collagen Degradation and the Prese	nce
	of Proteoglycan in Normal and Rheumatoid Arthritic Huma	in
	Articular Cartilage	124B
Figure 28:	Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation in Human Osteoarthritic Articular Cartilage	125A
Figure 29:	Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation in Human Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage	125B

 $\bigcirc$ 

Figure 30:	Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation in Normal Human Rheumatoid Articular	
	Cartilage	126A
Figure 31:	Immunohistochemical Identification of IL-1 Induced Type II	
	Collagen Degradation in Explant Cultures of Adult Human	
	Articular Cartilage	127A
Figure 32:	Inhibition of IL-1 Induced Type II Collagen Degradation	
	by U24522	127B
Figure 33:	Accumulative (Latent) Collagenase Activity in Medium	
	of Human Articular Cartilage Explants Stimulated	
	with IL-1	128A
Figure 34:	Accumulative (Latent) Collagenase Activity in Medium of	
	Human Articular Cartilage Explants Cultured With and	
	Without IL-1 and the Inhibitor U24522	129A
Figure 35:	Immunoelectron Microscopic Demonstration of Type II Coll	agen
	Degradation in Human Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage	1 <b>32</b> A
Figure 36:	Comparison of Type II Collagen Degradation in Normal	
	and Rheumatoid, Human Articular Cartilage	1 <b>32</b> B
Figure 37:	Immunoelectron Microscopic Detection of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation at the Articular Surface of Normal and	
	Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage	133A

0

10.

11.

Figure 38:	Immunoelectron Microscopic Demonstration of Type II	
	Collagen Degradation in the Pericellular Space of	
	Human Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage	1 <b>33</b> B
Figure 39:	Immunoelectron Microscopic Detection of Type II Collagen	
	Degradation in Human Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage	135A

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Amino Acid Composition of Human $\alpha$ 1(II) Collagen Chains	
	As Compared to Human Collagen $\alpha 1(I)$ Chains	34A
Table 2:	Viability of Adult Human Articular Cartilage During	
	Explant Culture with IL-1 and U24522	131A

 $\square$ 

#### Specific Aim

Most arthritic diseases result in the destruction of articular cartilage with a loss of function. The destruction is due, in part, to the degradation of the extracellular matrix, which is composed of primarily fibrillar collagen and aggregating proteoglycans. In articular cartilage, type II collagen fibrils are responsible for the tensile strength wheareas the proteoglycans provide the compressive stiffness necessary for normal articulation and function. The precise mechanisms by which these connective tissue components are degraded and the regulation of the degradation and synthesis is not fully understood. One major limitation to its clarification has been the lack of the ability to detect and analyze collagen degradation in health and disease. A technique for identifying collagen breakdown in situ did not exsist. This thesis describes immunochemical and immunohistochemical protocols which permit one to detect type II collagen degradation in articular cartilage in both humans and experimentally in bovine cartilages. The concept and design for these studies was based on the premise that when fibrillar collagens are cleaved and subsequent unwinding and fragmentation occurs, there is the exposure of hidden epitopes that are not exposed in the native collagen molecule. It was theorized that these determinants are usually sequestered in the triple helix and are not detectable until the helix unwinds and is fragmented and that experimentally, these antigenic epitopes could be used to generate a specific antiserum for degraded type II collagen.

This thesis describes the generation and characterization of an antibody (R181) that specifically reacts with fragmented and denatured human and bovine type II collagen alpha chains. The antiserum R181 does not react with helical type II collagen or any non-collagenous or collagenous protein in articular cartilage, including the minor collagen types V, VI, IX and XI. This well characterized antiserum was then utilized as a tool to study the degradative changes in human normal and arthritic cartilages as well as bovine articular cartilage experimentally treated with IL-1. An antiserum with unique specificity as mentioned here provides a powerful tool to study normal cartilage remodeling, cartilage pathology and cartilage destruction via cytokines such as IL-1.

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

### I. PREFACE

This thesis will address various aspects of connective tissue collagen degradation in articular cartilage by describing experiments where the degradation of type II collagen was studied both immunochemically and immunohistochemically. As background, it is necessary to understand the anatomical features of the articulating joints and the biochemistry and immunology of the macromolecules which comprise articular cartilage. The resident cells of cartilage called chondrocytes will be discussed since their role in cartilage synthesis and turnover is paramount to these studies. The characteristics of cartilage addressed in detail in this thesis will be primarily those of the major fibrillar collagen found in articular cartilage, type II collagen. The degradation of articular cartilage collagen or the imbalance of cartilage matrix degradation and synthesis can result in several clinical conditions. Two such arthritides of clinical relevance, rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis, will be described and were studied from the point of view of collagen degradation. The pathology and etiology of these clinical conditions and studies involving pathological human tissues will be discussed.

This "Introduction" does not presume to cover all the aspects of joint pathology relevant to articular cartilage destruction and loss of function, but rather presents a review of pertinent information required to understand and interpret the results presented in subsequent chapters.

14.

### II. JOINT ANATOMY

Diarthodial joints are classified according to the type of union at the point of contact of two or more bones. The proper movement of joint surfaces while weight bearing depends on the integrity of the components and the precise alignment of the proximal and distal skeletal structures. The type of joint relevant to this thesis is called a synovial joint and includes the majority of important articulations in the body. These joints are characterized by the free movement between two bones covered in hyaline cartilage surrounded by a synovial membrane, such as the knee, the joint between the tibia and femur. For the purposes of review, the synovial joint consists of four major components: a fibrous capsule, a synovial membrane, the synovial fluid and articular cartilage (see Figure 1). In certain joints, in addition to the cartilage lining the surface of the bones there are fibrocartilageous structures referred to as discs or menisci which separate the bones involved in articulation. The predominant collagen of the meniscus has been shown to be mostly type I collagen (1). Although these accessory structures found within synovial joints have all been shown to be important to the function and stability of the joint, the collagenous connective tissue studied in this thesis is exclusively articular cartilage.

#### A. Fibrous capsule

The fibrous capsule of the synovial joint is the peripheral fibrous membrane composed primarily of collagen fibers, which encases the joint cavity. This fibrous envelope is continuous with the perichondrium and the periostium of the adjacent bone and provides, in part, the joint stability, yet permits restricted flexibility. The stabilizing ligaments of the joint are found



Figure 1 : Diagrammatic Representation of the Anatomy of the Synovial Joint of the Human Knee

combining with this fibrous capsule and together play a crucial role in stabilizing the joint. Ligaments under normal conditions function to facilitate joint motion about the most favorable axis. The ligaments are composed primarily of dense bundles of collagen fibers and elastin. Joints such as the knee are stabilized by both peripheral and internal fibrous structures referred to as collateral and cruciate ligaments, respectively. When the ligament is within the joint cavity, such as the anterior cruciate in the knee, the ligament itself is covered by the synovial membrane. It has been demonstrated that disruption of these ligaments and the hypermobility which results, lead to severe joint and cartilage degeneration (2).

The fibrous capsule is highly vascularized, contains a nerve network and is supplied by the lymphatics, all in contrast to that of articular cartilage which contains none of these structures. The sensitivity to pain has been shown to reside primarily in this capsule and to some degree in the synovial membrane which lines the inner surface of the fibrous capsule.

## B. Synovial membrane

The synovial membrane is composed of an intimal layer of synovial cells overlying a layer of connective tissue, referred to as the subintimal layer. Normally this membrane covers all the intra-articular surfaces except the articular cartilage and the central portions of the menisci. Unlike most closed tissue spaces the joint is not lined by endothelium, but rather is formed from modified mesenchymal cells (3). Since there is no basement membrane, there is no structural barrier between the synovial membrane's vasculature and the synovial fluid. This continuous morphology permits an intimate involvement of the synovium and the joint capsule.

16.

The synovial lining or intima is composed of two major, functionally distinct, cell types: 1) type A cells, with a more phagocytic macrophage-like function, 2) type B cells, with a synthetic fibroblast-like function (4). Normally the synovial lining is rarely more than one to four cell layers thick, according to location. In inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, the synovium undergoes proliferation and is characterized by a mononuclear cell infiltrate. The functions of the synovium are to both synthesize the components, such as hyaluronic acid, which are responsible for joint lubrication and to maintain a debris-free and germ-free environment by phagocytosis and pinocytosis. There is some evidence that both cell types and intermediate cells, can function in both the synthetic and phagocytic manner and that their morphology is representative of function (5-8).

Beneath the layer of synovial cells lies the subintimal layer composed of few cells among collagen fibrils, adipose tissue and a well developed vasculature. The extracellular matrix of the synovium is primarily made of collagen types I and III (9), although associated with the vascular endothelium and smooth muscle cells, collagen types IV and V can be found (10).

## C. Synovial fluid

Joint tissues are bathed in a viscous friction-reducing fluid termed synovial fluid. Nutrition and lubrication are provided by the synovial fluid. Normal synovial fluid is a clear yellow plasma infiltrate to which hyaluronic acid has been added by the synthetic cells of the synovium. The unique morphology of the intimal layer and subintimal blood supply allows for fluid transport across the synovial membrane. It plays an important role in the maintainance of the intra-articular pressure, important in load bearing. The dynamics of normal joint fluid production and resorption are maintained by the fluid flow of the microcirculation and lymphatic drainage.

In addition to the synovial cell product, hyaluronic acid, other glycoproteins and plasma components, such as  $\alpha_2$  macroglobulin, are typically present in small quantities (11,12). Since under normal conditions, there is very little synovial fluid present, more information is known about fluid found in abnormal joints. The concentration of small molecules in synovial fluid, such as electrolytes and glucose, is similar to that found in plasma. In rheumatoid arthritis, for example, the synovial fluid has been shown to contain larger proteins than normal, suggesting an altered selective exclusion, large numbers of inflammatory cells such as polymorphonuclear leukocytes and monocytes capable for matrix degradation, chemotactic factors including complement components, and proteinases. Specific proteinases important to these studies, such as collagenase, will be discussed in greater detail in subsequent sections.

Diffusion of molecules from the synovial fluid for both nutritional purposes and for stimulatory and inhibitory effects on chondrocyte function is well established. Earlier studies by Mankin (13) and Maroudas (14) using radiolabelled nucleotides, dyes etc. showed that solutes transfer well into cartilage from the synovial fluid surface. In addition, important to this thesis is the principle that molecules can diffuse in via the subchondral route since proteinases, such as collagenase, and molecules like IL-1 derived from this site are likely candidates for being involved in the matrix degradation observed in arthritic cartilages.

## D. Articular cartilage

Articular cartilage is the smooth, resilient surface or covering of bone which permits normal joint motion. It is an avascular connective tissue composed of a unique combination of cells called chondrocytes and extracellular matrix. The extracellular matrix is composed of collagens and proteoglycans each of which will be discussed in a subsequent section. The major collagen of articular cartilage, as originally described by Miller (15) is type II collagen, the collagen type with which this thesis is primarily concerned. The tensile strength of cartilage is attributed to fibrils of type II collagen (16).

Articular cartilage of the synovial joint is referred to as hyaline cartilage. It appears macroscopically as milky in color, and is opaque with a smooth and glistening surface. This specialized connective tissue covers the articulating surfaces of bones: it has no perichondrium, the fibrous material that covers other hyaline cartilages. Articular cartilage peripherally fuses with the joint capsule and periosteum. It has been shown that the thickness of articular cartilage not only varies between individuals and from joint to joint, it varies within different regions of a particular joint. Studies of human and animal cartilages have shown that cartilage thickness is asymmetrical over the surface of weight bearing joints and that it is allometrically related to body weight and in certain joints, such as the knee, to the actual area of the tibial plateau (17,18). It has been observed that with increasing age cartilage thickness increases, perhaps as a mechanism for reducing the compressive forces between the surfaces. An increase in congruency between the surfaces results in a greater distribution of these stresses generated by weight bearing and motion (17,19). Specific age-related changes as they pertain to this work will be discussed in a subsequent section.

## 1. Cartilage organization

Articular cartilage is organized into four zones commonly referred to as the following: superficial or tangential zone; mid or transitional zone; deep or radial zone; calcified zone (20-22) (See Figure 2). Cartilage is not a homogeneous tissue in regard to cellularity and is equally heterogeneous in matrix composition. Even though the cells of the cartilage, or chondrocytes, occupy less than 0.1% of cartilage volume (23,24) they are responsible for the synthesis and degradation of the extracellular matrix. Histologically, the matrix around the chondrocytes can be characterized as pericellular, that which is immediately surrounding the cell; territorial, representing that area adjacent to the chondrocyte; and interterritorial, the remainder of the matrix. Chondrocytes are in direct contact with the pericellular matrix, and not in a lacunae which is the cavity visualized in histological sections -an artefact of tissue preparation. Many ultrastructural studies have shown that these lacunae are in fact composed of a very thin network of collagen fibrils as well as proteoglycans (25,26). In addition, in the electron microscopic studies presented in this thesis the existence of a fine network of fibils can be observed in the pericellular sites with evidence of type II collagen degradation in the adjacent extracellular space (See Figure 38).

## a. Superficial zone

The superficial zone is characterized by narrow collagen fibers of 30 nm in diameter or less, which are arranged in parallel or tangentially to the joint surface (27). Smaller and fewer proteoglycans are present in this area as has been measured biochemically and detected immunohistochemically (20,28).



# Figure 2 : Organization of Adult Articular Cartilage

Zonal organization of adult bovine articular cartilage is demonstrated in a micrograph (left panel) of full thickness cartilage section stained with R110  $F(ab')_2$  and fluoresceinated streptavidin as described in methods section. The right panel is a diagrammatic representation of the cellularity of cartilage observed in the micrograph. The tide mark which delineates the interface between articular cartilage and the calcified zone, the calcified zone itself and subchondral bone are not shown.

The relative sparsity of proteoglycans in the superficial zone is compensated for by the densely packed network of collagen fibers. This arrangement extends into the cartilage approximately 5 to 10 percent of the total cartilage thickness. Immunoreactive proteoglycans that are present in this superficial zone are not extractable in 4 M guanidine-hydrochloride as are most proteoglycans found elsewhere (29). These proteoglycans have been shown to be structurally unrelated to those that form large aggregates with hyaluronic acid and have been classified as dermatan sulfate proteoglycans (30,31).

The cellularity in this region is characterized by flattened chondrocytes lying parallel to surface, much like the arrangement of the collagen fibers. Even though the chondrocytes appear morphologically distinct from the chondrocytes found elsewhere in the cartilage, they contain all the usual organelles (i.e. multilobed nucleus, Golgi, mitochondria and rough endoplasmic reticulum) (32,33). Metabolic pathways of articular cartilage chondrocytes have not been extensively studied from a comparative point of view. Nonetheless, in general, articular-cartilage chondrocytes are equipped with enzymes such as those of the glycolytic pathway, lactic dehydrogenase and triosephosphate dehydrogenase, which have been detected in bovine articular cartilage (34). Lipids, such as triglycerides, cholesterol, and phospholipids, are present in articular cartilage both intraand extracellularly. Based on wet weight, human articular cartilage has a total lipid content of approximately 0.32%-3.48% (35,36). Superficial zone chondrocytes are more closely associated with each other as can be observed in histological sections of cartilage cut perpendicular to the articular surface demonstrated in Figure 2. Whereas, as one looks deeper in the cartilage

section, away from the cartilage surface, they appear to increase in size, and take on an ovoidal shape and are more widely scattered in the matrix. The discoidal shape of superficial chondrocytes is consistent with what would be required of cells residing within an area of relatively little matrix and subjected to high shear forces and direct loading stresses.

The surface of cartilage is generally smooth, with few surface irregularities, except in cases of joint degenerative diseases such as osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. The pathological features of these diseases will be discussed in forthcoming sections. There have been a variety of studies that show irregularities and surface undulations on the surface of normal cartilages (37-39) although it has been suggested that these findings are artefactual as a results of tissue preparation, perhaps as a result of cutting and releasing tensions of the specialized matrix at the surface. Other studies have shown evidence of functional depressions or openings in the surface cartilage (40-42). These 'pores' are important in nutrient exchange and lubrication. Most studies of this type indicate that the surface is indeed not an inert and static covering of articulating surfaces, nor is it microscopically smooth and without subtle irregularities. Moreover, it may be that surface irregularities, in adult cartilage in particular, may relate more to the state of the cartilage and the manner in which it handles the shear forces and load stresses of weight-bearing and motion.

### b. Mid zone

The mid zone is characterized by a randomly-organized network of larger collagen fibrils and an increase in large proteoglycans in comparison to the proteoglycan composition of the superficial zone. This transitional zone occupies approximately 40-45% of the articular cartilage. Because proteoglycans are highly charged glycoproteins, they have been identified histologically using cationic dyes such as safranin o (43). Using these dyes the proteoglycans are shown to be abundant in this zone. Collagen fibrils in pericellular regions in the mid zone are usually smaller, oriented in a circular fashion and in association with proteoglycans, form a protective support for the chondrocyte (44). Away from the cells or in the territorial space the collagen fibrils are larger, ranging in width from 30-80 nm and are in general, more vertically arranged at right angles with the articular surface. The proteoglycans in the territorial zone have been shown to contain large aggregates of chondroitin sulfate and keratan sulfate proteoglycans (20).

Mid-zone chondrocytes are round in appearance and have all the usual intercellular organelles with, in particular, a well-developed rough endoplasmic reticulum characteristic of a cell engaged in active synthesis (45). These chondrocytes are more widely spaced than the cells of the superficial zone and are often seen in clusters.

Away from the specialized properties of the articular surface, the structure and function of articular cartilage as a weight-bearing network can be recognized. The interaction and orientation of both major components, fibrillar collagen which forms a restrictive scaffold and the greatly hyprophilic proteoglycans which create a resistive pressure due to their ability to imbibe water, exemplify the viscoelastic capabilities of loadbearing cartilage.

#### c. Deep zone

These special characteristics or features are carried into the remaining lower portion of articular cartilage which is referred to as the deep zone or by others, as the radial zone. This cartilage occupies the lower half (40-45%) of the tissue and lies above the calcified cartilage and subchondral bone. The area is a continuation of the mid zone in regard to characteristics such as collagen fibrils and proteoglycan content. The collagen fibrils are largest in size of all zones (up to 100 nm in diameter) and are primarily oriented perpendicular to the articular surface. Some fibrils appear to be anchored in the calcified matrix below. These characteristics are indicative of the high degree of compressive stiffness of articular cartilage. Cartilage may lose some of its capacity to resist stress and become susceptible to degeneration and pathology. Studies have shown a loss of collagen and stabilized proteoglycans with increasing age at all levels (46,47). The largest proteoglycans are found in the interterritorial regions of the deep zone aggregating with hyaluronic acid (20,29). It is the interaction of these large proteoglycans spanning the spaces between the large collagen fibrils that could suggest that resistance to compression is at its greatest in the deep zone.

The chondrocytes of the deep zone are fewer in number, large and round and often are arranged in clusters or stacks of 2-3 cells. They are separated by more matrix. They contain an abundance of rough endoplasmic reticulum and a well developed Golgi. Chondrocytes in the deep and mid zones are characterized as having a more irregular plasma membrane than cells in the superficial zone. Chondrocytes have been observed with long extensions or processes, some of which can be very thin and branched (48).

## d. Calcified zone

Lying beneath the deep zone of cartilage is the zone of calcified cartilage and subchondral bone. The junction between the non-calcified matrix and the adjacent calcified matrix is bounded by the tidemark, a basophilic line seen on histological sections (49) (not included in Fig. 2). This structure is composed of collagen fibrils arranged in a variety of patterns, some passing through both calcified and non-calcified regions. It has been suggested that this distinct region is withstanding great stress and is responsible for maintaining the continuity between the two areas.

## III. GENERAL PROPERTIES OF ARTICULAR CARTILAGE

Articular cartilage is a specialized tissue composed of a unique combination of cells and matrix, characteristics which were discussed in a preceeding section. One of the primary functions of articular cartilage is to perform in the joint as a shock absorber, to withstand the highly variable stress and compression of movement and weight-bearing. Another major function is to provide a smooth and resilient surface for motion between two bones to occur, maintaining an environment of low friction under conditions of high pressure and/or high velocity. These properties of articular cartilage are due to its principal components, collagen and proteoglycan. In a simplified but elegant way the macromolecular structure of cartilage can be thought of as a collagen fibril scaffold that forms a network of compartments which are filled with the highly polyanionic proteoglycans. The uniqueness of this viscoelastic tissue is in its ability to respond to selective and momentary compression and completely return to its original state. Biomechanical experiments have shown that even if a force is applied for hours, extruding water from the matrix, once stopped normal cartilage can return to its original configuration if it can freely imbibe water from its environment (46). In addition to playing a critical role in the biomechanics of articulation and cartilage resiliency, water is the most abundant constituent of normal cartilage. Water comprises 65-80% of the total wet weight of normal adult articular cartilage with little zonal variation (50). It has been shown that it is slightly higher in the superficial zone than in the rest of the cartilage (51). The swelling pressure of cartilage can be attributed to the highly charged water-binding glycosaminoglycans of the proteoglycans and the tensile strength of the collagen network determine its ability to resist deformation.

The size of the proteoglycans and the degree of hydration, in part, are limited by the collagen network which entraps them. This varies throughout the cartilage zones, as discussed in preceeding sections and demonstrates the heterogeneous nature of articular cartilage. A variety of studies have demonstrated this heterogeneity of proteoglycans within the different regions of cartilage (20,52,53) suggesting that the swelling pressure and compressive stiffness also vary within the cartilage.

Several distinct collagen types have been identified within hyaline cartilage (54) with the major collagen type being type II (15). Type II collagen comprises 10-20% of the total weight of normal adult articular cartilage (50). Each of the collagenous components of cartilage will be addressed in detail in a forthcoming section. Changes in water content and macromolecular composition occur during degenerative diseases such as osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis and will be discussed elsewhere in this thesis.

## **IV. CARTILAGE MACROMOLECULES**

Most all connective tissue are constructed along similar principles, each adapted for a specific physiological function. As mentioned, this cartilage is composed of a tissue-specific collagen network or scaffold in which other components such as glycoproteins (proteoglycans), are entrapped or attached. The biomechanics of articulation require articular cartilage to be constructed in such a manner as to withstand extreme pressure, absorb shock and be resilient.

Various types of cartilage exist. One such group of cartilage is referred to a hyaline cartilage, and includes the cartilage discussed in this thesis, articular cartilage. In this section specific features of relevant collagens and proteoglycans will be discussed as they relate to this thesis. The major collagen of cartilage, type II collagen, is the collagen with which this thesis is primarily concerned and will be covered in detail. Although collagen is the most abundant protein in the body, much is still unknown particularly about the interaction of the various collagen types. The other collagens found in non-calcifying matrices, types V, VI, IX & XI (54,55) will be discussed more briefly and in the context of these experiments. Proteoglycans are critical to the function and integrity of articular cartilage, therefore some discussion of these large glycoproteins is essential.

## A. Collagen

Collagens are proteins which structurally contain triple helical domain(s) composed of a repeating GLY-X-Y unit where X and Y can be any amino acid but are frequently proline and hydroxyproline, respectively. Functionally collagens participate in the extracellular construction and play a

role as primary supporting elements (56). To date, 12 genetically and structurally distinct collagen types have been identified and characterized to various degrees (57,58). Referred to as classical fibril-forming collagens, sharing some similar characteristics, are collagens type I, II and III. Based on sequence data of the primary structure of the pro-form of these collagens, they share 45-65% sequence homology (59). Nonetheless, these collagens, like all collagen, have a specific tissue distribution. The most abundant interstitial collagen is type I (the first to be identified and extensively studied) found in most tissues including bone, dentin and dermis. Fibrils of type III collagen form a fine reticular network and are found in tissues with type I, such as the dermis and blood vessel walls. Type II is the main collagenous protein of articular cartilage and in addition, is found in the vitreous body of the eye, and other hyaline cartilages. Various collagens have been studied for some 30 years. Even though this diverse family of collagen (including these interstitual collagen types I,II,III) are still the subject of many investigations. Fundamental questions, such as those addressing the interaction of collagens with each other and other extracellular matrix components, remain unanswered.

## 1. Collagen Immunology

Most proteins possess regions generally located on the outside or surface of the molecule which are referred to as antigenic determinants. These regions are usually composed of up to 15 different amino acid residues and the number of antigenic determinants is determined by the size and complexity of the protein (60,61). Antigenic determinants are a protein's unique sites which give it the ability to induce an antibody response when the protein comes in contact with cells of the immune system. This fundamental concept is the basis for the foreigness of proteins between species and individuals. The degree of antigenicity of a particular protein is not only due to the linear amino acid sequence but rather a combination of the unique sequence and its secondary molecular structure. Amino acid sequence determinants or those polypeptides which still retain their antigenicity after extensive degradation and denaturation are referred to as sequential antigenic determinants. Earlier studies have indicated that linear arrays of amino acids within a protein with antigenic properties, can be as small as pentapeptides (62). Antigenic determinants which depend on the sequence secondary, tertiary or quarternary structure are referred to as conformational antigenic determinants (63).

In general, antibodies raised against a particular protein usually fail to react with other proteins except when the other protein possesses similar determinants, such as in the case of identical proteins from two different species. This cross-reactivity, when present, permits the preparation of antibodies for experimental purposes for most all proteins and is a concept when has critical relevance to the experiments described in this thesis. Conversely, if antibodies were raised against certain antigenic determinants which are species or age-specific, the characterization of unique molecules or structures which are different between species is possible.

Due to collagen's unique structural features, collagen can be thought of as a model protein for the study of protein antigenicity. The antigenic structure of collagen has been studied and the high degree of antigenic and structural diversity have been demonstrated in many studies over the past two decades and has been extensively reviewed by Timpl (63-65). Collectively these studies have identified three main groups of antigenic
determinants within the fibrillar collagen types I, II and III. These are: (1) helical or central determinants which are localized in the triple helix and are destroyed by denaturing or unwinding the helical alpha chain; (2) nonhelical central determinants which are only exposed after denaturing the triple helix; (3) terminal determinants which are those located in the nonhelical telopeptide extensions of the alpha chains which when present are not dependent on wound or unfolded alpha chains.

Antibody responses to helical determinants are most frequent and strong. When pepsin solubilized collagen is used as the immunogen, where the nonhelical terminal ends are removed the antibodies raised are specific for the helical or central determinants (66,67). Antibody responses are less common to central nonhelical determinants, although, it has been demonstrated in earlier studies and in the present study described in this thesis, that denatured or fragmented collagen can be antigenic and specific peptide antibodies be raised (68-71). Historically, the structural determinants of many of the collagens have been elucidated by localizing antibody reactions to distinct CNBr-derived collagen peptides (70,72,73).

Earlier studies have identified immunogenic determinants and antibodyreactive epitopes on unwound collagen alpha chains (63,67,74-76). Since these determinants are usually sequestered in the triple helix and not detectable until unwinding or fragmentation occurs, antibodies to these nonhelical central determinants provide experimentally unique tools to study collagen degradation. The understanding of the immunology of collagen as we know it, provided the basis for the development of the antiserum used and in the design of the studies described in this thesis. Experimentally, antibodies that only recognize epitopes which are found on unwound or fragmented type II collagen (i.e. nonhelical central determinants) provide the opportunity to understand collagen degradation in a specialized tissue like cartilage both as a normal function of cartilage remodelling and in arthritic pathology.

### 2. Type II Collagen

### a. Physicochemical properties

Characteristics of the type II collagen shared by other fibril-forming collagens are that each collagen molecule is composed of three polypeptide chains each made up of approximately 1000 amino acids with a molecular weight of approximately 95 kilodaltons. Each polypeptide chain is referred to as an  $\alpha$  chain. Three  $\alpha$ -chains together form what is called tropocollagen, which has a mass of approximately 285 kilodaltons. The molecular weight of collagen is unlike that of globular proteins, for example, due to its high concentration of low mass amino acids, such a glycine (33%) and proline (10%). This results in a mean residue weight of 91.6 daltons whereas the molecular properties of globular proteins such as BSA and phosphorylase, result in a mean residue weight closer to 115. This may explain why collagenous proteins appear to have a higher molecular weight (as much as 40% higher) on SDS PAGE than their actual size (77,78).

Type II collagen was first discovered in hyaline cartilage as a unique collagen composed of three identical  $\alpha$ -chains, unlike that of type I which had been identified as having two different  $\alpha$ -chains in a ratio of 2:1 (15,79). The nomenclature for collagen is indicative of the molecular form, that is type I collagen is designated as [ $\alpha$ 1(I)]<sub>2</sub> $\alpha$ 2 and type II as [ $\alpha$ 1(II)]<sub>3</sub>.

A unique feature of each  $\alpha$ -chain is the repeating amino acid sequence where every third amino acid is a glycine often followed by either proline or hydroxyproline. Another amino acid found in high concentrations in collagen in addition to hydroxyproline is hydroxylysine. Both are found in very few other proteins. Table 1 shows the amino acid composition per 1000 residues. It demonstrates the large proportion of hydroxyproline, the presence of 10 methionines, no cysteine, and a high carbohydrate content. The third position in the glycine-X-Y triplet is often a hydroxylated lysine residue in type II collagen and is a site for glycosylation (15).

Since type II collagen contains a high number of hydroxylysine residues it can contain a relatively large amount of carbohydrate. Hydroxylysine is most commonly glycosylated to form either galactosyl-hydroxylysine or glucosyl-galactosyl-hydroxylysine. Each  $\alpha$ -chain is composed of a helical region (a left-handed helix) also referred to as the central region which accounts for 95% of the length of the molecule. Short non-helical regions or telopeptides are referred to as the NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal region and the COOHterminal region, respectively. Both non-helical regions are remnants of larger non-helical extensions which were enzymatically removed during collagen processing. These terminal regions in the final processed molecule are important sites for intermolecular crosslinks and will be discussed later.

Each  $\alpha$ -chain is coiled together to form a right-handed helix with an approximate repeat of 100 Å. This conformation is strictly dependent on the unique feature of a glycine repeating every three amino acids along with the other amino acids mentioned in high concentrations. This arrangement around a common axis, forming a triple helix, is stabilized by hydrogen bonds between  $\alpha$ -chains perpendicular to the helical axis. The arrangement of collagen molecules to form native fibrils is reflected in the image obtained after negative staining (with phosphotungstic acid) and electron microscopy.

The characteristic light and dark banding pattern with a repeat of 67 nm seen in negatively stained fibrils is indicative of the densely and loosely packed regions, respectively. These types of electron microscopic studies, usually using artificially aggregated fibrils called segment long spacing (SLS) crystallites, revealed the exact arrangement of collagen molecules in the native fibril, even without a precise knowledge of its primary structure (80). It was determined that the native fibril, of the fibrillar collagens type I, II, III were 4.4 D units in length, D being the length of one cross-striation period of 67 nm, and an overlap of approximately 30 nm (81). These determinations were confirmed years later using three dimensional analyses of the amino acid sequence and further interpretations of x-ray diffraction patterns (82-84).

The initial characterization of collagen was performed on material purified from connective tissues such as skin, bone and tendon. This was later to be referred to as type I collagen, whereas the major collagenous component of hyaline cartilages was identified later as distinct and referred to as type II collagen. The precise identities of these two, now well studied collagens, were based on the peptide maps obtained after cleavage with CNBr (85). The SLS crystallites of type II collagen were characterized by a similar banding pattern to that of type I collagen (86) and later to type III collagen (87) indicating the structural homology of these three classical fibril-forming collagens. The amino acid analyses show that these three genetically distinct collagens are similar although characterized by differences in sequence structure and specific amino acid content (Table 1).

Cleavage of collagens with CNBr has proven to be an invaluable tool in the characterization of the various collagen types. CNBr splits polypeptide

	Residues/1000 Total Residues	
AMINO ACID	HUMAN α1(II) <sup>a</sup>	HUMAN α1(I) <sup>D</sup>
3-Hydroxyproline 4-Hydroxyproline Aspartic acid Threonine Serine Glutamic acid Proline Glycine Alanine Half-cystine Valine Methionine Isoleucine Leucine Tyrosine Phenylalanine Hydroxylysine Lysine Histidine Arginine Total Gal-hydroxylysine	2 97 43 23 25 89 120 333 103 0 18 10 9 26 2 13 20 15 2 50 1000 4 12	$     \begin{array}{r}       1 \\       108 \\       42 \\       16 \\       34 \\       73 \\       124 \\       333 \\       115 \\       0 \\       21 \\       7 \\       6 \\       19 \\       1 \\       12 \\       9 \\       26 \\       3 \\       50 \\       1000 \\       1 \\       1 \\       1   \end{array} $
Data from Miller and Gay, 57, 88 <sup>a</sup> Purified from newborn human epiphysial cartilage. <sup>b</sup> Purified from human placental tissue.		

Table 1 : Amino Acid Composition of Human  $\alpha 1(II)$  Collagen Chains As Compared to Human Collagen  $\alpha 1(I)$  Chains

chains specifically at methionine residues (89) and when applied to collagen, results in relatively few fragments ranging in size from a few to close to 400 amino acids. CNBr-derived collagen fragments and subsequent sequence analyses, has permitted identification of each genetically distinct collagen species and continues to be a useful tool for the elucidation of the identities of new collagens. The generation and identification of CNBr-derived peptides of collagen type II are an important part of the studies described in this thesis.

#### b. Biosynthesis

As for all the fibril-forming collagens (I,II,III), the characteristics of the individual  $\alpha$  chains and molecules derived thereof are well suited for their biological function, although they are considerably modified by post translational events. Collagens, like many proteins, are initially synthesized as larger precursor molecules modified by specific enzymic reactions to produce the functional collagen molecule. Again, the early investigations were performed mostly on type I collagen, but due to the high degree of homology between fibril-forming collagens, the the biosynthetic characteristics and processing are representative of each. First observed in tissue culture of human fibroblasts (90) and in cultures of rat calvaria (91) was the existence of a collagen precursor, referred to as procollagen. These newly synthesized collagenous polypeptide chains have an apparent molecular weight of 120 kilodaltons for  $\alpha 1(I)$  and 140 kilodaltons for  $\alpha 2(I)$  as compared to the resulting 95 kilodaltons for  $\alpha$  chains of both species. Procollagen al(II) (referred to as pro al(II) is, in most structural aspects, quite similar to the pro  $\alpha 1(I)$ , including propertides, telopeptides and helical domain. It has been shown that  $\alpha 1(II)$  more closely resembles  $\alpha 1(I)$  than  $\alpha 2(I)$ . For example,

the nucleotide sequence of cDNA to chick pro  $\alpha 1(II)$  mRNA has shown that the C-terminal end (or C-propeptide) of pro  $\alpha 1(II)$  contains the identical number of residues as the homologous sequence in pro  $\alpha 1(I)$ . Further, the two sequences are identical in 71% of 246 amino acid residues (92). This is a somewhat higher degree of homology than is seen in the helical region.

The amino-and carboxy-terminal propeptides are cleaved by specific peptidases (called procollagen amino- and carboxy proteinases) before or during fibrillogenesis. These propeptides appear to be involved in the control of post-translational events and perhaps in the control of biosynthesis of collagen itself (93). Both propeptides are largely globular proteins and are thought to function in part to prevent intracellular fibril formation. In situations where the amino propeptide is not removed because of a defective enzyme, (i.e. dermatosporactic calves) the collagen molecules do not form intact fibrils. This results in the formation of a compromised biomechanical weak dermis. Other possible involvements of collagen propeptides have been proposed including that derived from the observation that the C-propeptide of  $\alpha$  1(II) is associated with the calcification of cartilage (94,95).

### c. Cross-linking

Fibrillar collagen's unique characteristics of strength and elasticity are in part contributed by the intramolecular cross-links which stabilize the molecule. Along with fibril diameter, orientation and density of fibrils, the degree of cross-linking combines to provide collagen with its structural function. The study of collagen cross-linking began with the observation by Gross <u>et al</u> that treating animals with the lathyrogen,  $\beta$ -aminoproprionitrile there was a dramatic increase in the amount of soluble collagen (96). More detailed amino acid sequence analysis of such collagen showed that the lysine

36.

or hydroxylysine residue in the amino-terminal telopeptide was not oxidized to allysine as it was in collagen from normal rats (animals not treated with  $\beta$ aminoproprionitrile) (97). This later was shown to be the situation with the oxidizable lysine or hydroxylysine in the carboxy-terminal telopeptide (98). These findings suggested that  $\beta$ -aminoproprionitrile, itself a compound isolated from the sweet pea, is inhibiting the formation of cross-links by interfering with the formation of aldehydes from the lysyl residues.

Cross-linking, an important posttranslational event, has been extensively studied and in part is well characterized. The initial events in the formation of cross-links are dependent on the enzyme, lysyl oxidase. This enzyme mediates the oxidative deamination of lysine and hydroxylysine residues yielding the respective semialdehydes, allysine and hydroxyallysine (97-99). This process occurs outside the cell and requires collagen aggregates or fibrils. It has been shown that lysyl oxidase has no effect on solubilized collagen molecules (100). The enzyme is tightly bound to collagen and is copper dependent. Although it has a particular affinity for the lysyl residues of the nonhelical peptides of the collagen molecule, it can also catalyze the oxidation of lysyl residues in the helical region at a much slower rate (101).

Intramolecular cross-links occur between the lysine and hydroxylysinedrived aldehydes within a collagen molecule, whereas, intermolecular crosslinks occur between aldehydes and amino groups of lysyl residues located in different collagen alpha chains. Inhibitors of aldehyde formation, such as  $\beta$ aminoproprionitrile, have revealed that aldehydic groups are essential for the formation of these cross-links.

Alterations in cross-linking occurring in a variety of connective tissue disorders, in particular those with a genetic basis. Among those conditions

are Marfans syndrome, osteogenesis imperfecta, and all types of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, each with striking clinical features (102-104).

Aging has profound effects on the chemical and physical nature of collagen and many of these changes are related to the status of cross-links. For example, with age there is a progressive decrease in the amount of soluble collagen which can be extracted from any tissue such as skin. The physical property of tensile strength increases with advancing age suggesting that there are more nonreducible cross-links present (105). There is no direct evidence on the number of cross-links present in aging tissues although it has been indirectly shown that there is increased crosslinking with age (106). Reducible cross-links are altered or modified into nonreducible cross-links during the aging of collagen and can be demonstrated by the fact that the yield of acid extractable collagen is greater from fetal or young tissues as compared with mature adult tissues (107).

There have been studies addressing the question of these age-related changes in collagen cross-links and the possibility of <u>in vivo</u> reduction of lysyl residues has been ruled out (108) and others have shown that there is a possibility of oxidative modifications occurring with result in a peptide bond (109). Age-related changes and the importance of cross-links in predisposing collagen to degradation and or abnormal repair, and overall fibril stability, remain to be answered by further studies.

The stability of collagen molecules is dependent on an additional number of weaker forces that these covalent cross-links discussed here and include such things as hydrophobic bonds, ionic interactions, Van der Waals forces, and interactions with neighboring proteoglycans.

# 3. Minor collagens

It is well known that the most abundant protein in hyaline cartilage is type II collagen and its characteristics as a classical collagen have been discussed in the preceeding section. Even though the major collagenous component has ben identified for years and exhaustively characterized, recently several other collagens have been identified in hyaline cartilage or produced by chondrocytes. These collagens are part of the ever growing family of collagens which now include as many as 13 distinct gene products. These collagens discussed here which are found in articular cartilage are collagens types V, VI, IX, XI. Each is unique in its molecular form and chain organization. Although these collagens are present in lesser amounts than type II collagen, there role in cartilage appears to be anything but "minor". As these and other newly identified collagens are characterized as distinct molecules, their interactions and functions in the tissues in which they are found, continue to be the subject of many investigations.

# a. Type V collagen

Type V collagen refers to a molecular species of collagen which is composed of three unique chains,  $\alpha 1(V)$ ,  $\alpha 2(V)$  and  $\alpha 3(V)$ , each with a molecular weight between 115kd and 125kd (110). Pepsin digestion removes non-collagenous peptide regions and results into a molecule which is commonly referred to as type V. Currently, three molecular forms of type V have been identified utilizing homotrimeric molecules of  $\alpha 1(V)$  chains (111) and two different heterotrimeric forms [ $\alpha 1(V)$ ]<sub>2</sub>  $\alpha 2(V)$  and [ $\alpha 1(V) \alpha 2(V)$  $\alpha 3(V)$ ] where the former organization is most prevalent (112,113). Type V collagen (formerly referred to as AB collagen) comprises a small fraction of the total collagen pool and has been found in a variety of tissues including

cartilage (54) and cornea (116). The wide variety of tissue distribution implicates several cell types in its synthesis. Its identification in a number of tissues (by immunofluorescence and light and electron microscopy) has shown type V in close association with basement membranes and in fibrous stroma in tissues including tendon and cornea. Some controversy exists as to its presence and function, particularly in basement membranes and further studies have shown it to be present between collagen bundles probably functioning as a binding or connecting molecule (115). Perhaps one of the most important features to note is the fact that types I and V collagen are intimately associated and in fact have been shown to co-polymerize within the same fibrils network (116). Type V collagen can be found in most tissues where there is type I, whereas, type XI, another collagen with much similarity with type V molecules, is found in tissues in association with type II. The fact that there are a number of trimeric combinations and related molecules, suggests that they may have different functions in vivo with tissue-specific adaptations. Although, type V has been shown to be extractable in small amounts (approximately 1%) from cartilage (54), it was examined in these studies when characterizing the antiserum, R181, for possible cross-reactions with related and unrelated collagens.

40.

## b. Type VI collagen

Type VI collagen was first isolated from the wall of the aorta and has properties distinctly different from previously identified collagen (112). It has been characterized further to be a unique entity of the collagen group. It has a structure which does not allow the lateral aggregation which is characteristic of the interstitual collagens, types I, II and III. Previously, type VI was commonly referred to as intima collagen because it had characteristics unlike the earlier described fibrillar collagens. The special characteristics of type VI are that it is composed of three chains,  $\alpha 1(VI)$ ,  $\alpha 2(VI)$ , and  $\alpha 3(VI)$ , which in their processed form have an approximate molecular weight of 140 kilodalton (114). The most prevalent molecular form is [ $\alpha 1(VI)$ ,  $\alpha 2(VI)$ ,  $\alpha 3(VI)$ ]. The heterotrimer forms a dumbbell shaped molecule. Only a third of it is helical collagen and there are extensive disulfide cross-links (117,118). Pepsin digestion and reduction results in products of a molecular size between 40 and 70 kilodaltons (112,119). The short triple helical domains are terminated with globular domains at both ends which permit an end to end arrangement to form filaments or fibrils with a 100 nm repeat (120).

Type VI has been isolated from a variety of tissues including large arteries and small blood vessels, fetal membranes, skin, tendon and perichondrium (121). Although some controversy exists over its presence in hyaline cartilage it has been identified in articular cartilage by some authors (55) and in the intervertebral disc (122). For these reasons type VI was included in the characterization of the anti type II fragment antiserum (R181) used in study.

## c. Type IX collagen

Closely associated with the predominant collagen type II fibrils is type IX collagen. Type IX collagen also contains a glycosaminoglycan side chain and thus can also be considered a proteoglycan (123). It has been shown that type IX collagen is arranged in a D-periodic fashion along type II fibrils (124). The intimate association of types II and IX collagens has further been supported by the studies showing the presence of aldehyde derived cross-links

between the two collagens (59,125).

Type IX collagen is composed of three different collagen chains designated  $\alpha 1$  (IX),  $\alpha 2(IX)$ , and  $\alpha 3(IX)$  each with a similar basic structure of an interupted helix. There are three helical domains separated by noncollagenous (non-helical) domains with non-helical domains at both ends. These chains are stabilized by interchain disulfide bridges. A chondroitin sulfate chain is attached to the amino terminal non-helical portion of  $\alpha 2(IX)$ (126). Previously, this collagen was identified as two fragments isolated from chick sternal cartilage and was referred to as HMW and LMW, for their high and low molecular size (127). Later studies showed that in fact HMW and LMW could be fractionated into three distinct chains and were found in an equal proportion when isolated from tissue (128). The nomenclature now used for type IX chain is as described above and the collagenous domains of each chain referred to as COL1, COL2 and COL3, and the four non-collagenous refered to as NC1, NC2, NC3 and NC4. In addition to the glycosaminoglycan attached to the amino terminal non-collagenous region of  $\alpha 2(IX)$ , there is a long non-helical portion extending from the  $\alpha$  l(IX) chain, resulting in a molecular weight of intact type IX molecules estimated ranging from 250-300 kilodaltons. This variation may be due to the glycosaminoglycan chains attached. From studies where type IX collagen was digested with chondroitinase ABC it was shown that the  $\alpha 2(IX)$  chain was reduced in size from approximately 115 kilodaltons to approximately 68 kilodaltons. Chondroitinase ABC treatment of  $\alpha 1(IX)$  and  $\alpha 3(IX)$  resulted in no change in migration in SDS-PAGE (129).

Functionally, type IX collagen appears to be intimately involved in the organization and the stabilization of type II fibrils in cartilage, although its

precise role is the subject of continued investigation. It has been shown that its synthesis is coordinately regulated with type II, (130) and a variety of studies have demonstrated the presence of aldehyde-derived cross-links between types II and IX collagen in hyaline cartilage (59,125). Immunolocalization studies have shown that type IX collagen is predominately present in the pericellular matrix and the intensity of staining increased when articular cartilage was pretreated with hyaluronidase. It has been suggested that type IX (and type XI) could be critical components in the fine fibrils which make up the matrix around chondrocytes. It could be involved in stabilizing the pericellular capsule. Some studies suggest type IX constitutes between 1-5% of the total collagen from hyaline cartilage (articular and sternal) (125,131) although other studies have suggested it could represent as much as 20% of the amount of synthesized type II (24).

## d. Type XI

Type XI collagen was first identified in pepsin digests of mammalian hyaline cartilage as distinct chains by Burgeson and Hollister (132). On SDS-PAGE,  $\alpha$  chains of type XI migrate slightly larger than those of type II and in fact, have a similar electrophoretic mobility to  $\alpha 1(V)$  and  $\alpha 2(V)$  chains. Initially this collagen was named  $1\alpha$ ,  $2\alpha$ , and  $3\alpha$  and was also referred to as type K collagen by others in a review as recently as 1985 (133). Nevertheless, with the large body of data characterizing this as a unique heterotrimeric collagenous molecule, it has been proposed and accepted to be hence referred to as type XI and its constituent  $\alpha$  chains as  $\alpha 1(XI)$ ,  $\alpha 2(XI)$ and  $\alpha 3(XI)$  (134). The CNBr-peptide map of the  $\alpha 1(XI)$  and  $\alpha 2(XI)$  chain is unique and differ from both type II and type V collagens. Interestingly, the  $\alpha 3$  chain has a nearly identical CNBr-derived peptide map with the  $\alpha 1(II)$ 

43.

chain, with the  $\alpha 3(IX)$  peptides migrating more slowly than  $\alpha 1(II)$  peptides (132,135). Since they appear to have a nearly identical amino acid sequence with few variations the differences in  $\alpha 3(XI)$  and  $\alpha 1(II)$  are concluded to be post transitional modifications such as the degree of glycosolation. A heterogenous mixture of chain compositions appear to exist including chain combinations such as  $[\alpha 1(XI)]_3$ ;  $[\alpha 2(XI)]_2$ ,  $\alpha 1(XI)$ ,  $\alpha 1(XI)$ ;  $\alpha 2(XI)$ ,  $\alpha 3(XI)$ . Adult cartilage contains  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  chains in a ratio greater than 1:1 and just less than 2:1 whereas, in fetal cartilages the ratio is more consistently 1:1. Due to the identification of these various collagens in articular cartilage and the apparent similarity of certain  $\alpha$  chains, the collagen types V, VI, IX and XI were included in the antibody characterization experiments. Similarities exist between  $\alpha 1(V)$  and  $\alpha 1(XI)$ ,  $\alpha 2(XI)$  and  $\alpha 2(V)$ ,  $\alpha 3(XI)$  and  $\alpha 1(II)$ .

Type XI collagen has been identified in a variety of cartilages from human and animal tissues including articular, growth plate and costochondral cartilages and in the intervertebral disc, a fibrocartilage. As a minor component, type XI represents approximately 3-5% by weight of the total collagen in a ratio of 1:30 to type II collagen. This coincides with the ratio of type V to type I in connective tissue other than cartilages (132). The role of type XI has not been elucidated. Certain functions which have been suggested by a variety of studies include, the regulation of type II fibril diameter; the mediation of the interaction of collagen and proteoglycans. This role of mediating physical interactions between connective tissue components has been supported by findings which show that, in vitro, type XI collagen can in solution or as fibrils bind to cartilage proteoglycans and further that this binding could be competed with by free sulfated glycosaminoglycans chains (136). This suggests a role for type XI fibrils in

providing a physical interaction with the cartilage proteoglycans and the type II fibrils with which they themselves are co-distributed. Under similar conditions type II fibrils themselves do not bind the various sulphated polysaccharides. Recently, using immunoelectron microscopy and immunofluorescence type XI was shown to be distributed throughout the type II fibril but was only detectable when the fibril structure was partially disrupted. In contrast the same authors showed that type II and type IX were detectable as part of intact fibrils in cartilage. This suggests that the tightly packed arrangement of type II collagen fibrils results in the inacessibility of the type XI collagen antibodies. These studies also indicated that along with types II, XI and IX are distributed throughout cartilage matrix (55).

# B. Proteoglycans

The proteoglycan content of cartilage varies inversely to the collagen content (137). Proteoglycan content is lowest in the superficial zone, where collagen accounts for, in some cases, almost 90-100% of the dry weight (51). The proportion of collagen to proteoglycan in cartilage matrix varies not only within the different zones of articular cartilage but varies from individual to individual and with age. At various points in the Introduction, proteoglycans were mentioned where appropriate for this thesis. This section is added to overview the salient features unique to cartilage proteoglycans.

Proteoglycans are glycoproteins which consist of a core protein to which one or more glycosaminogycan chains is covalently bound. Previously these molecules were referred to as mucopolysaccharides or chondromucoproteins. There is a variety of proteoglycan types, classified in part by there GAG side chains and unique core proteins. There are four general classes of GAG side chains defined by the repeating disaccharide chondroitin sulfate; dermatan sulfate; keratan sulfate; and backbones: heparan sulfate. The cartilage proteoglycan core protein is typically 220 kilodaltons and it contains two globular N-terminal domains (G1 and G2) one of which (G1) contains the region which interacts with link protein and hyaluronic acid to form aggregates (138,139). There is a third additional globular domains (G3) at the C-terminal end. A number of N-and O-linked oligosaccharides, are scattered throughout the molecule. Between G2 and G3 the keratan and chondroitin sulfate chains are located (140). Dermatan sulfate proteoglycans have been detected in articular cartilage (30,31). Two dermatan sulfate proteoglycans were identified and characterized by a much smaller molecular weight than the other species in cartilage. One species (designated DS-PGI) has a molecular weight ranging from between 165 and 285 kilodaltons with a core protein of approximately 45 kilodaltons. The other (DS-PGII) is smaller with a molecular weight between 87 and 120 kilodaltons. Following chondroitinase AC and ABC digestion, the core protein was determined to be approximately 45 kilodaltons (30). Chondroitin sulfate and keratan sulfate containing proteoglycans are characteristically the aggregating type and form large complexes. Since there can be approximately 100 chondroitin sulfate chains each with a molecular weight of 18-20 kilodaltons, these molecules have the potential of much larger molecular size than do the dermatan sulfate proteoglycans which do not bind to hyaluronic acid although the DS-PGI proteoglycans have been shown to self-associate (30).

The proteoglycans of hyaline cartilage are among the most complex of the proteoglycan molecules. The GAG chains found in cartilage are primarily

chondroitin sulfate, dermatan sulfate and keratan sulfate. These GAG chains vary greatly in chain length and do not, with the exception of hyaluronic acid, exist as free units in tissues but rather are bound as component parts of the proteoglycan molecules (141). An understanding of the structure of proteoglycan in cartilage comes from early electron microscopic studies where both monomers and aggregates were identified (133,142). These studies present an image of a proteoglycan molecule as a single protein core with GAG chains attached (subunit or monomers) or in a complex form where individual proteoglycan subunits are organized along a filament of hyaluronic acid (aggregate) (158). The appearance of the proteoglycan subunit takes on the classic appearance of a bottle brush. Aggregate stability depends on an additional protein called link protein (140). This interaction involves a distinct region of the core protein (G1 of the hyaluronic acid binding region) and the binding or specific interaction of the link protein with hyaluronic acid (143,144). Link protein, itself a glycoprotein, is approximately 45 kilodalton molecular weight. Several studies have implicated the degradation of link protein as a mechanism of destabilizing the aggregate form in vivo, by both proteinases and oxygen-free radicals (145). Link protein has been immunohistochemically shown to be present in articular cartilage and has been suggested as a pivotal component of the aggregate form (29,171) and may be deficient or degraded in aging or diseased cartilage.

In cartilage, a typical proteoglycan subunit consists of a core protein with as many as 100 chondroitin sulfate chains and 50 keratan sulfate chains attached (146). These subunits, each having a molecular weight of several million daltons, can complex in the aggregate form resulting in some of the largest molecular structures known. This specialized molecule and its large hydrodyamic size are responsible for many of the unique properties of articular cartilage mentioned in Section III. Proteoglycan content in cartilage can occupy as much as 10% of the wet weight. Cartilage proteoglycans in solution have been shown to have the ability to imbibe 50ml of solvent per gram of dry weight (146). Both aggregating and nonaggregating proteoglycans make up the diverse populations of cartilage proteoglycans. The proteoglycans aggregating with hyaluronic acid form large molecular weight complexes, represent approximately 50-85% of the total proteoglycans in cartilage. There is a significant quantity of large non aggregating proteoglycan molecules also found in cartilage which do not bind hyaluronic acid. These occupy approximately 10 to 40% of the total proteoglycans in cartilage on a wet weight basis (147). In the specialized matrix of articular cartilage, these proteoglycans exert a swelling pressure on the fibrillar collagen network, endowing cartilage with its unique resilience to weight bearing and motion stresses.

48.

# V. COLLAGEN DEGRADATION

#### A. Proteinases

### 1. Collagenase

The changing composition of cartilage matrix during development, growth, and repair depends on a critical balance between the synthesis and degradation of cartilage components, collagen and proteoglycans. The degradation of articular cartilage is primarily mediated by proteinases and in particular by the class of proteinases referred to as metalloproteinases. Collagenase, the only known mammalian proteinase which can cleave helical collagen is operative at neutral pH and is widely distributed in mammalian tissues. Collagenase is collagen type specific and has been found in a variety of tissues including articular cartilage and is produced by a number of cell types including macrophages, synovial cells and fibroblasts (148-150). One basic tenet of mammalian collagenase is that it is responsible for the majority of collagen degradation in the extracellular matrix as an extracellular event. An enzyme which plays a critical role in cartilage integrity is collagenase which has been identified in the normal and arthritic human cartilage (150) and in the cartilage and pannus (151). Even though phagocytosis and lysosomal digestion of collagen may be also involved, a partial cleavage with collagenase is likely required for this to occur. The precise mechanisms by which the cartilage components, such as collagens and proteoglycans, are degraded under normal conditions (remodeled) and in disease are not fully understood. Collagenase plays a criticial role in the degradation of collagen by initially destabilizing the collagen helix by making a site specific cleavage of helical (mature) collagen (152). Incapable of maintaining a helical structure at physiological temperatures collagenasecleaved collagens unwind and become susceptible to further degradation by other proteinase present in the extracellular space. In this regard collagenase can be considered as the rate-limiting enzyme involved in collagen degradation.

The term collagenase has been used to refer to a particular protease which can cleave a peptide bond in the triple helical region of native collagen A simplistic way of classifying the heterogeneous groups of molecules. mammalian collagenases is by establishing 2 groups. One, referred to as the classical or interstitual collagenases cleave fibrillar collagen types I, II, and III. The other type specific collagenases are those which cleave one or more of the other collagen types such as type IV or V. A variety of molecular weight sizes have been estimated for vertebrate collagenases ranging from approximately 50 to 75 kilodaltons. Electrophoresis of enzyme secreted by human fibroblasts reveals characterisically 2 bands of 50 and 45 kilodaltons, respectively, where the proenzyme is slightly higher in molecular weight, approximately 60 and 55 kilodaltons, respectively (153). A large number of studies have characterized collagenases from a variety of sources, in both latent (proenzyme) and active form and all reflect molecular size characteristics within this range (reviewed by Stricklin and Hubbs) (154). The characteristic band of higher molecular weight has been shown to be a result of posttranslational glycosylation (155). Recent studies have characterized the gene for rabbit synovial cell collagenase as a 9.1 kilobase gene with 10 exons and 9 introns and has a high degree of similarity with other members of the metalloproteinase gene family (156).

Mammalian collagenase has a pH optimum of between pH 7 and 8 and is dependent on Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Zn<sup>2+</sup> for activity and stability. Divalent  $Zn^{2+}$  has

been determined to be at the active site of collagenases (157). A number of distinct genes and gene products have been identified for collagenase and comprise a collagenase gene family with at least 4 members (156,159). Classical collagenase cleaves helical collagens types I, II and III at a single locus involving either a Gly-Leu or Gly-Ile bond, at amino acids 775 and 776 (160,161). This results in two products referred to as  $TC^A$  and  $TC^B$ , the 3/4 part of the molecule and the 1/4 part, respectively. The specificities of the various tissue collagenases have not been fully clarified with regard to all the known collagen types. This is of particular interest since by definition, all collagens contain a helical portion although because of the presence of nonhelical and globular domains they may not require cleavage with collagenase to permit susceptibility to proteolytic degradation. Other factors may also play a role in collagenase susceptibility, such as degree of cross-linking. Recent studies have shown that purified human rheumatoid synovial collagenase did not degrade types IX and XI collagen at low temperatures (25°C) and high temperatures (35°C) while cleavage of types II and X collagens occurred at the same temperatures (162). These authors showed that even though types IX and XI collagens were not degraded by purified collagenase in vitro, these cartilage collagens were susceptible to degradation by conditioned medium from IL-1 stimulated human chondrocytes, thus indicating the chondroctyes have the ability to synthesize different collagen-degrading enzymes. The precise molecules elucidated by chondrocytes and the regulation of their synthesis have not been fully characterized.

Central to maintaining an intact connective tissue matrix, is the regulation of collagenase. In part, this can depend on the activation of latent

proenzyme (163). Physiologically, a number of proteolytic enzymes are capable of activating procollagenase including plasmin produced by plasminogen-activator (164), plasma kallikrein (163) and stromelysin (166,167). A natural inhibitor (or group of inhibitors) of collagenase has been identified in cartilage and other tissues with an approximate molecular size of 28 kilodaltons. It is referred to as TIMP, for tissue inhibitor(s) of metalloproteinases (168-170). Mediators of proteinase secretion and activation and inhibition are covered in more detail Section VI. C.

#### 2. Cathepsins and Elastase

A number of other enzymes are capable of degrading collagens in the non-helical regions and in collagen-cleaved collagens. The importance of proteinase which cleave the non-helical regions (eg. telepeptides) is that this cleavage can disrupt the stability of the fibril, since these regions in tropocollagen contain interchain cross-links. Cathepsin B and cathepsin G, cysteine and serine proteinases, respectively, are examples of enzymes which have been shown to cleave non-helical collagen (171). As these destabilized molecules denature, further degradation can occur by gelatinase, and presumably a myriad of peptidases and nonspecific proteinases, to further degrade the collagen molecule. These mechanisms have not been fully investigated. In addition to finding in cartilage inhibitiors of metalloproteinases, such as TIMP, there are inhibitors of serine proteinases and cysteine proteinases. The major inhibitors of these classes of proteinase are  $\alpha$  1-proteinase inhibitor for serine proteinases (172) and the cystatins for cysteine proteinases (173). An additional small molecular weight (13 kilodaltons) inhibitor of cysteine proteinases also has been identified in cartilage (170). Although the mediators and inhibitors of proteinase activity

have been characterized <u>in vitro</u> their ability to difuse into cartilage is related to there molecular size and the state of the collagen and proteoglycan matrix. Most certainly, molecules as large as  $\alpha 2$ macroglobulin, a general proteinase inhibitor found in serum with a molecular size of 718 kilodaltons (174), would be unable to freely diffuse in cartilage without significant matrix degradation and loss (50).

The environment is important for these processes, since pH significantly affects these enzymes. Even though cathepsin B can degrade collagen types I, II and III (171,175) it is inactivated (denatured) at neutral pH, the pH of cartilage, and is only active for a short period of time in the extracellular environment around chondrocytes (176). The proteolytic enzymes cathepsin G and elastase originate from polymorphonuclear leucocytes which are mainly concentrated in the synovial cavity in rheumatoid arthritis. A recent study has shown that polymorph elastase has no effect on native collagen types II, IX and XI but did degrade denatured collagen types IX and XI (162). These studies confirm the resistance of native helical type II collagen to proteolytic activity by known proteases. Further studies on the specific enzymes (possible "cross-linkases") involved in the degradation of this impressively stable molecule are needed.

#### 3. Stromelysin

Metalloendopeptidases or metalloproteinases are names that refer to the group of connective tissue degrading enzymes which include collagenase, and stromelysin. Previously, stromelysin was referred to as proteoglycanase and now it is accepted that proteoglycanase and collagenase activator proteinase are all terms referring to the same enzyme (177). Using the nomenclature MMP for matrix metalloproteinase, stromelysin would be referred to as MMP-3. Within the past decade the biochemistry, functional properties, and genetic structure have begun to be elucidated. The metalloproteinase, which we now know as stromelysin, was identified in a variety of cell types including: rabbit fibroblasts (178,179) human synovial cells (180) rabbit bone cells (181), human fibroblasts (182).

Stromelysin, like collagenase is secreted in a pro-form and requires activation, which can occur <u>in vitro</u> by trypsin or APMA. Prostromelysin isolated from rabbit synovial fibroblasts has an apparent molecular weight on SDS-PAGE of 51 kilodaltons (183). The size varied after activation as shown by these authors and was converted to an active species ranging in molecular size from 41 to 25 kilodaltons. The molecular mass for human stromelysin has been shown to be very similar to that of other species. Human prostromelysin appears on SDS-PAGE as two species approximately 57 and 60 kilodaltons and an active form of approximately 45 kilodaltons (184-186). The pH optimum for stromelysin isolated from human cartilage on proteoglycan monomer has been shown to be pH 5.5 (185) and other have shown rabbit fibroblast stromelysin to be active at neutral pH (183).

Purified human and rabbit stromelysin have been shown to degrade proteoglycan, casein, fibronectin, laminin, and type IV collagen. Neither degraded type I collagen (183,186). Stromelysin and collagenase are induced and secreted coordinately by such agents a phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and 12-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate (167,177,186). Stromelysin is inactivated by the metal chelator, EDTA and TIMP and resembles the other metalloproteinases.

Perhaps one of the most relevant aspects of the recent data on stromelysin which is pertinent to this thesis is its function as an activator of procollagenase (166). Since collagenase is secreted as a proenzyme and requires activation once in the extracellular space, the activator (or activators) of latent collagenase are of paramount importance to collagen degradation. Recently, it has been shown using natural and recombinant collagenase and stromelysin that not only are the two enzymes coordinately regulated but stromelysin can act as the activator of procollagenase, in vitro Use of recombinant enzymes confirmed the observations earlier (166). identifying stromelysin as an activator of collagenase (187,188). The activator of stromelysin in vivo has been suggested as plasmin, although this remains to be clearly established (189,190). Fini et al identified a 1.9 kilobase cDNA clone which codes for a rabbit metalloproteinase of 53.9 kilodalton protein and has high homology with rabbit stromelysin (191). This proteinase can also activate collagenase (human synovial cell) and is coordinately suppressed and enhanced by dexamethasone or phorbol myristate acetate, respectively. Mediators such as IL-1 have also been studied for there ability to regulate stromelysin. It has been shown that IL-1 $\beta$  regulates human stromelysin at the transcriptional level (192).

Clearly, the role of stromelysin in the regulation of collagen degradation and in connective tissue breakdown itself, such as its ability to degrade proteoglycan, is a complex one and requires further study. Molecular cloning of the various members of the metalloproteinase family of enzymes will clearly define this group and identify their roles in the maintenance of connective tissue matrix integrity.

55.

# VI. MEDIATORS AND STIMULATORS OF PROTEINASE SECRETION

## A. Interleukin 1

Interleukin 1 has been the subject of much research over the past decade. During such time, its identity and actions have been both elucidated and widely debated. A ubiquitous molecule first identified as a heat-labile protein found in acute leukocytic exudate which produced fever when injected into animals, this activity was called endogenous pyrogen (193). It was later shown to augment T lymphocyte responses and thus play a critical role in the immune response (194,195). Prior to the application of recombinant DNA technology and the cloning of IL-1, similar molecules having a variety of activities, were described. This resulted in a confusing list of names, including those of interest to this report such as, mononuclear cell factor, (196) and catabolin, (197). It is now clear that these cytokines are the same molecule which has been called interleukin 1.

IL-1 has two forms ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ). Even though these are distinct gene products, they recognize the same receptor and share similar, if not identical, biological properties (review by Dinarello) (198,199). As a biologically active polypeptide, IL-1 has a molecular weight in humans of approximately 17 kilodaltons. Both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  forms are synthesized as a 31 kilodalton precursor. The entire genes for human IL-1  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  have been cloned (200). The amino acid sequence for  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  forms is highly conserved within a species (e.g. 75-78% for IL-1 $\beta$ ) (199). Although IL-1 has biological similarities and some sequence homology with other cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and both acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors, the use of recombinant IL-1  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  has permitted the study of Il-1, independent of other cytokines. In the studies presented in this thesis, the effect of exogenously added IL-1  $\beta$  has been assessed on bovine and human cartilage explants utilizing recombinant IL-1  $\beta$ .

IL-1 has been shown to be produced by a variety of lymphoid and nonleukocytic cells (including chondrocytes and fibroblasts) and has been associated with diverse natural biological processes. It has been shown to participate in various pathological processes (196,201,202). Its effect on proteinase secretion has been widely studied either using purified or, recombinant IL-1, or medium containing IL-1 (159). Many early studies with cartilage were carried out using conditioned culture medium from monocyte/mononuclear cell cultures (203,204). Some studies have further linked the effects of IL-1 and cartilage pathology with studies showing that collagen itself can act to stimulate its production (205) and that prostaglandin production can also be increased by IL-1. Prostaglandins are also potent molecules in a variety of effector pathways, both immune and non-immune (206,207). Of particular interest to the work in this thesis is the evidence of a direct involvement of IL-1 in articular cartilage destruction. In addition to in vitro studies of the effects of IL-1, a variety of authors have identified IL-1 in joint fluids of patients with a variety of arthritic conditions including rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis (208,209).

IL-1 has been shown to be a potent inducer of collagenase and stromelysin production (proteoglycanase) from cells including chondrocytes (197,201,210,211). Besides stimulating the release of prostaglandins and metalloproteinases, IL-1 has been shown to stimulate the release of plasminogen activator from chondrocytes (212). Both plasminogen activator and stromelysin are capable of activating collagenase (166). This sequence of events, schematically represented in Figure 3, is suggested as one possible



Figure 3 : Proteolytic Destruction of Cartilage Collagen

cascade for the degradation of collagen and ultimate destruction of articular cartilage. Other lines of investigation linking IL-1 with the erosive processes in chronic inflammation include studies where intra-articular injection of IL-1 has been shown capable of inducing inflammation and cartilage degradation in rabbit knee joints (203,213). While certain problems exist with these types of animal studies, they provide circumstantial evidence that IL-1 acts <u>in vivo</u> to mediate cartilage breakdown.

Inhibition of IL-1 can be achieved from a variety of points, including, receptor antagonists and molecules that limit transcription of IL-1 and the IL-1 receptor (reviewed by J.W. Larrick) (214). An important area which needs further study, is the identification and characterization of specific inhibitors of IL-1. Certain studies have elucidated inhibitors of IL-1, presumably derived from macrophage/monocyte populations and identified in the urine and serum of patients with diseases such as chronic juvenile Other studies have shown that a molecule with an arthritis (215). approximate molecular weight of 22 kilodaltons, purified from the urine of patients with monocytic leukemia, blocked the stimulation by IL-1 of both collagenase and prostaglandin E2 in human synovial cells and fibroblasts (216). A molecule of similar size from human monocytes is produced upon stimulation with immune complexes and bears IL-1 inhibitory activity when tested in the IL-1 dependent mitogenesis assay using thymocytes (217). Since determination of inhibitory activity in vitro with partially purified factors does not guarantee that they function in vivo, further studies with recombinant molecules will elaborate the precise mechanisms of the regulation of IL-1. None the less, the importance of IL-1 in connective tissue remodelling and disease processes is undisputed.

# B. Autocrine factors

Recently, Brinckerhoff and colleagues reported the identification of two autocrine proteins which induce the synthesis of collagenase from rabbit fibroblasts cultures (218). These factors were shown to be produced by rabbit synovial fibroblasts in culture upon stimulation with either phorbol myristate acetate or crystals of mono-sodium urate monohydrate. The proteins of 12 and 14 kilodaltons were purified from serum-free conditioned medium and amino terminal sequences were determined. The proteins induced in this model systems were shown by SDS-PAGE to be of approximately 57,14, and 12 kilodaltons, the largest corresponding to collagenase and/or stromelysin. Within the amino acid sequences determined there was a high degree (60-80%) of similarity betwen human serum amyloid A and the 14 kilodalton protein and with human \beta2-microglobulin and the 12 kilodalton protein. Although the mechanism by which these autocrine molecules act to stimulate collagenase synthesis is not known, it is clear that their effect is not limited to their autocrine function. It has been shown that purified human-serum amyloid A, (once thought to be produced by hepatocytes) can stimulate cultures of rabbit fibroblasts to synthesize collagenase (219. Endogenously, these molecules could be produced by fibroblasts of the joint tissues. This production could be influenced by products of macrophages such as IL-1 or other cells of the inflammatory response, and play an important role in the normal maintenance of and remodelling of the extracellular matrix. Overproduction or an imbalance in the regulation of these recently described molecules may represent a mechanism which could play a pivotal role in the destructive process seen in the arthritic diseases.

# C. Proteinase inhibitors

Just as important to the balance of extracellular matrix synthesis and degradation as the catabolic proteinases, are the inhibitors of these enzymes. Any imbalance between enzyme and inhibitor could result in an uncontrolled degradation of the substrate, collagen, as in the situation described in Figure Further, action of collagenase, on fibrillar collagen results in an 3. unwinding of the triple helical structure at physiological temperature and increased susceptibility to other proteinases. Molecules involved in inhibiting in vivo collagenase activity are referred to as TIMP or tissue inhibitor(s) of metalloproteinases and have a molecular weight of approximately 28 kilodaltons, depending on the tissue or source (168-170). As discussed in preceding sections, normal adult articular cartilage is permeable to molecules up to approximately 40 kilodaltons (50). For example, the small inhibitors of cysteine proteinases of approximately 13 kilodaltons (174) could readily diffuse into intact cartilage, wherease another important broad spectrum proteinase inhibitor, a 2-macroglobulin with a very large molecular size of approximately 718 kilodaltons, could be excluded from affecting much of intact cartilage (174). After extensive degradation, cartilage could be more permeable to both inhibitors, such as  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin and the proteinases themselves, each derived from serum and/or cells of the synovium and inflammatory response. Presumably, under normal conditions, the articular surface is more directly affected by mediators and inhibitors of proteinase activity, which originate from the synovium and blood supply, than are cells and matrix remote from the surface. An important point to make which is discussed again in this thesis, is that mid/deep zone cartilage and cartilage cells could be affected by factors coming from an inflammatory

response in the subchondral bone marrow. Some studies have demonstrated subchondral inflammation in the rheumatoid joint (220,221). Moreover, it can be suggested by the data presented here in this thesis that deep zone chondrocytes are very active in both osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis, presumably stimulated by mediators like IL-1 to produce matrix degrading enzymes.

A valid approach to the inhibition of proteinase activity in vivo, would be to decrease the production of molecules known to stimulate proteinase secretion, such as IL-1. Inhibitors of the naturally occuring activators of latent metalloproteinases such as plasmin and cathepsin  $\beta$  (222) could also affect the degradative processes. In the case of collagenase, a reduction in the availability of metal co-factors by metal chelators could also play an important role in the regulation of proteinase activity and the maintainance of matrix integrity.

### D. Connective tissue autoimmunity

Many investigators have studied the humoral and cellular immune responses to connective tissue components in arthritic patients, including those with chronic inflammatory arthritis, and in a variety of animal models. Since cartilage matrix components, such as type II collagen and proteoglycans are under normal conditions sequestered from the immune system (due to the absence in cartilage of a direct vascular and lymphatic supply), their excessive release from articular cartilage during proteolysis and or inflammation could be important in developing autoimmune responses. As schematically represented in Figure 3, fragments of collagen or exposed antigenic epitopes on non-native collagen could act as autoantigens and stimulate more proteinase secretion and further degradation of cartilage collagen (and proteoglycan) resulting in a perpetuation of the destructive processes (223). Cellular immune responses have been measured in response to native and denatured types I, II and III collagens in the peripherial blood of patients with connective tissue diseases, particularly those with a chronic inflammatory component (75,224-226). Other studies have shown that degraded cartilage components such as human type II collagen peptides can stimulate cultured human synovial fibroblasts and explants of human rheumatoid synovial tissue, to secrete collagenase (227).

Animal studies have produced a larged body of evidence linking connective tissue autoimmunity with arthritic diseases. Cellular immune responses to collagen, in particular to fragments of types I and III collagens (primary collagens of synovial tissue), have been identified in animal models of arthritis, including rabbits with Mycobacterial induced inflammatory arthritis (228,229). In addition, the development of a rodent model of arthritis which is induced by injection of helical, homogolous or heterologous type II collagen, has provided further evidence of the importance of connective tissue antigens in the development and persistence of arthritic diseases. The animal model has permitted a vast area of study concerned with the antigenic components of the type II collagen molecule and with the cells (lymphocytes) or antibodies which are responsible for disease expression (230-234).

Although it is difficult to clearly assess the precise autoimmune connective tissue components in human disease it is even more unlikely that reasearch in this area will assign a single epitope or molecule the exclusive role of a causative or responsible agent for the destruction of articular cartilage in the arthritic diseases. There is, however, a large body of evidence including what has been aforementioned which links autoimmune responses to cartilage components to the chronicity and progression of many of the inflammatory arthritic diseases. Very recently, a study was reported extending others data linking antibody levels to various collagens with rheumatoid arthritis (313). This study concluded that anti-collagen antibodies may be produced to a wide variety of collagen epitopes and that the heterogeneity of antibodies may be a result of the different components being exposed and degraded during the course of the disease. These authors studied the levels of antibodies to native and denatured types I, II, IX and XI collagens from rheumatoid arthritic patients. Having already established that these patients had antibodies to native type II collagen they were interested in any association with the minor collagens of cartilage, types IX and XI. These findings along with similar studies dating back to pioneering studies in this area, such as those by Andriopoulos et al. (235) provide sound evidence that collagen autoimmunity exists but still leaves open the question of whether it is a primary or secondary phenomenon.

63.

## VII. ARTHRITIC DISEASES

#### A. Osteoarthritis

### 1. General clinical features and etiology

Osteoarthritis (or osteoarthrosis or degenerative joint disease) is the most prevalent form of arthritic disease and in some respects can be considered as an arthritis of aging or of "wear and tear". Osteoarthritis is characterized by a progressive degeneration and loss of articular cartilage with associated bony changes, both at the joint margins and in subchondral bone. In general terms, osteoarthritis can be classified as primary (idiopathic) where there is an absence of etiologic factors (as in the case with some age-related changes) or as secondary, where there is a clear local or systemic causative factor, such as joint trauma or skeletal abnormalities. Symptoms and clinical manifestations include joint stiffness, motion limitation and, progressively developing joint pain which can be a secondary event as a result of the degeneration of joint tissues (236). Synovitis is commonly associated with chronic (late stage) degenerative disease or acute episodes (237). The symptoms as they relatate to the classification of the arthritides are quite variable and at times overlap with other joint disease (167). The American College of Rheumatism sets classification criteria for osteoarthritis as for all rheumatoid diseases. These criteria allow scientists and practioners to classify these diseases by combining clinical, radiologic and laboratory findings and are constantly being reviewed and updated (238).

The clinical features, such as pain and motion abnormality, are the first indications of disease and further, often indicate appreciable and advanced pathology. Symptomatic pain arises from associated joint tissues since cartilage itself has no nerve supply. Affected joints can be isolated, bilateral
(eg. both knees) or systemic. Most commonly joints effected are: the knee, hip, the extremities (hands and feet) and spine, with the major weight bearing joints of the knee and hip being most effected.

## 2. Pathology

Pathological changes in osteoarthritic cartilage both reflect degradative and proliferative changes. Gross changes in the cartilage include surface erosions, fibrillation, and cleft formation. As the disease progresses, the erosion of cartilage can be progressive to the extent where there is a total loss of cartilage down to subchondral bone. Historically, the destructive processes were thought to be predominantly in the superficial zones of cartilage particularly in the earlier stages and caused by factors released into the synovial fluid including factors such as IL-1 and degradative proteinases. The progressive degeneration of cartilage is a result of the chondrocytes ability to ultimately destroy its own matrix. Data presented in this thesis provide direct evidence that these degradative changes are indeed occuring and, moreover, are occurring throughout the cartilage, including the predominant superficial zone changes. Proliferative changes, in contrast, include chondrocyte clustering and osteophyte formation observed predominately at the jont margins. Chondrocyte clustering is often seen in histological sections associated with fibrillation and clefts presumably as an attempt at repair.

Biochemical characteristics of osteoarthritic cartilage include a net loss of proteoglycan and collagen (239-241). As is presented and discussed in this thesis, there is appreciable damage to collagen fibrils which results in a loss of structural integrity and an inability of the fibrillar collagen to retain proteoglycan. Although the predominant collagen of adult articular cartilage is type II, both type I and type III have been identified in human osteoarthritic cartilage, perhaps indicative of a repair process (242).

Proteoglycans in osteoarthritis have been extensively studied. Using metachromatic dyes and immunostaining, a loss of proteoglycans is associated with cartilage degradation in osteoarthritis (243). In experimental osteoarthritis in the dog (rupture of anterior cruciate ligament), it has been shown that not only is there an early loss of proteoglycan at the surface but there are changes in proteoglycan content indicating both a synthesis, degradation and reorganization (244). Changes in proteoglycans are in content and character. A review of a variety of studies has shown that in early disease there is an increase in chondroitin sulfate content in relationship to keratan sulfate whereas in late stage disease there is net loss of proteoglycan (see review by Poole) (223).

Clinically, osteoarthritis remains a major problem with little effective treatment short of joint replacement. Further understanding of the mechanisms of the destructive processes involved in the joint destruction and ultimate loss of function, will provide the basis for therapeutic intervention and early detection.

## B. Rheumatoid arthritis

### 1. General clinical features and etiology

Rheumatoid arthritis describes an inflammatory condition which is chronic and systemic and can involve many joints of the body. The common feature which brings a variety of articular and extraarticular manifestations together in the term rheumatoid arthritis, is synovial inflammation. This articular inflammation contributes to the progressive joint destruction and deformity which are paramount features of this diseases. Mononuclear cell infiltration, hyperplasia, and fibrosis are all common features of synovial inflammation. Increased production of synovial fluid occurs. This contains a myriad of immunue cells, cytokines and mediators of inflammation and proteolysis (see Figure 3). Polymorphonuclear leucocytes and monocytes are present and capable of producing degradative enzymes and may contribute (at least in the superficial zones) to the progressive degradation of articular cartilage (245,246).

Extraarticular features which are characteristic of rheumatoid arthritis include neuropathy, arteritis, scleritis, nodule formation, splenomegaly, and lymphadenopathy all of which were once thought to be sequelae of the primary disease and now accepted as integral components of systemic arthritis (247). Clinical symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis are not completely dissimilar from those described for osteoarthritis. In addition to joint pain, stiffness and limited movement, these are the classical signs of inflammation: edema, erythema, heat and tenderness. A combination of clinical features, discomfort and severe disability may occur in acute flareup or as chronic episodes which last for an individuals entire life. Symptoms are most often gradual in developing and commonly occur symmetrically (eg. both knees or hands). Since there is major erosion of cartilage, bone, tendons and ligaments with pannus formation and proliferation, progression of the disease results in disability deformities and joint immobility.

Although the disease can occur in any individual regardless of age, race etc., there is a plethora of epidemiological information available. Its prevalence in the United States is estimated to be between 0.3% and 1.5% of the population. Women are affected 2 to 3 times as often as men and with the peak of incidence in the 4th and 5th decades (248). From studies of HLA class II gene products in rheumatoid patients, individuals with haplotype DR-4 are several times more susceptible to developing rheumatoid arthritis (249,250). Since class II histocompatibility antigens are involed in immune responses, particularly antigen presentation, these associations are undoubtedly important and continue to be investigated.

Laboratory findings unique to rheumatoid arthritis are headed by antibodies which are specific for antigenic determinants on the Fc portion of IgG (i.e. rheumatoid factor antibodies) (251). Since the existence of rheumatoid factors occurs in 1-5% of non arthritic individuals there presence does not necessarily indicate disease, nor do their absence precude the possibility of the development of disease. High levels of these antibodies are generally associated with active disease and severity and in addition usually indicate a high frequency of secondary complication and poor prognosis.

Many studies and as many thoughts exist on the etiology of rheumatoid arthritis. No conclusive agent or agents can be identified, viral, bacterial or otherwise. What is clear is that this disease is intimately linked with an immune response. Autoimmunity, particularly to connective tissue antigens, may be involved in the chronicity of arthritis (223). Evidence of autoimmunity to molecules such as type II collagen and proteoglycans exsists from a number of studies (75,228,252-253). There is some association with cellular and humoral immunity to collagen type II in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (227,254). Moreover, type II collagen can be injected into rodents and an erosive inflammatory joint disease ensues (255). Since cartilage specific molecules such as type II collagen and aggregating proteoglycan are sequestered from the immune system under normal conditions, the

68.

degradation of such molecules and their exposure could lead to their action as autoantigens thereby stimulating the degradative process even further (as outlined in figure 3).

## 2. Pathology

Many of the early changes in the joints are related to synovial tissue, hyperplasia of both type A and B synovial cells, increased vascularity and mononuclear cell and neutrophil infiltration. Immune complexes of antibodies with a wide range of antigens have been identified, such as byproducts of inflammatory processes, mainly fibrin, collagen, digested IgG These complexes trigger further responses and release of and DNA. hydrolytic, proteolytic enzymes, and arachidonic acid metabolites from cells. All these mediators are themselves capable of furthering inflammatory and/or degradative processes. Collagenolytic activity is increased as a result of increased collagenase production by synovial cells in response to products of these processes such as IL-1 (256). Cartilage collagen has been thought to be degraded and lost from arthritic cartilage secondarily to the Studies have indicated collagenolytic activity in loss of proteoglycan. surface layers of cartilage and at the interface of synovium and cartilage (151,223,257,258) presumably as a result of the local environment (eg. synovial fluid). As will be discussed later, the studies presented here in this thesis draw attention to two important findings, in this regard, one being evidence of early degradation of fibrillar type II collagen and the significant amount of collagen breakdown occuring throughout the cartilage zones, and in particular, remote from the surface. Ultrastructurally, damaged collagen fibrils have been detected in pericellular and interterritorial regions of cartilage (259).

Proteoglycans have been less extensively studied in rheumatoid cartilage and these changes are still uncertain. The loss of proteoglycan has been identified particularly in the superficial zone and in vitro studies have shown that proteoglycans can be degraded by factors contributed by rheumatoid synovium (260). These degradation products are of a variety of types and do not aggregate with hyaluronic acid. Extrapolated to the in vivo situation, proteoglycans degraded by an inflammed synovium would be incapable of fulfilling their role in cartilage and would thus compromise the function of cartilage. The association of proteoglycan fragments with disease activity has been studied by a number of laboratories using RIA detecting fragments in synovial fluid (261). Studies of the biochemical and immunological parameters are difficult for a number of reasons, including the difficulty in obtaining normal tissue and synovial fluids, and although diseased joints are accessable at the time of total arthroplasty at this stage of degeneration there is a minimum of cartilage remaining. Inflammatory changes are also recognized in subchondral sites in rheumatoid arthritis and are associated with bone resorption and loss. These changes can result as well from the action of cytokines such as IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor (194,262). Cellular infiltration from subchondral bone into cartilage has also been observed (263-265) which could lead to degradative and biosynthetic effects seen in deep zone cartilage.

## CHAPTER 2

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# I. REAGENTS, CHEMICALS, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT

The following list of reagents and chemicals, with their sources, refers to specific materials used in the experimental aspects of this thesis. All other chemicals used in this work were high quality, reagent grade chemicals from general laboratory suppliers.

Pepsin	Cooper Biomedicals, Malvern PA		
Cesium Chloride	Accurate Chemicals, Westbury, NY		
Cyanogen Bromide	Aldrich Chemical Co., Milwaukee, WI		
Sodium dodecyl sulfate	Schwarz/Mann Biotech, Cleveland, OH		
Acrylamide	Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA		
<sup>14</sup> C-methylated molecular weight standards	17 17 18 17 17 18		
Coomassie Blue R-250	11 11 11		
Freunds complete adjuvant	Difco, Detroit, MI		
Freunds incomplete adjuvant			
AH-Sepharose-Protein A	Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden		
Ketamine-HCl	Rogar/STP Inc., Montreal, Quebec		
Xylazine	Hauer-Lockhard, Bayvet Div., Miles Laboratories, Rexdale, Ontario.		
Sodium pyruvate	Gibco, Grand Island, NY		
Non-essential amino acids	II II II		
Dulbecco's modified Eagles med.	Flow Laboratories, McLean, VA		
Fungizone	11 11 11		

Normal donkey serum	SERO Toron	TEC/E to, On	Dayma t.	r Laboratories,
Chondroitinase ABC	Miles	Labora	atorie	s, Napierville, IL
Keratanase	"	"		11
OCT embedding medium	"	11		"
Hyaluronidase (testicular, type VI-S)	Sigma	, St. L	ouis,	МО
4-aminophenylmercuric acetate Disodium p-nitrophenylphosphate (Sigma-104)		**	11	
Gentamicin	Ħ	"	11	
Bovine serum albumin (RIA grade crystallized)	·, "	Ħ	11	
Trypsin Type XIII	11	"	11	
2-mercaptoethanol	11	"	"	
Cyclohexylamino propane sulfonic acid	11	"	11	
Pepstatin A	11	"	11	
Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride	11	"	"	
HEPES	11	"	"	
BES	11	"	"	
TES	11	11	"	
Paraformaldehyde	BDH (	Chemi	cals, l	Montreal, Quebec
Gelatin	11	**	"	17
Iodoacetamide	**	11	"	11
Nonidet P40	"	"	"	"
Gum arabic	**	**	11	11
Silver lactate	ICN C	Canada	, Mon	treal, Quebec
Uranyl acetate	Fisher	. Cana	da, M	ontreal, Quebec
Permount	н	"	"	11
Hydroquinone	11	"	11	"

Diethanolamine	isher Canada, Montreal, Quebec		
Lead citrate	Polyscience, Warrington, PA		
Normal ascites fluid	BRL - Bethesda Research Laboratory Bethesda, MD		
IL-1β (human recombinant)	Ciston, Pine Brook, NJ		
Biotinylated donkey anti-rabbit Ig	Amersham, Arlington Heights, IL		
Fluorescein-labelled streptavidin	" "		
Gold-labelled streptavidin	11 11		
125 <sub>I-Protein</sub> A	11 11		
Nitrocellulose Membrane (Transblo	ot) " "		
Polyvinylidine difluoride membran (Immobilon)	Millipore, Bedford, MA		
X-Omat AR X-ray film	Kokak, Rochester, NY		
Amicon membrane filter VM 30	Amicon Div., W.R. Grace & Co. Danvers, MA.		

Equipment and instrumentation that was used as mentioned in this thesis and bears noting is listed below:

Tissue-TEK II Cryostat

Mini-Protean Apparatus Eppendorf Microcentrifuge 5313 Miles Laboratories, Napierville, IL

Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond, CA Fisher Canada, Montreal, Quebec

Cronex Lightning Plus Intensifying Screen Dupont, Wilmington, DE

Applied Biosystems Microsequencer Applied Biosystems, Model 470A Foster City, CA 73.

	/4.		
Savant Speed Vac	Emmerston Instruments, Scarborough, Ont.		
Microdialysis apparatus	(BRL) Bethesda Research Laboratories, Bethesda, MD		
Thertek Microtiter Reader	Flow Laboratories, McLean, VA		
96-well flat bottom tissue culture plate (No. 76-032-05)	11 11 11 11		
Linbro 12-well tissue culture plate (No. 76-053-05)	11 11 11		
Beckman HPLC System, Model 110A pumps, Model 421 controller, model 160 detector	Beckman Instruments, Palo Alto, CA		
VYDAC C18 column TP201 (4.6 x 250 mm)	CSC Inc., Montreal, Quebec		
VYDAC C18 column 218TPB (25 x 0.94 cm)			
Amicon ultrafiltration cell, 25 ml	Amicon Div., W.R. Grance & Co. Danvers, MA.		

74.

II. TISSUE

#### A. Animal

Bovine condylar articular cartilage was obtained from animals (12-18 months of age) from a local abbatoir shortly after sacrifice. For tissue culture studies, condylar cartilage was aseptically removed from the metacarpal-phalangeal joint. Bovine nasal cartilage and bovine skin were obtained from similar animals for the isolation and purification of type II and I collagen, respectively. Bovine growth plate cartilage was removed from the femoral condyle of near term fetuses of animals 12-18 months of age.

### B. Human

Human articular cartilages were obtained from the femoral condyles of adult knee joints with the following exceptions: radial head cartilage from patient KE (33 year old female, rheumatoid arthritic, rheumatoid factor negative); tibial plateau cartilage from patient CP (73 year old male, osteoarthritic). All arthritic cartilages were obtained at surgery from rheumatoid or osteoarthritic patients undergoing total joint arthroplasty or at the time of autopsy within 10 hours post mortem. Four osteoarthritic cartilages were examined from patients PS, 69 year old male; VM, 74 year old female; CP, 73 year old male; CR, 63 year old female. All patients were diagnosed as having classical non-inflammatory osteoarthritis. Histologically each cartilage had identifiable surface fibrillation. Rheumatoid cartilages were obtained from patients LM (65 year old female) and DK (63 year old female) and both were rheumatoid factor positive. Cartilage from two rheumatoid factor negative patients AD (59 year old male) and KE (33 year old female), were also examined.

Non-arthritic (normal) cartilages were obtained from four individuals within 10 hours post mortem at the time of autopsy, each having no known history nor signs of arthritic/joint abnormalities. The following agematched cartilages were examined: 73 year old male, 61 year old male, 56 year old male and 71 year old female. All tissues were handled identically and processed for immunohistochemistry, as described below.

For the purposes of preparing human cartilage explants, non-arthritic articular cartilage was obtained at autopsy within 10 hours post mortem, from the femoral condyle of individuals of ages 47, 59 and 63. All individuals were males and the causes of death were cerebral hemmorage, carcinoma, and cardiac disease, respectively. Cartilage which appeared macroscopically healthy was asceptically removed and cut into approximately 2 mm cubes. For studies where cartilage was examined immunohistochemically for type II collagen degradation, full thickness pieces of cartilage were used (approx. 3mm x 6mm x 2mm) to allow correct orientation and permit examination of events in the various cartilage zones. Culture experiments were performed as described in section VII.

#### **III. COLLAGEN PREPARATION**

### A. Extraction and Purification

Type II collagen was extracted and purified from adult bovine nasal septum or adult human femoral condylar cartilage by differential salt precipitation as described by Miller (15). A schematic of the procedure is represented in Figure 4. Briefly, the cartilage was minced with a scalpel and twice extracted with 4 M guanidine-HCl in 0.15 mM potassium acetate, pH 6.3 to remove the proteoglycan. The resulting residue was rinsed in water and dissolved in 0.5 M acetic acid containing 1 mg/ml pepsin for 24 h at 4°C, with stirring. After centrifugation at 15,000 gav for 20 min the supernatant was adjusted to 0.9 M NaCl by slow addition of crystalline salt. The resultant precipitate was recovered by centrifugation and redissolved in 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 containing 1 M NaCl and dialyzed extensively against 20mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>. The precipitate was redissolved in 0.5 M acetic acid and NaCl was added to a final concentration of 2.22 M NaCl. The precipitated type II collagen was collected by centrifugation and redissolved in 0.5 M acetic acid and exhaustively dialyzed against the same to remove residual NaCl. In most cases the selective salt precipitation was repeated on small quantities (25-100mg) two or three times to ensure purity and to remove contaminating proteins and smaller than  $\alpha$  chain collagen fragments. The collagen was then lyophilized, checked for purity by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), as described below, and stored at -20°C.

Bovine type I collagen was isolated from bovine skin by differential salt precipitation as previously described (266). Bovine collagen types V, VI, IX and XI were kindly provided by Dr. David R. Eyre (Department of



Figure 4 : Preparation of Type II Collagen

Orthopedics, University of Washington, Seattle, WA). Each was determined to be pure by SDS-PAGE analysis and used for ELISA analysis. Human type II collagen was a generous gift from Dr. Michel van der Rest (Genetics Unit, Shriners Hospital for Crippled Children, Montreal, Quebec).

## B. Density gradient centrifugation

Bovine growth plate or articular cartilage and normal human cartilage were dissected into small pieces of 1 mm<sup>3</sup> and extracted with 4 M guanidine-HCl, 50mM EDTA, 0.15 M sodium acetate, pH 7.0, containing proteinase inhibitors as described for use in the immunohistochemical protocol (Section VI). The extraction and subsequent fractionation were performed as described elsewhere (267). The caesium chloride density gradient centrifugation was performed under associative conditions as described, resulting in fractions designated A1 through A6 (nomenclature as described by Heinegård) (268).

# C. Cyanogen bromide cleavage of collagen

Collagens were cleaved at methionine residues with cyanogen bromide (CNBr) using a method based on others (269,270). Collagens were dissolved in 70% formic acid at a concentration of 5 mg/ml to which was added 12 mg/ml of CNBr. The tubes were flushed with nitrogen, sealed and kept at 26°C. The digestion was terminated by a ten-fold dilution with distilled water. After lyophilization the collagen peptides were stored at -20°C. Purity and characterization were determined by SDS-PAGE. Initially, the reaction was carried out for 5 hrs. with intermittent shaking, although this resulted in a considerable amount of collagen not completely cleaved. Many bands on SDS-PAGE appear larger than the largest single CNBr-derived peptide,  $\alpha 1(II)$ CB10). To improve the yield of individual peptides several changes were made including: increasing the reaction time to overnight (18-20 h), performing the reaction under reducing conditions and using fetal bovine type II collagen. Reduction had no effect on the completeness of cleavage. This suggests that reducible cross-links are not involved in preventing cleavage at each methionine, nor are there reducible cross-links between  $\alpha$ -chains which result in dimeric peptides. When CNBr-derived peptides of type II collagen purified from fetal and adult bovine cartilages were compared by SDS-PAGE, no significant difference could be observed in the cleavage products (Figure 8). One protein band was identified present in the fetal collagen peptides which is not present in the adult preparation. This presumably represents either an incomplete cleavage between two peptides or one or more peptides joined together by the presence of interchain cross-links.

## D. Reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography

Purified bovine or human type II collagen or CNBr-derived type II collagen peptides were characterized by reversed-phase HPLC using a method described by van der Rest <u>et al.</u> (271). Collagens were prepared as described elsewhere and were rehydrated from their freeze-dried state, in 0.01 M HFBA in 35% (v/v) acetonitrile in water (solution A of the mobile phase gradient). The acetonitrile used was HPLC grade and water was deionized and passed through a Sep-PAK C-18 column. Both mobile phase solvents were filtered through a 0.22 micron Millipore filter and degassed for 10 min. The HPLC system consisted of two pumps with a gradient

programmer. The optimal separation conditions were obtained when using 0.01 M HFBA as the ion-pairing mobile phase in a linear gradient of acetonitrile and water (35%-60%). The separation was performed during a 1 h linear gradient with a flow rate of 1 ml/min for the analytical column and 3 ml/min for the semi-preparative column. Column eluates were monitored for UV absorbance at 214 nm using an in-line Beckman Model 16D spectrophotometer. Because of the size and special characteristics of collagen/collagen peptides a separation column with a large pore size and phase was used. According to the amount of material to be chromatographed an analytical column (4.6 x 250 mm) or a semi-preparative column (25 x 0.94 cm) was used. The column fractions were collected, the peaks pooled, and dried in polyethylene tubes using a Savant Speed-Vac centrifuge evaporator. Fractions were examined by SDS-PAGE as described in Section V, B.

80.

### IV. ANTISERA

### A. Antibody Production

Female New Zealand white rabbits weighing 2.5 kg (Ferme des Chenes Bleues Inc., Montreal, Quebec) were maintained on rabbit chow (Ralston Purina Inc., Montreal, Quebec). Prior to immunization, serum was obtained from a preimmune blood sample of 30 ml which was taken by cardiac puncture under anesthesia using a combination of ketamine-HCl, (25 mg/kg) with xylazine (3 mg/kg).

For the antiserum, R181, the primary immunization consisted of 5 mg bovine type II collagen CNBr-derived peptides in 0.5 ml 0.9% NaCl, 0.01% acetic acid emulsified with 0.5 ml complete Freund's adjuvant. Half total volume was injected intramuscularly into each hind leg. Booster injections of 1 mg bovine type II CNBr-peptides emulsified with incomplete Freund's adjuvant as before were injected either intramuscularly or subcutaneously or both, every 2-3 weeks. Each booster was followed 2 weeks later by a test bleed and antibody titer determination by ELISA.

After two booster injections the antiserum was of sufficient titer and 50 ml of blood were obtained by cardiac puncture. For immunohistochemical studies a F(ab')<sub>2</sub> preparation was prepared by pepsin digestion, as described in this section subsection B. In general, antisera were stored at -20°C except for a small aliquot of a working preparation. Repeated freezing and thawing was avoided.

Antisera R167 and R254 were prepared in this laboratory and used in these studies as a positive control for cartilage matrix components. For antiserum R167, the immunogen was fractions A4,5,6 of an associative cesium chloride density gradient centrifugation of bovine fetal growth plate cartilage. To prepare antiserum R254, fractions A5 and A6 of a similar centrifugation gradient of bovine fetal growth plate were used to immunize the rabbit. Both antisera were prepared by a similar immunization protocol as described for R181, and were shown by ELISA to react with multiple proteins of whole-bovine cartilage extracts (unpublished observations, A.R. Poole). Antiserum R110 was prepared and characterized in this laboratory by a similar protocol as described for R181 with bovine proteoglycan, fractions D1,2,3 from a dissociative cesium chloride density gradient centrifugation.

The monoclonal antibody AN9P1 was utilized mouse to immunohistochemically identify the presence of proteoglycan in articular cartilage. The monoclonal was a gift from C. Webber (Joint Diseases Laboratory, Shriners Hospital, Montreal) and has been characterized and described by Witter et al (261). AN9P1 has been shown to react with keratan sulfate or keratan sulfate stubs when they are bound to cartilage proteoglycan core protein. The monoclonal was raised as an ascitic fluid, therefore normal mouse ascitic fluid was utilized as a control when AN9P1 was used. Both were used at a dilution of 1/32 in PBS containing 1% BSA and 0.25% v/v Nonidet P40, as was used for the other antibodies. When these reagents were used immunohistochemically, a second step antibody was needed in order to utilize the biotinylated donkey anti-rabbit antibody, used with the other antisera. A rabbit antiserum to mouse IgG, prepared in this laboratory, was used at a dilution of 1/10 in PBS as described above.

# B. Preparation of F(ab')<sub>2</sub> for immunohistochemistry

To reduce nonspecific binding and facilitate the penetration of the antibodies throughout the tissues,  $F(ab')_2$  was prepared. Each antiserum used in the immunohistochemical protocol was used as a F(ab')2 preparation, including non-immune rabbit serum which was used as a The biotinylated second step antiserum (donkey anti-rabbit control.  $F(ab')_2$ ) was commercially obtained as a  $F(ab')_2$  preparation. For all other antisera the procedure used was as previously described by Poole et al. (29,178). Briefly, after sufficient time for clotting to occur (2-4 h, the blood was centrifuged at approximately 1200xg using a general laboratory centrifuge at room temperature for 20 minutes. The resulting serum was removed and the immunoglobulin fraction precipitated two times using 50% (v/v) saturated ammonium sulfate. This was achieved by the slow addition of an equal volume of saturated ammonium sulfate, while stirring. The final precipitate was dissolved in PBS and dialyzed against the same with several changes overnight at 4°C. The resulting partially pure whole IgG preparation was digested with pepsin at 1 mg pepsin per mg of IgG in PBS with an adjusted pH of 4.0. After digestion for 18 h at 4°C the Fc portion and any undigested IgG was removed by absorption to AH-Sepharose-Protein A (272). The Sepharose was removed by gentle centrifugation, washed two times with PBS and concentrated using an Amicon ultrafiltration cell with a YM30 filter. The A<sub>280</sub> was monitored to ascertain effective washing. Each serum was handled in an identical manner. The protein concentration was determined on the final concentrate. The protein concentration was calculated based on the assumption that lmg/ml of protein has an absorbance of 1.3 using a cell

with a 1cm path length (29).

Generally, small aliquots of each serum were stored at 4°C 1 mg/ml containing 1mg/ml protein and sodium azide at a final concentration of 0.05% (w/v), to prevent contamination.

#### V. ANTIBODY CHARACTERIZATION

#### A. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

Purified collagens were dissolved in 0.1 M acetic acid at 2 mg/ml and diluted in 0.1 M carbonate buffer, pH 9.0 to 50  $\mu$ g/ml. Fifty  $\mu$ l were added to each well of a 96-well flat bottom tissue culture microtiter plate. Where indicated, collagens were denatured after dilution by heating for 15 min at 60°C. Collagens were bound overnight at 4°C to ensure the integrity of native collagens. The assay was continued as previously described (273) with the following modifications. The labelled second step antibody was a porcine anti-rabbit F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (29) labelled with alkaline phosphatase (274) which was prepared in this laboratory. The substrate used was disodium p-nitrophenylphosphate (Sigma 104) at 0.5 mg/ml in diethanolamine buffer (9.6% diethanolamine, 0.2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 9.8). Routinely, the plates were incubated with the substrate at 37°C for 1-2 h before reading the optical density at 405 nm using a Titertek microtiter plate reader Immune serum R181 was compared in all tests to the preimmune serum of R181.

### B. Electrophoresis and immunoblot analyses

SDS-PAGE of collagens was performed according to Laemmli (275) in 1 mm thick 10% slab gels (16 x 18 cm format) with two exceptions where noted: 1) a 7.5 -15% gradient gel was used to characterize CNBr-derived peptides of type II collagen, and 2) the Mini protean apparatus (7.5% gel, 1 mm thick, 7 cm x 8 cm) was used for  $\alpha$ 1(II) chain analysis. Collagens in sample buffer containing 0.35 M 2-mercaptoethanol were heated to 60°C for 10 min and centrifuged for 2 min in a fixed speed Eppendorf centrifuge 5313 prior to loading to remove any undissolved material.

Molecular weight standards used were the following: [14C]methylated proteins which have approximate molecular weights (in kilodaltons) as indicated: myosin, 200; phosphorylase b, 92; BSA, 68; ovalbumin, 46; carbonic anhydrase, 30; lysozyme, 14. Gels were stained with Coomassie blue R-250 in 40% v/v methanol and 10% v/v acetic acid in water or transferred to nitrocellulose. Electrophoretic transfer to nitrocellulose was performed according to Towbin et al. (276) except that the transfer was carried out in methanol-free electrode buffer of 25 mM TRIS, 192 mM glycine, pH 8.3. This resulted in a more complete transfer of collagens, since some collagen peptides are not transferred efficiently with methanol present (G.R. Dodge, unpublished observations). The membrane was blocked for 16 h at 4°C with 3% BSA in 10 mM sodium potassium phosphate, pH 7.2, containing 0.145 M NaCl and 0.05% NaN3 (PBS). After rinsing with PBS for 15 min at room temperature the membrane was incubated for 1.5 h at room temperature with the antiserum (R181) or a mixture of antisera R254 and R167, or preimmune serum, each at 10% concentration after dilution in PBS containing 1% BSA. After exhaustive washing with PBS containing 0.01% Tween 20, the immunoblot was incubated for 1.5 h at room temperature with 125I Protein A (10<sup>5</sup>) cpm/ml) in PBS containing 1% BSA. The membrane was then washed thoroughly in PBS, air dried and the radioactivity was visualized by radioautography using X-OMAT AR X-ray film. Routinely, the exposure time was overnight at -70°C with the use of a Cronex lightning plus intensifying screen.

# C. Protein sequence analysis

**CNBr-derived** peptides of bovine type Π collagen were electrophoresed in 1 mm thick 10% slab gels as described above. Separated proteins were electrophoretically transferred onto a PVDF membrane as described by Matsudaira for sequencing small quantities of proteins (277). Briefly, the PVDF membrane is quickly stained with Coomassie Blue R250 after transfer and destained sufficiently to identify the protein bands. For the purposes of peptide identification, three major bands were cut out and their amino acid sequences determined by automated Edman degradation using an Applied Biosystems microsequencer, Model 470A. The derivatized amino acids were identified by on line high performance liquid chromatography using an Applied Biosystems analyzer, Model 120A.

### VI. IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL METHOD

Bovine and human articular cartilages were mounted in O.C.T. embedding media, frozen and 6  $\mu$ m thick sections were cut perpendicular to the articular surface at -20°C using a Tissue-Tek II cryostat. Sections were picked up on glass microscope slides, precoated with a solution of 0.5% (w/v) gelatin in H<sub>2</sub>O containing 1 mM chromium potassium sulfate as described by Pappas (278) to enhance adherence of the tissue sections to the slide.

A flow chart of the general immunohistochemical protocol is presented in figure 5, the details are included in the following text or where specific applications are discussed.

Sections were either immediately frozen and stored at -20°C or used immediately. Sections were fixed for a specific time as described in each experiment, in 4% formaldehyde freshly prepared from paraformaldehyde in PBS, pH 7.4 for 5 min (29) washed in PBS for 15 min and then for 15 min in 0.1% normal donkey serum in PBS, to block unreactive aldehyde groups for 15 min. These and subsequent manipulations were at room temperature. To enhance permeability of the tissue, sections were treated with chondroitinase ABC at 0.0125 units/50 µl/section in Tris-acetate buffer, pH 7.6, for 90 min at 37°C in a humid environment (29). Keratanase was added to the enzyme digestion solution for human tissue at 0.025 units/50  $\mu$ l/section and the digestion was conducted for 18 h at 37°C in a humidified chamber. After enzymatic pretreatment, all tissues were washed twice for 10 min with PBS containing 0.1% BSA. Proteinase inhibitors included during enzyme treatment were: pepstatin (1  $\mu$ g/ml), phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (1 mM), iodoacetamide (1 mM), and EDTA (1 mM).





Figure 5 : General Outline of Immunohistochemical Protocol Used for Bovine Articular Cartilage

Sections were incubated for 90 min at room temperature in a humidified chamber with 50 µl/section of R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> or normal rabbit serum (NRS) F(ab')2 diluted in PBS containing 1% BSA including 0.25% v/v Nonidet P40 at a concentration of 0.1 mg/ml. Controls were prepared by absorbing R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> before use with 1 mg/ml of denatured type II collagen at 37° for 1 h followed by 18 h at 4°C and centrifugation before use to remove any precipitate. Sections were washed twice as above for 10 min after each antibody incubation. A biotin-streptavidin detection system was used consisting of a donkey F(ab')2 anti-rabbit Ig labelled with biotin, and either fluorescein-labelled streptavidin or gold(5-15nm)-labelled streptavidin as the indicator. The biotinylated donkey anti-rabbit  $F(ab')_2$ was used at a dilution of 1/100 in PBS with 1% BSA at 50 µl/section for 1 h. After washing twice, the sections were treated with 50  $\mu$ l of the fluorescein-labelled streptavidin at a dilution of 1/50 in PBS with 1% BSA for 20 min at room temperature. After washing in PBS, the sections that were stained with fluorescein-labelled streptavidin were counter-stained with 0.001% (w/v) ethidium bromide in H<sub>2</sub>O for 1 min. (to counterstain nuclei which fluoresce red) and mounted in approximately 25  $\mu$ l of a mixture of TRIS-glycerol, pH 8.6 (279). Slides were examined for fluoresence immediately with incident illumination using a Zeiss photomicroscope III fitted with a 75 watt Xenon lamp.

In studies where gold-labelled streptavidin was used, the silver enhancement method of Danscher and Nörgaard (280), as modified by others (E. Lee & A.R. Poole, manuscript in preparation), was utilized. Thus after sections were incubated with the biotinylated donkey anti-rabbit  $F(ab')_2$  and washed as described above, the sections were incubated with gold (5-15 nm)-labelled streptavidin at a dilution of 1/20 in PBS containing 1% BSA for 30 min at room temperature. After washing twice, the slides were dried slowly and held at 4°C until next day, or when convenient, before proceeding. The slides were then dipped in a 0.5% gelatin in water and allowed to air dry. The physical developer was prepared by mixing a 50% solution of gum arabic in water with 6.67 ml of 2.0 M citric buffer, 10 ml of 50 mM hydroquinone and 10 ml of 40 freshly prepared silver lactate in the dark. The slides were dipped in this solution for 1 h at 30°C in the dark, after which the slides were flushed with tap water at approximately 40°C for 30 min before exposure to light. The slides were then air dried and the sections mounted in Permount. Using the light microscope the presence of a positive reaction could be visualized as a black to brownish, grain-like staining.

90.

### VII. EXPERIMENTAL MODEL OF COLLAGEN DEGRADATION

## A. Bovine articular cartilage explant cultures

For culture of cartilage explants, serum-free Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM-B) was used with the following additions: BSA (crystallized), 0.1 mg/ml; gentamicin sulfate, 100 µg/ml; sodium pyruvate, 1 mM; non-essential amino acids, 0.1 mM; 2-mercaptoethanol,  $5 \times 10^{-5}$ M. Bovine metacarpal cartilage was cut into small uniform pieces of approximately 3mm x 7mm x 1mm. Tissue was rinsed, first with BSA-free DMEM containing gentamicin at 200 µg/ml and fungizone at 5 µg/ml (Flow Laboratories, McLean VA) and then with regular BSA-free DMEM. Explants were randomly and equally distributed into 12-well, 2.4 cm diameter, Linbro tissue culture plates with each well containing 2 ml DMEM-B. Human recombinant interleukin-1  $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) (5 half-maximal units/ml) was added where indicated. Explants were maintained for up to 14 days at 37°C in a humidified incubator containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in air. Medium was changed every two days, with fresh addition of rIL-1 $\beta$  to the stimulated cultures. Tissues were removed at intervals, rinsed with PBS and prepared for immunohistochemistry as described below. Culture media were stored at -20°C until assayed for collagenase activity.

In some experiments, an aliquot of each culture medium was examined for the presence of type II collagen ( $\alpha$ -chain or fragments) by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting with R181 used as the means of detecting collagen. The details of these experiments are described in this section.

## B. Cartilage extraction

Freshly isolated bovine articular cartilage, and cartilage cultured with or without IL-1, were subjected to extraction with 4M guanidine HCl in 0.15 mM potassium acetate, pH 6.3 including the proteinase inhibitors as described for use in the immunohistochemical protocol. Equivalent quantities (approximately 25 mg) of cultured and noncultured cartilage were cut into small pieces of less than 2 mm<sup>3</sup> and extracted in 0.7 ml of the extraction solution, with rigorous shaking for 48 h at 4°C. The residual cartilage was removed by centrifugation for 15 min at 100g. The extracts were prepared for electrophoresis and immunoblotting by removing the guanidine HCl using microdialysis against 0.5 M acetic acid. Each dialysate was collected and concentrated by freeze-drying using a Savant Speed Vac and rehydrated with 150 µl of electrophoresis sample buffer.

## C. Amino acid analysis

To determine whether or not collagen or collagen fragments thereof were secreted into the medium and/or were extractible from bovine cartilage explants, amino acid analyses were performed. Medium removed from explant cultures every two days, was freeze-dried using a Savant Speed Vac. Each aliquot of spent medium was an original volume of 1.5 ml, and after dehydration, rehydrated in 10x less volume (150  $\mu$ l) of 0.1 M acetic acid. Of this solution aliquots were taken for SDS-PAGE and amino acid analysis. For amino acid analysis, 25  $\mu$ l was removed and dehydrated using the Savant Speed Vac Evaporator after which the material was dissolved in 6 M HCl, flushed with nitrogen and hydrolyzed at 110°C for 20 h. After drying under vacuum the samples were dissolved in 100  $\mu$ l of 0.2 M citrate buffer, pH 2.2. Aliquots were analyzed using a Durrum amino acid analyzer using a 0.2 M citrate buffer system of pH 3.25, pH 4.25 and pH 7.9. For the purposes of these investigations samples were evaluated for the presence of hydroxyproline. This was done by comparing peaks of each chromatogram with those of standards.

## D. Immunochemical detection of collagen and collagen fragments

The presence of collagen and/or collagen degradation products in the media from explant cultures were immunochemically detected using SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting with R181. In these experiments, the aliquots (150  $\mu$ l) of culture media were dried using a Savant Speed Vac in Eppendorf microfuge tubes. The resulting dry material was rehydrated in 2x SDS-PAGE sample buffer and prepared for electrophoresis by warming to 60°C for 10 min. Samples were electrophoresed under reducing conditions as described in Section V, B. Each sample was loaded at 25  $\mu$ l, which represents one-third the total original volume.

## E. Collagenase assay

To measure collagenase activity, acid soluble guinea pig skin collagen generously provided by Dr. Elaine Golds (Joint Diseases Laboratory, Shriners Hospital for Crippled Children, Montreal, Quebec) was acetylated with <sup>14</sup>Cacetic anhydride (10-30 mCi/mmol) and used in the standard fibril assay as described by Cawston and Barrett (281). The assay was routinely performed for 18 h at 35°C in the presence of 4-aminophenylmercuric acetate 1 mM (APMA) to activate the latent enzyme. Test media were thawed before assay and centrifuged for 5 min using a fixed speed Eppendorf centrifuge model 5313 to remove any cells or debris.

### F. Immunohistochemistry

Tissue explants of bovine articular cartilage were removed from culture at various intervals, rinsed with PBS and embedded in OCT embedding media and frozen at -20°C. Using the cryostat as described above, 6 µm thick sections were cut applied to precoated microscope slides (see Section VI) and stored frozen until immunohistochemical experiments were performed. Sections of bovine cartilage were fixed in freshly prepared 4% formaldehyde prepared as described above, for 5 min. After rinsing with PBS and blocking with donkey normal serum (0.1% in PBS) these bovine cartilage sections were incubated with chondroitinase ABC at 0.0125 units/50µl section in TRIS acetate buffer pH 7.6 for 90 min. at 37°C to remove the chondroitin sulfate side chains of the proteoglycan. This is done to increase the accessibility of the antibodies. The sections were then handled as described in the general protocol for immunohistochemistry (Figure 5), Section VI.

To address the question of whether or not the chondroitinase treatment exposed epitopes of native collagen which reacted with the antiserum R181, the following experiment was performed. Full thickness pieces of normal bovine articular cartilage were incubated in DMEM with 0.125% (w/v) trypsin type XIII (Sigma No. T8642), 1 mM EDTA, for 3 h at 37°C. The enzyme activity was blocked by washing the tissue for 15 min with 1% normal donkey serum at room temperature. Frozen sections were prepared, fixed and immunolocalization performed as described.

# VIII. STUDIES OF HUMAN ARTICULAR CARTILAGE DEGRADATION

### A. Human articular explant cultures

Human articular cartilage explants were maintained in culture in DMEM-B supplemented with L-ascorbic acid, (0.1mM) and with HEPES, (15mM); BES, (10mM), TES (10mM); to maintain pH 7.5 in an atmospheric Explants were randomly and equally distributed incubator at 37°C. (approximately 200mg) into 12-well, 2.4. cm diameter, Linbro tissue culture plates with each well containing 2 ml of supplemented DMEM-B for 24 h before beginning the experiment. After this initial rest period, the cultures were stimulated with 1 unit/ml recombinant human IL-1ß where indicated. In the proteinase inhibitor, U24522 (R-S)-N-[2-[experiments some (hydroxyamino)-2-oxoethyl]-4-methyl-1-oxopentyl]-L-leucyl-L-phenylalaninylamide) (supplied by Dr. G. DiPasquale, Stuart-Pharmaceuticals, Div. of ICI Americas, Inc., Wilmington, DE) was used. It was handled in the following manner. A 20 mM stock solution of U24522 was prepared by dissolving the compound in DMSO (vehicle) and in cultures where required, a small aliquot (2µl) was added to each culture well for a final concentration of 0.01 mM. As control for the toxicity of DMSO in the culture system, 0.05% DMSO was added to IL-1 stimulated and unstimulated explant cultures. Tissues from these cultures were immunohistochemically evaluated, in parallel with those from cultures with the inhibitor. Viability was assessed in an experiment where cartilage was cultured with IL-I including vehicle control, the inhibitor at the highest concentration tested (0.05 mM), or vehicle alone. Using similar tissue as that already described from day 14 explant cultures, explants were labelled with <sup>3</sup>H-leucine (25µCi/ml) in DMEM-B with the additives described above, for 24 h at 37°C in an atmospheric incubator. The explants were then

washed in 3 changes of PBS (20ml for 10 min) alone remove the incorporated <sup>3</sup>H-leucine. The incorporation of <sup>3</sup>H-leucine into newly synthesized proteins was determined by scintillation counting an aliquot of the tissue digests after papain treatment. Tissue digestion was performed on the entire explant culture using papain (Sigma) at a concentration of 0.4mg/ml in 0.2m TRIS pH 7.0, containing 5mM EDTA and 5mM DTT, for 2h at 60°C.

The effects of IL-1 on human articular cartilage and the effects of the proteinase inhibitor U24522, were studied by measuring the collagenase and proteoglycan activity (unreported work of Dr. J. Mort, Joint Diseases Laboratory, Shriners Hospital, Montreal, Quebec) in the media during the culture period of 14 days and the presence or absence of immunohistochemically-detectable degraded type II collagen. The collagenase activity was measured by the standard fibril assay as described in Section VII, E with the addition of a dialysis step. The media collected every two days were dialyzed against assay buffer using the Bethesda Research Laboratory microdialysis apparatus to remove the inhibitor.

Frozen sections were made of the tissue from these cultures as described in the general description of the immunohistochemical protocol and handled identically as described for other human cartilages (section VIII, B). Streptavidin-gold with silver enhancement was used for detection of staining at the light microscopic level (Section VI).

## B. Immunohistochemistry

Human articular cartilage obtained as described, from normal (nonarthritic) and arthritic patients, was cut into pieces of approximately 2 mm x 7 mm x 2 mm maintaining the orientation of the articular surface. It was embedded in OCT embedding medium at -20°C. Six micron thick sections were cut perpendicular to the articular surface and handled as described in the immunohistochemical protocol, except for these specific steps. Frozen sections were allowed to thaw and were fixed for 8 min in 4% formaldehyde/PBS. Prior to the tissue permeabilization step, the tissues were washed and blocked as described in Section VI. In addition to the chondroitinase ABC used to remove the chondroitin sulfate from the proteoglycans, keratanase was added to the enzyme digestion solution at a concentration of 0.025 units/50  $\mu$ l/section.

In experiments where the murine monoclonal antibody, AN9P1 was used, the ascites fluid containing the antibody was diluted 1/32 in PBS containing 1% BSA and 1% v/v Nonidet P40, as used for other antibodies. Normal ascites fluid was used as a control diluted in the same manner. When AN9P1 was used a second step antibody was needed in order to utilize the biotinylated-donkey anti-rabbit antibody. A rabbit antiserum to mouse IgG, prepared in this laboratory, was used at a dilution of 1/10 in PBS as described above. Reaction was visualized by silver enhancement of the gold-labelled streptavidin as described in Section VI.

## C. Electron microscopy

Sections of human articular cartilage were prepared as described for light microscopy in Section VI. Each 6  $\mu$ m thick section was fixed for 20 min in 4% formaldehyde in PBS pH 7.4 at 4°C. Tissues were kept at 4°C and washed in ice cold PBS for 10 min. To block the unreactive aldehyde groups, 5 sections were blocked with 5% normal donkey serum for 30 min at room temperature. After a rinse in PBS for 10 min the tissue was permeabilized with 0.2% hyaluronidase in PBS with proteinase inhibitors, as described in the immunohistochemical protocol, for 1 h at 37°C. Reaction with either R181 or NRS F(ab')<sub>2</sub> was performed in regard to dilutions and washes as for light microscopy except that 100  $\mu$ l of the appropriate primary antibody was incubated with the tissue overnight at 4°C instead of 90 min. at room temperature. The second step antiserum, the biotinylated donkey anti-rabbit, was incubated for 3 h at room temperature. The streptavidin-gold (15 nm) was also incubated overnight at 4°C.

After a wash in PBS containing 0.15% BSA for 2 h the tissues were dehydrated with sequential 10 min intervals in 50%, 70%, 95% and 100% ethanol. The tissues were then covered with a 1:1 mixture of ethanol and Spurr for 1 h, then a 1:2 mixture for an additional hour prior to embedding in 100% Spurr resin which was placed in a gelatin capsule and positioned on top of the tissue section as it remained on the glass slide. This was allowed to cure overnight in a desiccator. After detachment from the microscope slide the embedded tissue was sectioned using a glass knife and a Reichert-Jung microtome. Sections were placed on grids and stained with lead nitrate and uranyl acetate. Tissue was examined with a Phillips 400 electron microscope.
### CHAPTER 3

#### RESULTS

#### I. COLLAGEN PURIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION

#### A. Preface

The purity of any protein is paramount to generating a useful antiserum. The interpretation and conclusions drawn from the studies described in this thesis critically depend on the antibody specificity and an understanding of the immunological and biochemical properties of collagen, primarily type II collagen. Presented in this section are the results from experiments involving isolation and biochemical characterisation of the immunogen used to generate the antiserum designated R181. The specificity of this antiserum has been assessed using purified type II collagen and cyanogen bromide derived peptides of type II collagen, both prepared as described in this thesis. Other bovine collagens, namely type V, VI, IX & XI were purified in either Dr. David Eyre's laboratories or Dr. Michel van der Rest's as described in Materials and Methods. Cyanogen bromide derived peptides of human type II collagen were prepared in an identical manner as were bovine type II peptides.

#### B. Type II collagen

Based on the special properties of fibrillar collagens, type II collagen was purified from the adult bovine nasal septum. Following the method described in Chapter 2 and outlined in Figure 4 (15) type II collagen was obtained. Final purification was selective salt precipitation and in most cases was repeated on small quantities (25-100 mg) two or three times to increase purity and remove small fragments or contaminating proteins. In figure 6, purified bovine type II collagen was heat denatured at 60°C for 3 min or boiled for 3 min and separated by a gradient (7.5%-15%). Lanes B and D contain two separate collagen preparations which were heated to 60°C for 3 min. These demonstrate the homogeneous  $\alpha$ -chain composition of type II collagen (15). There is no evidence for the presence of an  $\alpha^2$  chain, which migrates slightly faster than the  $\alpha 1$  chain, nor are there any other contaminating proteins present. In comparison, lane C contains 100 µg of the identical collagen preparation seen in lane B except it has boiled for 3 min prior to loading. This resulted in a reduction in high molecular weight ( $\gamma$  and  $\beta$ ) components and an increase in small fragments, clearly seen as smaller than the intact  $\alpha$ -chain. With this observation, all subsequent samples prepared for SDS-PAGE were heated to 60°C rather than boiling. In some the presence of small molecular size-collagenous fragments were observed in certain preparations. These fragments were seen by both using the general protein stain, Coomassie blue, and immunoblotting analysis with R181.

Using purified bovine type II collagen, a mixture of peptides was generated using cyanogen bromide which results in cleavage at methionine residues, of which there are 10 per  $\alpha$  chain (88,282). After taking several approaches to assure complete digestion as described in Chapter 2, the optimal cleavage was obtained after extending the reaction time from 4 h to 16-18 h. In Figure 7, adult bovine intact collagen  $\alpha$  chains are shown in lane A and type II collagen CNBr-derived peptides prepared in this manner from the same collagen are seen in lane A are shown in lane B. Precise peptide identification was obtained by sequence analysis (Chapter 3, section II). There were no intact  $\alpha$  chains remaining (as was the case from reaction mixtures at



### Figure 6 : SDS-PAGE (7.5%) of Purified Bovine Type II Collagens Demonstrating Fragmentation of Collagen After Boiling.

In lane A are molecular weight standards where k=1000. Lanes B and D contain 100µg of bovine type II collagen which was heated to 60° for 3 min prior to loading. The dimers ( $\beta$ ) and trimers ( $\gamma$ ) of  $\alpha$  chains are indicated. Lane C is 100µg of the identical collagen preparaton as in lane B, but was boiled for 3 min prior to loading. Proteins have been stained with Coomassie blue.



# Figure 7 : SDS-PAGE of Purified Bovine Type II Collagen $\alpha$ Chains and CNBr-Derived Peptides

Purified bovine type II collagen  $\alpha$  chains and CNBr-derived peptides of bovine type II collagen were separated by SDS-PAGE. (7.5%-15% gradient) Lane A represents 15 µg/lane of purified  $\alpha$  chains and lane B, 60 µg/lane of CNBr-derived peptides after staining with Coomassie blue. Molecular weight markers were used as reference points and are indicated.

4 h). Nonetheless, there were several bands which represent incomplete digestion products or peptides with crosslinks to other peptides. Based on the known position of methionine residues and the relative size of each peptide, any bands larger than  $\alpha 1(II)CB10$  represents a di- or tri-peptide.

One of the parameters examined to determine whether or not nonreducible crosslinks were playing a role in the profile obtained for CNBrderived peptides, was to compare the peptides obtained from adult and fetal bovine tissues. In Figure 8, the similarities between these tissues are observed. Here it is demonstrated by the reaction with the antiserum R181 after SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting. Lanes A and C show the major reactive band as the type II  $\alpha$ -chain in both fetal and adult derived collagen preparations. Each show a preponderance of small molecular weight, collagenous fragments in addition to the large molecular weight  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$ components. The existence of small collagenous fragments in these collagen preparations is largely due to two factors: the fact that both are overloaded and that the immunoblotting is much more sensitive than Coomassie blue staining. In addition, this can be seen by comparing the reaction seen in Figure 8, lanes A or C, with 15µg per lane with that observed in Figure 13, where only 5 µg of type II collagen is stained with Coomassie blue in lane A and after immunoblotting with R181 in lane B.

Although little significant difference is observed in the native type II collagen preparations of adult and fetal bovine cartilages, some differences in the peptide profiles can be seen. There are several large molecular weight reactive protein bands present in lane B in the adult collagen which are absent the fetal preparation in lane D. This provides further evidence that covalent crosslinks are more prevalent in aged tissue and that most probably



Figure 8 : Demonstration of Similarity Between Adult and Fetal Bovine Type II Collagen CNBr-Derived Peptides by Minigel SDS-PAGE (8%) and Immunoblotting with R181.

Lanes A and C contain 15 µg each of type II collagen; lanes B and D contain 35µg each of type II collagen CNBr-derived peptides. Lanes A and B were derived from adult cartilage whereas lanes C and D were from fetal cartilage. Reaction of antiserum R181 has been detected by <sup>125</sup>I-protein A. Molecular weight standards are indicated.

the peptides that are larger than the largest single peptide ( $\alpha 1(II)CB10$ ) are due to the presence of crosslinks rather than incomplete cleavage. Routinely, therefore, collagen peptides were prepared as described using the extended cleavage time; it was deduced to be the most completely cleaved collagen obtainable by this technique. Consistently, the peptide profiles from different collagen preparations were identical. CNBr-derived peptides from human type II collagen were also prepared and gave a similar pattern. The R181 reaction profile for human type II peptides is compared to that of bovine in Chapter 3, section II, B.

#### C. HPLC analysis of bovine type II collagen

HPLC permits the rapid and automated analysis of minute amounts of materials. Van der Rest <u>et al</u>, have demonstrated the utility of reversed phase HPLC techniques in the analysis of small quantities of the fibrillar collagens and peptides thereof (271,283). According to the column used, these techniques can be utilized as a preparative step in purification or can be purely analytical. For the purposes of this study and analyzing native type II collagen, an analytical column (Vydac 218TPB) was used although in other studies collagen peptides were isolated and retrieved from a semi-preparative column (Vydac) with a diameter of 19cm. A mobile phase containing 0.01 M HFBA in acetonitrile and H<sub>2</sub>O was used for its volatile properties, important in retrieving and analyzing fractions.

Represented in Figure 9 is a chromatogram of a typical analysis of purified bovine type II collagen. A 1h linear gradient of acetonitrile and  $H_2O$ containing 0.01 M HFBA was applied. Fractions representing peaks labelled A and B were pooled, dried using the Savant Speed Vac and weighed. The



### Figure 9 : Reversed-phase HPLC Analysis of Bovine Type II Collagen.

Using a VYDAC 218TPB column as described in the Methods section, 0.5 mg of purified bovine type II collagen was chromatographed over a 1hr linear gradient of acetonitrile and H<sub>2</sub>O (35%-60%) with 0.01M HFBA. Peaks A and B were collected, freeze-dried and analyzed by SDS-PAGE.

average recovery obtained for 15 chromatographic runs was approximately 75%. The relatively insoluble nature of collagen contributes to the loss which mostly occurs in the loading of the sample. Peaks A and B were thought to represent the  $\alpha$ -chains and high molecular weight dimers and trimers, respectively. Each peak was loaded and electrophoresed in an 8% polyacrylamide gel. (Figure 10). Based on dry weight approximately 50 µg of collagen was added to each lane. As can be seen, peak A represents the bulk of the purified  $\alpha$ -chain component, whereas peak B contains  $\alpha$  chains (monomers,  $\beta$  components (dimers) and  $\gamma$  components (trimers). These data is evidence of the purity in regard to collagen type of the bovine type II collagen preparation.

#### D. Summary

The following summarizes the data presented on collagen purification and characterization.

- Purified type II collagen was prepared from bovine and human nasal cartilage.
- Purity of type II collagen preparation was assessed by SDS-PAGE and resulted in identification of a single band indicative of the three identical α chains which comprise type II collagen.
- 3. Fragments of type II collagen were generated as artifacts of the preloading boiling step most commonly used in SDS-PAGE. Warming to 60°C for as little as 3 min was sufficient to denature the collagen molecule in reducing sample buffer.
- 4. Small quantities of fragments of type II collagen could be also detected in collagen preparations by immunoblotting with R181 which could not



# Figure 10: SDS-PAGE of Peaks A and B From Reversed -Phase HPLC Analysis of Bovine Type II Collagen.

Lane 1 is material from peak A, lane 2 is material from peak B collected and pooled from the chromatograph represented in Figure 9. Trimers, dimers, and monomeric  $\alpha$  chains are indicated as  $\gamma$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$ , respectively. Electrophoresis was carried out in a 8% gel in the large format as described. Molecular weight standards are indicated.

be detected by the conventional protein stain, Coomassie blue. This indicates the high degree of sensitivity obtained with immunoblotting and detection with a specific antiserum.

- Peptides were generated using cyanogen bromide with optimal cleavage obtained with an extended reaction time of 18 h.
- 6. Comparison of adult and fetal bovine type II collagen and CNBr-derived peptides was performed. There was a striking similarity between peptide profiles on immunoblots when using R181 as the antiserum. A few high molecular weight multi-peptides were absent in the fetal cartilage collagen preparation indicating the presence of non-reducible crosslinks in adult tissues.
- 7. CNBr derived peptides were first identified by relative molecular size based on the known sequence of type II collagen and the position of methionine residues. The precise identities of three major peptides, α1(II)CB8,10,11 were established by amino acid sequencing.
- Reversed-phase HPLC analysis of bovine type II collagen revealed its purity by demonstration of a large major peak containing homogeneous α chains with a minor peak containing cross-linked dimers and trimers.

#### **II. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE ANTIBODIES**

#### A. Preface

Central to this thesis is the precise characterization of the primary antiserum which reacts with degraded or denatured type II collagen, designated R181. In this section, data will be presented which discerns the specificity of the antibodies of R181. Initial information was obtained using ELISA and bovine type II collagen purified as described, and purified collagens kindly provided by Dr. David Eyre (University of Washington, Seattle) in the case of bovine types V,VI,IX,XI and by Dr. Michel van der Rest (Genetic Unit, Shriners Hospital, Montreal, Quebec) for human type II collagen. As the study progressed, so did the sophistication of the analytical Subsequent characterization was performed by SDS-PAGE and work. immunoblot analyses along with microsequence analyses of isolated peptides. Except where mentioned, characterization was done using adult bovine type II collagen. Each analysis will be presented along with the appropriate data. A summary of the characterization of R181 will be included at the end of this section.

#### B. ELISA analyses of antiserum R181

#### 1. Bovine collagens

The possible reactivity of antibodies in antiserum R181 with various cartilage collagenous components was investigated by ELISA analysis. Purified collagens associted with the non-calcifying cartilage matrix (284), types II, V, VI, IX and XI were tested as native collagens. In the same experiment the immunogen, bovine type II CNBr-derived peptides was tested and as seen in Figure 11 (upper left hand panel). This reaction had a titer of



## Figure 11 : ELISA Analyses of Antiserum (R181) with Purified Native Bovine Cartilage Collagens.

To determine specificity of antibodies the reaction was measured to native collagen types II, V, VI, IX, and XI and compared to the reaction determined to the immunogen, CNBr-derived peptides of a bovine type II collagen.

1/128. The reaction observed with the mixture of peptides was relatively low, throughout several experiments. Antibody titers were assessed to denatured types II, V, VI, IX and XI and compared to the reaction to CNBrderived peptides of type II (Figure 12). The strongest reactions were detected to the immunogen (type II CNBr-derived peptides) and denatured type II collagen. No reaction was observed to any collagen tested, native or denature, in the preimmune serum.

A small reaction with native type II collagen (highest  $A_{405} = 0.140$ ) observed at the highest concentrations of serum appears to be a result of trace amounts of denatured or fragmented collagen in the type II preparation as a result of purification and handling. This was demonstrated by analysis of type II collagen by SDS-PAGE followed by electrotransfer to nitrocellulose and immunostaining with R181. At low collagen concentrations, as shown in Figure 12, a small reaction is detected with material of a smaller molecular size than on intact  $\alpha$  chains. This was not detected with conventional protein staining with Coomassie blue. This point was addressed in this chapter, section I, B of the collagen purification and characterization section (Figures 8 and 13) where data presented there further confirmed the existence of small collagen fragments detectable with antibody but not with conventional PAGE staining (except when overloaded).

#### 2. Human collagens

The reactivity of antiserum R181 with human type II collagen was also determined by ELISA (Figure 14). Native, denatured, and CNBr-derived peptides of human type II collagen were examined and compared in their reactivity to bovine type II collagen CNBr-derived peptides. Equivalent reactions were seen to human and bovine type II CNBr-derived collagen



### Figure 12 : ELISA Analyses of Antiserum (R181) with Purified Denatured Bovine Cartilage Collagens.

To determine specificity of antibodies the reaction was measured to heatdenatured collagen types II, V, VI, IX, and XI and compared to the reaction determined to the immunogen, CNBr-derived peptides of a bovine type II collagen.



# Figure 13 : Demonstration of Small Quantities of Immunoreactive Fragments of Type II Collagen in Purified Bovine Type II Collagen

Purified bovine type II collagen (5  $\mu$ g) was characterized in SDS-PAGE (7.5%) using a Bio-Rad Mini protean apparatus. Lane A represents the protein stained with Coomassie Blue; lane B is an autoradiograph of an identical track after transfer onto nitrocelluose and incubation with R181, after detection with <sup>125</sup>I-Protein A. The immunoreactive  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  components of higher molecular weight can also be seen.



### Figure 14 : ELISA Analyses of Antiserum (R181) to Demonstrate Cross-Reaction With Human Type II Collagen

Binding of preimmune and immune R181 to human type II collagens (a) native, (b) denatured and (d) CNBr-derived peptides are shown. For comparison, binding to the immunogen, bovine type II collagen CNBr-derived peptides (c) is shown. peptides and denatured type II collagen, whereas in the case of human type II there was no reaction with native human type II collagen over and above that shown by preimmune serum. Preimmune R181 showed no reaction with any of the other collagens tested.

#### C. Biochemical characteristics

#### 1. SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analyses

To determined which CNBr-derived peptides of bovine type II collagen were recognized by R181 antibodies, SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting techniques were employed. Initially, CNBr-derived peptides were separated by SDS-PAGE and then electrophoretically transferred to nitrocellulose. In Figure 15 two such electrophoretic profiles are presented, where lane A represents all peptides in the mixture CNBr-derived peptides of type II collagen stained with Coomassie and lane B represents only those peptides reactive with R181. The two largest peptides are identified as a 1(II)CB10 and al(II)CB11, composed of approximately 320 and 270 amino acids, respectively. The most revealing data from this comparison of peptides stained with Coomassie blue and those recognized by R181 and detected with 125I-protein A, is the lack of antibody reaction with a1(II)CB10 but The other major reactive single peptide reactivity with a1(II)CB11. identified is a a1(II)CB8, approximately 170 amino acids. Although these peptides are artificially generated by a cleavage at each methionine residue, the antibody reaction, in situ can be related to post-collagenase cleavage events where unwinding of the  $\alpha$  chains occurs with exposure of antigenic epitopes. Any reactive bands present above the peptide identified as  $\alpha 1(II)CB10$  represent multiple peptides or crosslinked peptides based on the



### Figure 15 : Identification of CNBr-Derived Peptides of Bovine Type II Collagen.

CNBr-derived peptides (60 µg/lane) of bovine type II collagen were separated by SDS-PAGE (7.5%-15% gradient). Lane A represents the peptides after staining with Coomassie blue. An identical track was transferred to nitrocellulose and incubated with R181 and <sup>125</sup>I-Protein A (lane B). Peptides identified by microsequencing analysis are indicated. Radiolabeled molecular weight markers were used as reference points and are indicated.

molecular size and positions of methionine residues. The three peptides precisely labelled, were identified as such only after sequencing the first 10-20 amino acids from the amino terminal end and relating these sequences to the known primary structure of the bovine  $\alpha$  chain (285).

Further characterization was performed in R181 in respect to an unrelated collagen (i.e. type I) and non-collagenous components of articular cartilage. This investigation was important in order to utilize the antibodies in cartilage sections where the complete complement of cartilage components exists. Purified type I and type II collagens, type II CNBr peptides and whole cartilage extract and fractions thereof separated by cesium chloride density gradient centrifugation, were electrophoresed in a 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel under reducing conditions, and the separated proteins were then electrophoretically transferred onto nitrocellulose. The transblot was either incubated with preimmune, immune R181 serum or a mixture of R254 and R167, each at a dilution of 10%. As seen in figure 16a, preimmune R181 showed no reactivity to any of the proteins examined, whereas immune serum R181 (Figure 16b) reacted with purified, denatured bovine  $\alpha$  1(II) chains, and peptides of bovine type II collagen. No reaction was detected with purified bovine type I collagen, nor with any proteins found in the bovine cartilage extract except for a weak band of reactivity detected in fraction number 6 of the cesium chloride density gradient, corresponding in size to the  $\alpha 1(II)$  chains. In order to demonstrate the presence of other cartilage proteins on the transblot which were unreactive with R181, the identical transblot was incubated with a mixture of two antisera designated R167 and R254. As can be seen in Figure 16c, these antisera react with a wide variety of proteins which are present on the nitrocellulose, none of

108.



### Figure 16a : Specifity of Antiserum R181 Is Shown By Immunoblotting.

Various bovine collagens (20  $\mu$ g per lane of native types I and II: 60  $\mu$ g per lane type II CNBr-derived peptides), fractionated and whole bovine cartilage extracts (approximately 10  $\mu$ I of total extract or fraction) were separated by SDS-PAGE (10%) and electrophoretically transferred to nitrocellulose. A radioautograph is shown of the reaction with *preimmune R181*. Antibody reactions are detected by using <sup>125</sup>I-protein A. Reference molecular weight markers are indicated. (k=1000)



### Figure 16b : Specifity of Antiserum R181 Is Shown By Immunoblotting.

Various bovine collagens (20  $\mu$ g per lane of native types I and II: 60  $\mu$ g type II CNBr-derived peptides per lane), fractionated and whole bovine cartilage extracts (approximately 10  $\mu$ I of total extract or fraction) were separated by SDS-PAGE (10%) and electrophoretically transferred to nitrocellulose. A radioautograph is shown of the reaction with *immune R181*. Antibody reactions are detected by using <sup>125</sup>I-protein A. Reference molecular weight markers are indicated. (k=1000)



### Figure 16c : Specifity of Antiserum R181 Is Shown By Immunoblotting.

The identical immunoblot which is represented in figure 16b was reacted with antisera R167 and R254. These antisera were generated to cartilage extract components as described in Methods and were used as a positve control for identifying matrix components. Antibody reactions are detected by using <sup>125</sup>I-protein A. Reference molecular weight markers are indicated. (k=1000)

which react with R181 except type II collagen  $\alpha$  chains and type II CNBrderived peptides. CNBr-derived peptides of type II collagen, which have epitopes reactive with R181 were identified by their relative molecular sizes using SDS-PAGE analyses and by microsequencing of these electrophoretically separated peptides. In Figure 14b the major antibody reactive peptides were identified as  $\alpha 1$ (II)CB8 and  $\alpha 1$ (II)CB11.

To determine whether or not R181 cross-reacted with human type II collagen peptides derived by cleavage with CNBr, immunoblot comparison analysis was performed between human and bovine type II collagen. Bovine and human type II collagen and CNBr-derived peptides thereof along with a whole cartilage extract of human articular cartilage, were electrophoresed by SDS-PAGE (10%) and electrophoretically transferred, to nitrocellulose. Immunoblots were either incubated with 10% (v/v) R181 or 10% (v/v)preimmune serum. Figure 17 illustrates the radioautograph of the immunoblot showing the specific reaction of R181 with both bovine and human type II collagen. The two species are strikingly similar in both peptides and in R181 reactivity. The two major reactive peptides are identified. No reaction was observed with an identical blot incubated with preimmune R181, just as previously demonstrated with bovine collagens. Since proteinacious components of human articular cartilage are represented in the whole cartilage extract (Figure 17, lane E) the lack of any reaction except for the band in the  $\alpha$ -chain position provides the basis for extending the studies to human tissue.

109.



# Figure 17 : Reaction Specifity of Antiserum R181 with Human Type II Collagen $\alpha$ Chains, CNBr-Derived Peptides and an Unfractionated Extract of Human Articular Cartilage.

After SDS-PAGE (10%) and electrophoretic transfer onto nitrocellulose, immunoblots were prepared. Shown are radioautographs of immunoblots incubated with immune R181. In lane A, 15 µg purified bovine type II collagen; lane B, 60 µg bovine type II collagen CNBr-derived peptides; lane C, 15 µg human type II collagen; lane D, 60 µg human type II collagen CNBr-derived peptides; lane E, 10µl unfractionated extract of human articular cartilage. Molecular weight markers are indicated where k=1000. Reaction of R181 has been detected by using <sup>125</sup>Iprotein A. Positions of  $\alpha$ 1(II),  $\alpha$ 1(II)CB11 and  $\alpha$ 1(II)CB8 are indicated. No reactive bands were observed in an identical immunoblot incubated with preimmune R181 (not shown).

#### 2. Sequence analysis of type II collagen peptides

Precise identification of CNBr-derived peptides of bovine type II collagen was made only after protein sequence analysis. The first 10-20 amino acids of selected peptides were sequenced and compared with the amino acid sequences which have been published (285) (Figure 18). As mentioned, initial identification was made by conventional means of comparing size and mobility in PAGE, for the sequence studies peptides from an identical SDS-PAGE as shown in Figure 15 was used. Therefore, the reactive bands clearly identified in Figure 15 could be sequenced and assigned their position in the collagen molecule. Two R181 reactive bands, a1(II)CB8 and  $\alpha$  1(II)CB11, were identified by amino acid sequencing and a major band, as seen by Coomassie Blue staining, was identified by its amino acid sequence as  $\alpha$  1(II)CB10. This peptide was clearly unreactive with the antiserum R181 (Figure 15). Based on previous studies of CNBr derived peptides of type II collagen (286), the largest peptide is  $\alpha 1$ (II)CB10. Therefore any peptide species larger than a1(II)CB10 results from incomplete cleavage at methionine residues or the presence of non-reducible crosslinks. Attempts were made at sequencing several other peptide species, although analyses revealed multiple peptides, perhaps a result of mobility similarity (overlapping) or size identity. No conclusions could be made on the identity of other bands sequenced except for those revealed as  $\alpha 1(II)CB8$ , 10 and 11.

#### D. Summary

The following summarizes the data presented in the section on specificity of the antiserum R181 as determined by ELISA analyses immunoblotting and microsequencing.

Residue $\alpha$ 1(II)CBII	Residue a1(II)CB8	Residue $\alpha$ 1(II)CB10
124 GLY 125 PRO 126 ARG 127 GLY 128 LEU 129 HYP 130 GLY 131 GLU 132 - 133 GLY	403 GLY 404 PHE 405 HYP 406 GLY 407 PRO 408 HYL 409 GLY 410 ALA 411 ASN 412 GLY 413 GLU 414 HYP 415 GLY 416 LYS 417 ALA	552 HYP   553 GLY   554 GLU   555 ARG   556 GLY   557 ALA   558 ALA   559 GLY   560 ILE   561 ALA   562 GLY   563 PRO   564 HYL   565 GLY   566 ASP   567 ARG   568 GLY   566 ASP   567 ARG   568 GLY   569 ASP   570 VAL   571 GLY

# Figure 18 : Amino Acid Sequence Analysis of CNBr-Derived Peptides of Bovine $\alpha$ 1(II).

Individual peptide bands blotted onto PVDF membranes were cut out and sequenced from the NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal by limited Edman degradation as described in Materials and Methods. Presented are the sequence analyses and their corresponding residue number as matched with data from a number of laboratories as compiled by D. Galloway (285).

- R181 displays the strongest reaction to the immunogenic antigen, bovine type II CNBr-derived peptides.
- An equivalent reaction was observed to denatured bovine type II collagen.
- No reaction was detected to native or denatured collagen types V, VI, IX, and XI.
- No significant reaction was observed to any collagen, in any form, by preimmune R181.
- R181 reacts with human type II CNBr-derived peptides, and denatured type II, although shows reaction to native type II.
- R181 was shown to react specifically with denatured type II collagen of both bovine and human origin.
- R181 reacts specifically with two major peptides of bovine and human type II collagen, α1(II)CB8 and α1(II)CB11 and is unreactive with the largest CNBr-derived peptide α1(II)CB10.
- Whole, or fractionated bovine articular cartilage extracts show no reactive component other than the α-chain of type II collagen. No reaction was detected to a non-cartilage collagen, type I collagen.
- 9. The lack of reaction with any proteins in the unfractionated human cartilage extract (except for the α-chain of type II collagen) confirms the similarity of the human cartilage reaction profile of antiserum R181 with that of the reaction profile with bovine cartilage.
- Microsequencing was successfully applied to electrophoretically separated type II collagen peptides after transfer onto PVDF membranes.

- 11. Amino acid sequence determination of the first 10-20 amino terminal residues was sufficient to match the obtained sequences with those published and ascribe the correct identity to three major peptides,  $\alpha 1(II)CB8$ , 10 and 11.
- 12. Combined conclusion: R181 specifically reacts with bovine and human type II collagen peptides α1(II)CB8 and α1(II)CB10 along with other minor peptides. This reactivity can be detected in denatured α chains but not when the collagen is in a native conformation.

These data demonstrate the specificity of R181 for denatured bovine and human type II collagen and two CNBr-derived peptides of type II collagen. The two major reactive peptides are located well within the helical region of the alpha chain in the N-terminal half of the molecule. Figure 19 represents a CNBr-derived peptide map of bovine type II collagen based on a review by Fietzek and Kuhn (286), illustrating the relative positions of  $\alpha 1(II)$ CB8,  $\alpha 1(II)$ CB11, their relative size and the cleavage position of mammalian collagenase. This demonstrates that the epitopes which are recognized by this polyclonal antiserum are with collagen peptides which are located towards the N-terminus of the cleavage site of mammalian collagenase (61).



# Figure 19 : Diagrammatic Representation of Position and Relative Sizes of CNBr-Derived Peptides of Bovine Type II Collagen.

R181-reactive peptides, the cleavage site for mammalian collagenase and the identities of CNBr-derived peptides are indicated.

#### III. ARTICULAR CARTILAGE DEGRADATION IN CULTURE

#### A. Preface

Cartilage explant cultures have been successfully utilized to investigate in vivo events since the first description of cartilage tissue culture (287). For the purposes of studying articular cartilage degradation and synthesis, explant cultures have been widely used by some workers studying cartilage metabolism and macromolecule biosynthesis (288) and by others investigating the breakdown of proteoglycan and collagen in response to various stimuli (289-291). Proteoglycan degradation is commonly monitored by detecting the release of glycosaminoglycans into the explant culture medium whereas collagen breakdown has historically been assessed by measuring the release of hydroxyproline, into the explant culture medium (288,289).

This section describes experiments using explants of bovine articular cartilage and immunochemical and immunohistochemical methods to detect type II collagen degradation and turnover. This explant model of articular cartilage degradation utilizing well defined serum-free medium allows for the investigation of the effects of molecules such as IL-1. Medium changes every two days enables enzyme levels to be determined over a period of time. In the experiments where IL-1 was added to explant cultures, it was added back at each change of culture media. Therefore the available concentration was kept at a constant level throughout the experiment. In these studies the effects of IL-1 on collagenase production/secretion was determined by measuring collagenase activity in the culture medium collected at periodic intervals. The biological effects of IL-1 on enzyme production and subsequent action was investigated immunohistochemically and immunochemically by examining the tissue explants with R181, the antiserum which specifically detects degraded type II collagen. Experiments will be presented which directly demonstrate the effect(s) of IL-1, and implicate it in cartilage collagen breakdown.

#### B. Explant cultures of bovine articular cartilage

#### 1. Immunohistochemistry

In these initial experiments using R181 and the immunohistochemical protocol described, the detection system was streptavidin labelled with fluorescein. Later experiments were performed using a method utilizing streptavidin-gold with silver enhancement which results in a permanent preparation.

Bovine articular cartilage was examined using antiserum R181 with immunofluorescence after various culture periods in the presence of absence of IL-1. In all experiments, tissue reacted with R181 was compared to tissue incubated with normal rabbit serum F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (NRS) under identical conditions to establish the specificity of antibody binding. The matrix of these cartilage sections treated with NRS F(ab')<sub>2</sub> did not stain. Only the cell nuclei were visible due to the counterstain, ethidium bromide (Figure 20a). As further controls for the immunostaining protocol, bovine articular cartilage sections were incubated omitting the primary antibody (R181 or NRS), testing the effects of the second step antibody, the donkey anti-rabbit F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (Figure 20b). As the positive control for the detection system (i.e. fluoresceinated streptavidin), identical sections of uncultured adult bovine articular cartilage were incubated with the rabbit antiserum R110 (Figure 20c). R110 reacts with bovine proteoglycan after chondrotinase ABC digestion and was raised and characterized in this laboratory. Figure 20 demonstrates the overall



# Figure 20 : Controls for Immunohistochemical Staining of Bovine Articular Cartilage.

Immunofluorescent staining of uncultured bovine articular cartilage, (a) without the primary antibody, (b) with NRS and (c) with R110 a rabbit antiserum to proteoglycan. Magnification 205x.

interterritorial and pericellular staining pattern typically seen with R110. The positive control was performed with each experiment to be certain that the system was working. This precluded the identification of any false negative reactions. Additional controls included the preabsorption of R181  $F(ab')_2$  with denatured type II collagen prior to use. Staining of normal bovine articular cartilage sections with preabsorbed R181 was considerably reduced when compared to sections identically treated with untreated immune R181  $F(ab')_2$ , demonstrating the removal of antibodies to denatured type II collagen  $\alpha$  chains.

When sections of normal bovine articular cartilage were pretreated with trypsin to remove proteoglycan and stained with R181, no increase in staining was observed after trypsin treatment (Figure 21 panels g and h) or in the low intensity staining pattern seen with NRS F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (Figure 21 panels e and f). Staining of similar sections with the monoclonal antibody AN9PI to keratan sulfate which was produced and characterized in this laboratory (261) showed a reduction in staining as compared to the staining detected in nontrypsin treated cartilage (Figure 22, panels c and d). Antibody reactions in these experiments were detected with the streptavidin-gold technique as described in the methods sections including silver enhancement for light microscopy. The procedure results in a permanent brown/black reaction product. Similar sections of cartilage were stained with the cationic dye, toluidine blue to demonstrate the presence of glycosaminoglycan side chains on the proteoglycan molecules. As shown in Figure 21a and b, trypsin pretreatment nearly completely depleted the cartilage of detectable glycosaminoglycans as detected by toluidine blue staining.

115.



Figure 21 : Effects of Trypsin Pre-treatment on Immunolocalization of Type II Collagen Degradation and Detection of Proteoglycan in Bovine Articular Cartilage.

Adult bovine articular cartilage was pre-treated with trypsin, 0.125% (wt/vol) and processed as described in Materials and Methods. Sections were either pre-treated or not (+ or -) and stained with Toluidine blue (panels a and b); monoclonal AN9P1 (panels c and d); NRS F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (panels e and f) and R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (panels g and h). Except for panels a and b, reactions were detected by using the streptavidin-gold system with silver enhancement. Magnification 450x.



# Figure 22 : Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen Degradation in Uncultured and Cultured Bovine Articular Cartilage.

Immunofluorescent staining with immune R181  $F(ab')_2$  of bovine articular cartilage, (b) uncultured, (c) cultured for 5 days, (d) cultured with IL-1 for 5 days. As a control for the antibody, (a) tissue cultured for 5 days was stained with control (NRS)  $F(ab')_2$ . Deep zone (dz) is identified. Magnification 730x.
These observations provide further evidence that there is no masking of native collagen epitopes by proteoglycans in as much as no increase of R181 staining was observed when the majority of proteoglycan/glycosaminoglycans were removed. Therefore, increased staining with R181 in experimental or pathological specimens is not due to an increased antibody accessibility, nor are the antibodies reactive with native collagen when large glycosaminoglycans are removed.

Experimentally, explants of adult bovine articular cartilage were cultured for up to 12 days with or without the addition of human recombinant IL-1  $\beta$ . At two day intervals tissue was removed and cryosections were made for immunohistochemistry as described in methods sections. When crysosections of articular cartilage cultured for 5 days with IL-1 were examined (Figure 22d), intense fluorescence staining was observed with R181 as compared to cartilage cultured for the identical time and conditions except for the omission of IL-1 (Figure 22c) or control cartilage that was not cultured (Figure 22b). The staining for degraded type II collagen in cartilage cultured with IL-1 for 5 days (Figure 22d), shows both an increase in intensity of pericellular staining and an appearance of staining throughout the interritorial matrix. The reactions of R181 antibodies in these experiments were detected using the fluorescenated strepavidin system and specific controls with NRS F(ab')<sub>2</sub> were negative (Figure 22 panel a).

The most intense staining was always pericellular and was observed in cartilage from explants cultured with IL-1 for 3-5 days. Up until day 5 the number of cells identified with an area of intense broad pericellular staining, increased. After day 5, in most experiments, the percentage of chondrocytes with positive surrounding areas decreased, although the pericellular staining

that remained was always, as identified earlier at time points of 1-5 days, covering a broader zone than that seen in controls without IL-1. In sections from tissue which has been cultured for 12 days, the differences between cartilage cultured with or without IL-1 are less obvious (Figure 23). What is clear is that the staining pattern observed after long periods of culture with IL-1 is more diffuse and although still centralized in pericellular zones, these zones are more often around larger lucunae where cells reside. In almost all tissues with or without IL-1 present, the staining with R181 was overall reduced in cartilage from 12 days cultures in certain areas. Nonetheless, larger zones of "ghost-like" staining were observed in cartilage cultured for 12 days with IL-1, as is demonstrated by the Figure 23, panel b. Presumably the loss of staining in either case could be a result of a loss of epitope a result of progressive accumalative degradation of collagen.

Freshly isolated articular cartilage was characterized by weaker and smaller zones of pericellular staining and by low intensity interterritorial matrix staining (Figure 22, panel b). In general, the articular surface was lightly stained in all cartilages and this staining showed some small increase with culture time and/or the presence of IL-1. The cut edges in uncultured cartilages were not usually stained whereas after culture, cut edges stained brightly with R181. The experiments discussed and micrographs presented are of mid/deep zone cartilage. Cartilage explants studied represented full thickness cartilage slices removed just above the junction with subchondral bone.

### 2. Immunochemical analyses

Studies were performed to establish whether type II collagen  $\alpha$  chains or fragments thereof could be detected in culture media and cartilage

117.



Figure 23 : Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen Degradation in Bovine Articular Cartilage Cultured for 12 Days With or Without IL-1.

Immunofluorescent staining with immune R181  $F(ab')_2$  of bovine articular cartilage cultured for 12 days in the presence (b) or absence (a) of IL-1. Magnification 205x.

extracts, using R181. Culture media removed at bi-daily intervals were lyopholized in equal aliquots, rehydrated and an aliquot was analyzed for the presence of type II collagen reactive components by electrophoresis and immunoblotting as described. Media removed from explant cultures treated with or without IL-1 at days 5,9 and 11 were examined by immunoblotting and by automated amino acid analysis. Immunochemically there was no evidence of reactivity of R181 with any protein smaller than the intact  $\alpha$  chain of type II collagen from medium taken at day 5, 9 or 11 from either IL-1 treated tissue or control tissue not treated with IL-1, except in one experiment when a small fragment migrating ahead of the 14.3kd molecular weights standard appeared reactive in explant medium from day 9 IL-1 treated cultures (data not shown). This was not consistently observed. Therefore, in some cultures fragments of collagen-bearing immunoreactive epitopes were not present or were either not present in sufficient quantity in the culture media, to be detected by this methodology.

#### 3. Amino acid analyses of explant culture media

Amino acid analysis of multiple samples of spent explant culture media revealed that no significant quantities of hydroxyproline could be detected and further, no correlation of trace amounts of hydroxyproline could be made with explant medium from IL-1 treated or untreated cartilage cultures (data not presented).

### 4. Immunochemical analyses of extracts of explant tissue

In contrast, when cartilage explant tissue was removed at 5,9 and 11 days and subjected to guanidine extraction, there were type II collagen reactive components detected with R181 and immunoblotting. Extracts after exhaustive dialysis were dried and analyzed by electrophoresis and

immunoblotting with R181 and compared to the nonspecific reaction profile of non-immune R181 (Figure 24). As can be seen, extracts of cartilage cultured with IL-1 for 11 days contained an immunoreactive band of a slightly smaller size than an intact  $\alpha$  chain (upper arrow, Figure 24b) that was not detectable in extracts from cartilage for cultured identical periods without IL-1 or from normal uncultured bovine cartilage extracts (Figure 24b). This larger band could correspond to a cleaved or partially degraded  $\alpha$  chain initiated by collagenase cleavage (285). This remains to be further clarified. Suprisingly, intact  $\alpha$  chains were extractable from cartilage explants with some indication that with culture time and after culture with IL-1, an increase of intact  $\alpha$  chains could be detected with R181. An additional smaller band migrating near the 30 kilodalton globular standard (Figure 24, lowest arrow) was observed in extracts from cartilage cultured for 11 days with IL-1.

R181 reactive bands also appear migrating slightly higher than the 30 kilodalton marker in both lanes D and E, (Figure 24) with noticably more in the untreated 11 day extract sample (lane D). These smaller collagenous bands could represent products of further proteinase action on the  $\alpha$  chain, particularly since the R181-reactive determinants of the type II  $\alpha$  chain are located towards the NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal end (Figure 19). These R181-reactive bands were not seen in the control immunoblot which was incubated with preimmune serum (Figure 24a).

#### Collagenase activity

Media from bovine articular cartilage explant cultures were collected every second day and examined for collagenase activity. The spent culture medium was of equal volume, stored frozen until collectively assayed without



## Figure 24 : Immunochemical Analyses of Bovine Cartilage Extracts After Culture With or Without IL-1

Guanidine extracts of bovine articular cartilage were separated by SDS-PAGE and electrophoretically transferred to nitrocellulose. Panel A was incubated with preimmune R181, panel B with immune R181. As a point of reference, 10µg of purified bovine type II collagen was run in lane A. Lanes B and C are extracts of articular cartilage after 5 days in culture without (lane B) and with (lane C) IL-1. Lanes D and E are extracts of cartilage after 11 days of culture without (lane D) and with (lane E) IL-1. Each cartilage extract was loaded at 30 µl representing 20% of the total extract prepared as described in Methods. The position of R181reactive fragments are indicated on the right by an arrow, along with the position of the intact  $\alpha$  (II) chain. Molecular weight standards were used as described and are indicated in kilodaltons to the left. any dialysis or freeze-drying, at an appropriate dilution. Figure 25 is a representative experiment of 5 separate experiments showing cumulative collagenase activity in medium from explant cultures treated with or without IL-1 for a period of 2 to 9 days. With IL-1 the collagenase activity was progressively released into the medium over the 9 days culture period and was latent, and detected only after activation with APMA. Little or no active collagenase was ever detected in the medium from any experiment.

### C. Summary

The following is a summary of the salient observations and findings as a result of the experiments with bovine articular cartilage reported in this section.

- Antibodies of immune serum R181 shown to be specific for fragmented and denatured type II collagen, were utilized in a immunohistochemical protocol to identify <u>in situ</u> type II collagen degradation in bovine articular cartilage.
- R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> was shown to react with degraded/denatured type II collagen in tissue when compared to controls tissue incubated with NRS F(ab')<sub>2</sub>.
- Explants of bovine articular cartilage cultured with IL-1 showed a marked increase in staining for degraded type II collagen, particularly in pericellular sites.
- 4. Staining observed with R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> was not enhanced with further removal of proteoglycan with trypsin indicating that the reaction product was not a result of exposing epitopes or denatured collagen.



Figure 25 : Accumulation of Latent Collagenase Activity in Culture Media from Bovine Articular Cartilage Explants Cultured With and Without IL-1.

- 5. The increase of immunohistochemical staining observed in explants of bovine cartilage is maximal after 3-5 days in culture with IL-1 and the reactive epitopes begin to disappear with longer culture times, although staining is still present in cartilage cultured for 12 days with IL-1.
- Latent collagenase activity can be detected in the culture media of bovine cartilage explants, and is significantly increased (approximately 40%) in cultures where IL-1 is included.
- 7. These experiments collectively demonstrate the utilization of a wellcharacterized antiserum (R181) in detecting collagen degradation in <u>situ</u> and provide direct evidence for the ability of the ubiquitous cytokine IL-1, to mediate/activate type II collagen degradation in the extracellular matrix of articular cartilage.
- 8. R181 was used to detect immunochemically type II collagen alpha chains and fragments of alpha chains in extracts of bovine articular cartilage explants after culture with IL-1. The R181-reactive collagen components which were smaller than alpha were chains detected only after 9 and 11 days in culture with IL-1.
- 9. Immunochemically detected alpha chains were present in extracts of bovine cartilage throughout the culture period of 5-11 days and an increase in extractable collagen type II α chains was detected.

## IV. STUDIES OF HUMAN ARTICULAR CARTILAGE TYPE II COLLAGEN DEGRADATION

#### A. Preface

Human studies were made possible when the crossreactivity of the antiserum R181 with human denatured type II collagen was established, and antibodies were shown to specifically react with the CNBr derived type II collagen fragments,  $\alpha 1$  (II)CB11 and  $\alpha 1$ (II)CB8 rather than intact native type II collagen. Studies were designed to utilize these antibodies to examine normal and diseased articular cartilage. Freshly obtained tissues were examined for in situ type II collagen degradation by the immunohistochemical method described in Materials and Methods (Chapter 2, VI), always utilizing the gold-streptavidin detection system with silver enhancement. Studies will be presented here of normal osteoarthritic and rheumatoid arthritic articular cartilages. In addition, similar in vitro studies to those described with bovine cartilage, were performed using freshly obtained tissue placed in explant culture with or without IL-1 to provide direct evidence of the cytokines role in human arthritic diseases. As an extension of these studies, a proteinase inhibitor (U24522) was used in this in vitro model of type II collagen degradation and its effect on IL-1 stimulated cartilage elucidated by immunohistochemistry. The results of these experiments will be presented.

# B. Immunohistochemical identification of collagen degradation in human articular cartilage

### 1. Tissues

Human normal (non-arthritic) cartilage from healthy joints and diseased cartilage (osteoarthritic and rheumatoid arthritic) from adult patients were examined for type II collagen degradation using antiserum R181. Arthritic patients were undergoing total knee arthroplastry whereas age-matched nonarthritic control tissues were removed at the time of autopsy within 10 hours of death. Each osteoarthritic and rheumatoid arthritic patient was diagnosed as having advanced forms of disease and is discussed in the Materials and Methods (Chapter 2). In the case of osteoarthritic cartilages, histological examination of the cartilage confirmed the diagnosis: gross irregularities in the articular surface with fibrillation and cleft formation were observed. All rheumatoid cartilages were from patients with advanced, chronic disease and were characterized by synovitis and by marked surface erosion. In some areas, cartilage was completely absent, eroded down to bone. Normal cartilages were from adult joints from age-matched individuals whose cause of death was known and completely unrelated to connective tissue abnormalities, except for those of the natural aging process. These cartilages appeared macroscopically normal with an intact articular surface with little or no irregularity.

### 2. Detection of degraded type II collagen in normal and diseased cartilage

Cartilages were all handled by identical procedures and reacted with the antibodies under the precise conditions described in the preceeding Methods section. Controls were performed to address questions regarding antiserum specificity and antigen (or epitope) accessibility. To increase the ability of antiserum, R181 to penetrate these adult human cartilages, tissues were all treated with both chondroitinase ABC and keratanase prior to antibody incubation. To control for antibody accessibility which may be impeded by proteoglycan, human rheumatoid cartilage was stained for proteoglycan using the monoclonal antibody AN9P1 and its staining pattern compared to that of R181. Figure 26 demonstrates that in the case of a representative cartilage (patient A.D.) staining with AN9P1 (Figure 26, panels c and c') was intense throughout the superficial, mid and deep zones in a uniform pattern even when compared to the normal ascitic fluid control (Figure 26, panels d and d'). Less staining for proteoglycan was observed in rheumatoid cartilages in the superficial matrix than elsewhere. In comparison, the staining pattern seen with R181 was concentrated at the articular surface and in the pericellular and territorial areas of the deep zone (Figure 26, panels b and b') as compared to that in tissue reacted with the control normal rabbit serum F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (Figure 26, panels a and a'). In all cartilages examined, both normal and diseased, staining for proteoglycan was unrelated to the staining observed with R181. Another example of the lack of a relationship of staining for type II collagen degradation with proteoglycan localization is shown in Figure 27. This shows an age-matched normal (Figure 27, panels a and b) and rheumatoid arthritic cartilage (Figure 27, panels c and d). The pattern of staining is clearly different whereas the staining for type II collagen breakdown is mostly pericellular in this tissue specimen (patient DK) and that for proteoglycan is more uniform being present in pericellular, territorial and interterritorial matrix. From these studies it can be seen that there is no relationship between the staining with AN9P1 and R181. Therefore, there is no evidence to indicate that an increase in staining with R181 is due to an increase in antibody accessibility as a result of a loss of proteoglycan.

Osteoarthritic cartilages were examined from four patients (PS, CR, VM, CP). The example shown in Figure 28 is cartilage from patient PS and is representative of three of the four patients examined. The most striking



## Figure 26 : Immunohistochemical Detection of Type II Collagen Degradation and the Presence of Proteoglycan in Rheumatoid Arthritic Human Articular Cartilage.

Sections of full thickness cartilage from patient AD were examined with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (panel a and a'); R181  $F(ab')_2$  (panel b and b'); AN9P1 (panel c and c') and normal ascitic fluid (panel d and d'). Reactions were detected with the streptavidin-gold system including silver enhancement for light microscopy. Deep zone (dz) and the articular surface (arrow) are indicated. Magnification panels a, b, c, d 173x, panels a', b', c', d' 480x.



## Figure 27 : Comparison of Type II Collagen Degradation and the Presence of Proteoglycan in Normal and Rheumatoid Arthritic Human Articular Cartilage

Deep zone normal adult articular cartilage (panels a and b) from an agematched control with cartilage from a rheumatoid patient DK (panels c and d) were incubated with R181  $F(ab')_2$  (panels a and c) or AN9P1. (panels b and d) Reactions were detected with the streptavidin-gold system including silver enhancement for light microscopy. Tissues incubated with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (as a control for R181  $F(ab')_2$  or normal ascites fluid (as a control for monoclonal AN9P1) were negative in equivalent regions (data not shown). Magnification 490x. staining was throughout the regions of the superficial fibrillation (Figure 28, panel b) and in the interterritorial matrix of the superficial and mid zones (Figure 28, panels b and d). Tissue incubated with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  did not stain and is shown from similar regions of cartilage from patient PS as were those incubated with R181  $F(ab')_2$  (Figure 28, panels a,c and e). Evidence of pericellular degradation was also detected in the deep zone (Figure 28, panel f), although this was restricted, in this example, to the pericellular and territorial areas around the deep zone chondrocytes with little or no intercellular matrix staining elsewhere in the deep zone. The staining with R181 is specific and intense when compared to that seen in identical tissues stained with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (Figure 28, panel e). As mentioned, this staining profile was characteristic of three of the four osteoarthritic cartilages examined, while cartilage from patient CR was stained with R181 at the articular surface, not throughout the superficial zone and intensely stained in territorial sites around the chondrocytes in the deep zone.

Intense pericellular, territorial and interritorial matrix staining was detected in all rheumatoid articular cartilages examined. Shown in Figure 29 is a photomicrograph of articular cartilage from patient AD stained with R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (Figure 29, panel b) and control NRS F(ab')<sub>2</sub> (Figure 29 panel a). In contrast to the osteoarthritic cartilage shown, the most striking evidence for collagen degradation was predominantly in the territorial and pericellular matrix of the deep zones and at the articular surface (Figure 29, panels b and d). The staining was concentrated around the deep zone chondrocytes with intense staining of the territorial matrix. This pattern of degradation was evident in three of four rheumatoid arthritic cartilages examined (patients LM, DS, AD). The staining was shown to be specific by incubating, in



## Figure 28 : Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen Degradation in Human Osteoarthritic Articular Cartilage.

Cryostat sections of femoral condylar articular cartilage from a 69-year-old male (patient P.S.) were stained with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (a, c, e) or immune R181  $F(ab')_2$  (b, d,f) and with the streptavidin-gold, as described. The superficial zone with a fibrillated articular surface (a, b), mid (c, d) and deep zones (e, f) are shown. Magnification 300x.



## Figure 29 : Immunohistochemical Identification of Type II Collagen Degradation in Human Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage.

Cryostat sections of femoral condylar articular cartilage from a 60-year-old male (patient A.D.) stained with control NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (a) or immune R181  $F(ab')_2$  (b) are shown (magnification 300x). Panels c and d are high power magnification (730x) micrographs of the deep zone cartilage of panels a and b, respectively. Antibody binding was as described using the streptavidin-gold method with silver enhancement. The articular surface (arrows) and deep zones (dz) are indicated.

parallel each cartilage tissue with control nonimmune  $F(ab')_2$ , as is demonstrated by the representative cartilage (patient AD) stained with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (Figure 29, panels a and c). All rheumatoid cartilages were boldly stained for collagen degradation and the staining seen at the articular surface was much more intense than that seen in osteoarthritic or normal cartilage. The exception to the pattern represented in patient AD was cartilage of patient KE, which was intensely stained throughout the matrix, indicating the more advanced destruction of articular cartilage.

Four nonarthritic (normal) cartilages were tested routinely with pathological tissues as age-matched controls. All normal cartilages presented weak staining both at the articular surface and in pericellular sites throughout the cartilage in all zones with light interterritorial staining (Figure 30). The staining seen in normal cartilage was always limited and not uniform, as is seen in the representative specimen of a 73 year old male (Figure 30), where staining is restricted to certain regions, both in certain pericellular sites, and in the territorial matrix.

### C. Cartilage explant culture experiments

Explants of human articular cartilage asceptically removed from autopsy patients (within 10h post mortem), was cultured in serum-free medium with or without recombinant human IL-1ß in modified DMEM as described in Materials and Methods. The medium was collected at 2 day intervals and replaced with fresh medium containing IL-1 where necessary, and in later experiments the compound, U24522, a hydroxamic acid with known metal metalloproteinase inhibiting activity (293,297). These human explant cultures were an extension of the work of Dr. John S. Mort, and





## Figure 30 : Immunohistochemical Idendification of Type II Collagen Degradation in Normal Human Articular Cartilage.

Sections of cartilage from a nonarthritic (normal) 73 year old patient were stained with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (panel a) or R181  $F(ab')_2$  (panel b). The reaction was detected using the streptavidin-gold system with silver enhancement. Magnification 295x.

others in the Joint Diseases Laboratory (J.S. Mort <u>et al</u>. manuscript in preparation) and were based on previous studies investigating proteoglycan degradation and the effects of IL-1 (204). Tissues were removed at various times intervals including days 5, 9, and 12, and handled as described for human cartilage in Materials and Methods and stained immunohistochemically for type II collagen degradation with antiserum R181.

Initial experiments were performed to immunohistochemically detect the state of type II collagen in human cartilage after culture with IL-1. Figure 31 demonstrates the increase in collagen degradation after culture with IL-1 for 9 days (panel b), as compared to the basal level of degraded collagen present in cartilage cultured for the identical time under the same conditions except without IL-1 (panel a). Cartilage for studies shown here was obtained from a non-arthritic 47 year old male taken at autopsy 6 h post mortem. Cartilage appeared macroscopically normal. The specifity of the reaction is demonstrated by incubation of tissue sections with NRS F(ab')2 (panel c). In tissue stained with R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> striking (Figure 31, panels a, b) striking amount of collagen degradation is detected in pericellular and territorial zones around chondrocytes or clusters of chondrocytes in the deep zone where the most staining was observed and is where these micrographs are taken. Interleukin-1 stimulated type II collagen degradation was immunohistochemically detected most clearly after 9 days of culture whereas little increase in staining was observed in cartilage examined after 5 days in culture. The tissues examined after 12 days in culture were stained more intensely for collagen degradation in IL-1 treated explant cultures (Figure 32, panel c) than those untreated tissues cultured for the same time. As was seen in this photomicrograph, there is much type II collagen degradation



## Figure 31 : Immunohistochemical Identification of IL-1 Induced Type II Collagen Degradation in Explant Cultures of Adult Human Articular Cartilage

Human articular cartilage was cultured without IL-1 (panel a) or with IL-1 (panels b and c) for 9 days. Control amount of DMSO was added to each explant culture condition. Sections of explant cartilage were stained with R181  $F(ab')_2$  (panels a and b) or with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (panel c). Reaction of antibody binding is detected using the streptavidin-gold system as described. Cartilage is representative of the deep zone. Magnification 375x.



## Figure 32 : Inhibition of IL-1 Induced Type II Collagen Degradation By U24522

Explants of adult human articular cartilage were incubated for 9 days (panels a and b) or for 12 days (c and d). Panels a and c represent sections of cartilage from cultures incubated with IL-1 (including the vehicle control for U24522) and stained with R181  $F(ab')_2$  for type II collagen degradation. Panels b and d represent those cartilages cultured with 1 x 10<sup>-5</sup> M U24522 in addition to IL-1. Control cartilage from this experiment cultured without IL-1 is represented in Figure 31 panel a. Reactions were detected using the streptavidin-gold system with silver enhancement for light microscopy. Cartilage is representative of the deep zone. Magnification 375x.

detected in both tissue taken from day 9 cultures (panel a) and from day 12 cultures (panel c) with only slightly less interterritorial matrix staining in this later time period. In contrast to the bovine explant cultures experiments discussed previously, the effects of IL-1 and stimulation of collagenase secretion in these studies with human cartilage is slightly slower on onset and longer in duration.

Collagenase activity was measured in the culture medium from the explant culture treated with or without IL-1. Interleukin-1 was present at a concentration of 5 units/ml where a 1-unit is as that which gives 1/2 maximal stimulation of IL-1 responsive cells and was determined by the supplier (Genzyme). Figure 33 shows data representative of three separate experiments where explants of human articular cartilage were stimulated with IL-1 for up to 14 days. Data is presented as accumulated latent collagenase activity which was measured by the <sup>3</sup>H-collagen fibril assay. No active collagenase was detectable in these media. Interleukin-1 stimulated the production/secretion of latent collagenase. Enzyme activity was detected in increasing amounts over a culture period of 14 days.

As an extension of these studies and in an attempt to explore the relevance of the R181-immunohistochemical technique to detect degraded type II collagen, experiments were designed to include the metalloproteinase inhibitor (U24522). These studies were carried out in collaboration with Drs. A.R. Poole, J.S. Mort, P.J. Roughley, of the Joint Diseases laboratory, Montreal and Dr. G. DiPasquale of Stuart Pharmaceuticals, Wilmington DE, supplier of the research compound U24522. Because of the special solubility properties of this synthetic compound, a hydroxamic acid, a stock solution of 20mM of U24522 was prepared and added to cultures when necessary in a



Figure 33: Accumulative (Latent) Collagenase Activity in Medium of Human Articular Cartilage Explants Stimulated with II-1.

small aliquot to reach a final concentration of 0.01mM. Due to the toxicity of DMSO control cultures were routinely used containing the identical concentration of DMSO (0.05%). Even though the compound was dissolved as a stock solution in DMSO, there was evidence that in culture the compound would come out of solution and appear as lipid-like droplets deposited on the bottom of the culture dish. This phenomenon was detected during routine microscopic examination of cultures. This problem of solubility and resultant drug availability was minimized since the compound was freshly added each 2 days when the culture media were changed. The effects of the compound U24522 on detectable collagenase activity is shown in Figure 34, where accumulative latent collagenase activity is shown both before dialysis and after dialysis to remove this inhibitor. In the upper panel it is demonstrated that the addition of (5 units/ml) IL-1 significantly increases the amount of collagenase released into the medium of explant cultures as compared to the amount detected in unstimulated cultures. All activity detected was latent and was activated with APMA. The inclusion of U24522 at a concentration of 0.01mM in cultures with IL-1 resulted in a marked decrease (approximately 45%) in detectable collagenase. In the presence of the inhibitor the levels of collagenase were reduced to nearly those levels detected in media from unstimulated cultures. In order to study the effect of the inhibitor on the metalloproteinase itself present in the medium, the media were exhaustively dialyzed against assay buffer and reassayed for collagenase activity in the presence of APMA. Shown in Figure 34 in the lower panel, is the level of collagenase measured after dialysis to remove the inhibitor. The activity was approximately restored to that of the IL-1 stimulated values. The data suggest that the effect of the inhibitor is reversible. Although the inhibitor



Figure 34 : Accumulative (Latent) Collagenase Activity in Medium of Human Articular Cartilage Explants Cultured With and Without IL-1 and The Inhibitor U24522

was removed before activation with APMA, no definitive conclusion regarding the interaction of the inhibitor and enzyme can be made.

Tissue sections of these human explant cultures were examined with the antiserum R181 using the immunohistochemical protocol described for human cartilage in Materials and Methods. As mentioned previously, cartilage cultured with II-1 for 9 days showed a marked increase in staining for degraded type II collagen (Figure 31, panel b) over that seen in cartilage cultured for the same period without IL-1 (Figure 31, panel a). In this same experiment this predominately pericellular and territorial reaction with some overall interterritorial matrix staining can be seen as being maintained at comparable intensity from day 9 (Figure 32, panel a) to day 12 (Figure 32, panel c) culture, as compared to the control (no IL-1) in Figure 31, panel a. All tissue sections were taken from tissue which had been cultured with II-1 including the control for the DMSO vehicle at a final concentration of 0.05%. This level of DMSO has little or no effect on the stimulatory effects of Il-1 on cartilage explants. The most striking results were seen in the ability of the inhibitor to negate or reduce the amount of collagen degradation in situ produced by IL-1 (Figure 32, panels c and d). Although effects of IL-1 and the effects of the inhibitor U24522 could not be detected earlier in explant culture, the effects were most dramatic at day 9 as shown in Figure 32, panels a and b. The effect of the inhibitor is still evident when day 12 tissue is examined. In Figure 32 cartilage stimulated with IL-1 (panel c) is compared to cartilages cultured for 12 days with IL-1 and the inhibitor (panel d). The region studied and represented here in these photomicrographs is tissue from the deep zone of human femoral condylar cartilage.

It was of importance to ascertain the viability of chondroyctes after extensive exposure to the compound U24522. This was addressed by determining the ability of cartilage from 14 day explant cultures to incorporate <sup>3</sup>H-leucine as described in Materials and Methods. The results from this experiment are tabulated in Table 2. They show the incorporation of <sup>3</sup>H-leucine expressed in CPM per culture where the incorporation of <sup>3</sup>Hleucine was corrected for the actual amount of cartilage in each culture. As can be seen, there is no evidence for a loss of viability after as long as 14 days in culture with the inhibitor. One can see that comparing the incorporation in the culture with Il-1 and that of Il-1 with the control level of DMSO, that this has no significant effect on viability. These data provide further evidence that this compound exhibits a direct inhibitory effect on the action of a collagen degrading enzyme.

### D. Immunoelectron microscopic studies

Normal, osteoarthritic and rheumatoid arthritic cartilages were examined using R181 and the streptavidin-gold system of detection and were further processed for examination at the electron microscopic level. Tissue sections of articular cartilage obtained as serial frozen sections were either used for electron microscopic studies or were examined with the light microscope for collagen degradation and proteoglycan content. Since the same cartilage sections could be utilized for both light and electron microscopy a substantial amount of information could be obtained from the same specimens (identical patients). These studies were used not only to elucidate further the location and intensity of reaction products, but could also be used to demonstrate the specifity of the reaction. As can be seen in

Explant Culture	Normalized CPM/culture (~200 μg cartilage)
Unstimulated (medium alone)	197,000
+IL-1	295,000
+IL-1 + 0.25%DMSO	250,000
+ IL-1 + U24522 0.05 mM	265,000

## Table 2 : Viability of Adult Human Articular Cartilage During Explant Culture with IL-1 and U24522

Due to the slight variation in the distribution of cartilage in the explant cultures at the onset of the experiment, the data presented have been normalized to the amount of cartilage in the cultures at day 2 when all cultures are identical. Prior to the addition of IL-1, inhibitor U24522, or vehicle control on day 2, all cultures were the same. The data has been normalized to the amount of proteoglycan released into the medium at day 2 using the Dimethylmethylene Blue binding assay as described elsewhere (125). cpm represents counts per minute of incorporated<sup>3</sup>H-Leucine.

Figure 35, rheumatoid cartilage (from patient AD) which was incubated with R181 F(ab')<sub>2</sub> showed distinct focal concentrations of gold particles associated with broken collagen fibrils or with fibrils which appear as less electron dense. Regions shown in the micrograph are representative of the territorial matrix of the deep zone. In comparison, similar cartilage sections incubated with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  and carried through the identical prodedures for electron microscopy, were negative. In these tissues one detects few or no colloidal gold particles, yet there is a disordered matrix and an abundance of broken collagen fibrils. This negative reaction with NRS is an additional control for the immunohistochemistry method. This further demonstrates the specificity of the R181 reaction for degraded collagen fibrils. In each diseased tissue examined, staining with R181 was observed associated with disrupted collagen fibrils or what appeared to be material derived from collagen fibrils, rather than with intact fibrils which show the classic banding pattern. In fact, in diseased cartilage there is a marked decrease in the number of fibrils present with the typical banding pattern.

Normal age-matched cartilage was examined in parallel with rheumatoid articular cartilage for the presence of type II collagen degradation. In Figure 36, two such cartilages are presented where marked staining is observed in the rheumatoid cartilage commonly associated with amorphous, less electron dense material which appear as remnants of collagen fibrils or as unravelled fibrils. Normal tissue examined from similar territorial sites remote from the articular surface, showed very little staining. When staining was observed in normal non-arthritic cartilage it was more often detected in pericellular zones and was associated with 'fractured' collagen fibrils or less electron dense material, perhaps an indication of basal



## Figure 35 : Immunoelectron Microscopic Demonstration of Type II Collagen Degradation in Human Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage

Rheumatoid articular cartilage from patient A.D. was incubated with NRS  $F(ab')_2$  (left panel) or R181F(ab')\_2 (right panel). Antibody binding was detected using the streptavidin-gold system. Regions of cartilage shown are representative of the territorial matrix of the deep zone. Magnification 46,000x.





## Figure 37 : Immunoelectron Microscopic Detection of Type II Collagen Degradation At the Articular Surface of Normal and Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage

Articular cartilage from patient AD (lower panel) and an age-matched nonarthritic normal (top panel) are presented after immunostaining with R181  $F(ab')_2$ and streptavidin-gold. Areas represent matrix at the articular surface. Arrows indicate reaction at disrupted collagen fibrils. Magnification 52,000x. pericellular space. The intensity of staining for collagen degradation is indicative of the local effects, presumably of enzymes such as collagenase produced by the resident chondrocyte. Antibody binding in pericellular material from deep zone cartilage, is to the ends or fragments of collagen fibrils or fibrils which appear less electron dense and partly degraded.

These observations have been made in cartilage from this patient (AD) and others. Figure 39 shows another example from a different rheumatoid patient (patient DK). Throughout the arthritic tissues studied, collagen fibrils appeared to be of a smaller diameter in rheumatoid cartilages than non-arthritic. This is also seen in cartilage of Figure 39. These thinner fibrils may be newly synthesized or immature fibrils formed as a repair response.

### E. Summary

The following summary is a compilation of the most prominent findings of the studies reported in this section.

- Antiserum R181 was demonstrated to react specifically with degraded or denatured type II collagen in human articular cartilage.
- 2. Staining detected in normal and arthritic human articular cartilage was not related to the presence of proteoglycan: type II collagen degradation could be detected in human rheumatoid without a significant loss of proteoglycan.
- All human arthritic cartilage examined contained areas of pronounced pericellular and territorial staining for collagen degradation as compared to non-arthritic age-matched control cartilage.

- 4. Most rheumatoid cartilages exhibited intense staining for degraded type II collagen at the articular surface and in the pericellular and territorial matrix in the deep zones.
- 5. Osteoarthritic cartilage was stained for type II collagen degradation in a different pattern, most staining being observed in the interteritorial and territorial matrix of the superficial and mid zones, in part, associated with surface irregularities and fibrillation. Although less intense than rheumatoid tissues, staining was observed around chondrocytes of the deep zone.
- 6. Although some distinct staining was observed in age-matched controls (themselves from patient 36-73 years old) it was of a low intensity and usually at the articular surface, presumably where stress and aging effects are most evident, and in dispersed, tight pericellular sites throughout the cartilage matrix.
- 7. Human cartilage explants cultured with IL-1 secreted significant levels of collagenase in the culture medium. This was associated in a time dependent manner, with the degradation of type II collagen detected immunohistochemically in situ.
- Even though the amount of degradation and collagenase secretion stimulated with IL-1 was striking, it could be almost completed abrogated by the synthetic metalloproteinase inhibitor U24522.
- 9. Electron microscopic studies of human cartilage revealed that the staining of arthritic cartilages with R181 was localized to broken collagen fibrils and/or remnants of collagen which appear less electron dense. As compared to non-arthritic cartilage, the staining was seen in pericellular and territorial areas of the deep zone and the matrix of the



## Figure 39 : Immunoelectron Microscopic Detection of Type II Collagen Degradation in Human Rheumatoid Articular Cartilage.

Rheumatoid articular cartilage from patient DK was stained with R181  $F(ab')_2$  (both panels) and the reaction detected with the gold-streptavidin system. Regions represented in these electron micrographs are of deep zone cartilage. Magnification 52,000x.

articular surface where there was a loss of collagen organization and where fibrils were disordered and lacked the classic banding pattern.
## **CHAPTER 4**

## I. DISCUSSION

The chapter will include a general discussion of the findings, which have already been summarized at the end of each Results section. A general discussion of the novel immunohistochemical and immunochemical approach to collagen breakdown utilized in these studies will draw attention to the new information and original contributions of this thesis.

The biochemical, chemical and biological properties of articular cartilage depend intimately on the molecules which comprise the extracellular matrix, collagen and proteoglycan. These large polymeric molecules provide articular cartilage with the resiliency required to withstand compressive forces and the stresses of motion and successfully protect the underlying skeletal bone (46,294,295). Perturbation of one or all of these extracellular matrix components resulting in damage or loss, causes dramatic changes in the functional properties leading to pathological conditions, such as arthritis. Many studies have been designed to determine the physical and enzymic mechanisms which are involved in the destruction of articular cartilage and subsequent loss of function. Whenever cartilage is damaged mechanically or biochemically, there is damage and loss of matrix and new molecules are synthesized in an attempt to restore the tissue. The balance between synthesis and breakdown (degradation) is a critical and a determining factor in the restoration of the cartilage with little or no loss of integrity or function (223).

One of the limiting factors in the study of cartilage degradation has been the inability to detect collagen breakdown in articular cartilage other than by detecting the release of hydroxyproline (294). A variety of studies have addressed cartilage degradation from the standpoint of changes in proteoglycan in relation to size, type of glycosaminoglycan side chains and an altered proportion of protein relative to glycosaminoglycan (296-298). In addition to these types of biochemical studies, proteoglycan, due to its unique charge properties, can be detected using cationic dyes, such as safranin O and toludine blue (26,299,300). In contrast, the study of collagen changes in degenerative diseases has been limited by the technology and experimental approaches available which are primarily morphological at the electron microscopic level. From the studies presented in this thesis, one can conclude that the inability of previous studies to identify collagen degradation as an early event in <u>in vitro</u> cartilage experiments (289,290,294) was a result of a lack of a sensitive and specific detection method with which to detect the degradation of type II collagen.

This thesis has been concerned with the development of a technique which could immunohistochemically and immunochemically detect collagen degradation in experimental animal and human articular cartilage. By using a highly specific polyclonal antibody directed against fragmented and denatured type II collagen, I have developed methods for the detection of collagen degradation in situ produced both experimentally and in human arthritis. Based on earlier work on the immunology and antigenicity of collagens (63,75,150,228,229) a monospecific antiserum (R181) was prepared to antigenic determinants on the  $\alpha$  chains of the type II collagen molecule which are only exposed upon unwinding of the triple helix (i.e. central determinants). Theoretically, this unwinding can result from cleavage of the collagen molecule either in the triple helix by collagenase (161) or by cleavage at the non-helical telopeptide ends, such as can be produced by

elastase (176,301). A method to recognize collagen post-cleavage (denatured) could provide a valuable tool to elucidate further events in cartilage catabolism. A primary goal of this work was completed with the generation and characterization of the rabbit antiserum, designated R181. This enabled the design of experiments to further study and understand the status of collagen in articular cartilage.

To generate an antiserum for these studies type II collagen, peptides generated by cyanogen bromide cleavage of bovine type II tropocollagen which do not recombine to form helical collagen were used as an immunogen. Although the immunogenicity of tropocollagen (native or denatured) is often weak, selective antibody responses to central determinants have previously been observed (67).

Even though type II collagen has been identified as the major molecular form of collagen in cartilage (15), cartilage is now known to contain several collagen types. In addition to type II, Eyre and his colleagues have identified types V, VI, IX and XI, each accounting for 1-2% of the total collagen (284). To rule out any possible cross-reaction with these minor collagens, antiserum R181 was tested in ELISA and shown not to react with the native or denatured forms of bovine type V, VI, IX and XI collagens. The specificity of R181 for degraded type II collagen coupled with its demonstrated lack of reactivity with other cartilage molecules in bovine and human cartilage makes it possible to detect specifically the degradation of type II collagen.

Paramount to the interpretation of any experiments when antibodies are utilized, is the precise specificity of the antiserum, whether it be a polyclonal or monoclonal antibody preparation. The identification of the location of the R181 reactive epitopes on the type II collagen alpha chains was made possible using CNBr-derived peptides, immunoblotting and The major immuno-reactive peptides, al(II)CB8 and microsequencing. al(II)CB11, are located well within the helical region and are adjacent to the region of the molecule containing the collagenase cleavage site (Figure 19), where the initial disruption of the collagen molecule is thought to occur. In the experimental bovine cartilage study a high molecular weight fragment of type II collagen  $\alpha$  chain was identified in extracts of bovine cartilage undergoing collagen degradation induced by IL-1. This fragment is similar in size to the 3/4 length collagenase cleavage product (161) and implicates more directly mammalian collagenase in type II collagen degradation. The smaller collagenous fragments detected could derive from further degradation of the alpha chain or represent further degradation of the 3/4 length collagenasederived fragment. It could be presumed that in situ a reaction with R181 indicates that an initial cleavage has occured by the most likely candidate, collagenase. Moreover, the intensity of the reaction could relate to the amount of unwinding and exposure of the epitopes which exist downstream to the collagenae cleavage site. When a polyclonal antiserum can be shown to be specific for the molecule of interest, the benefit of a polyclonal antiserum over a monoclonal antibody is that the the former contains a heterogenous pool of antibodies which react with a variety of epitopes in the same molecule. This has the potential of enhancing the reaction and increasing the sensitivity, although the reaction is critically dependent on specificity.

The experimental studies of cartilage degradation induced by IL-1 served to demonstrate for the first time the degradation of type II collagen <u>in</u> <u>situ</u>. In these experiments it was shown that treatment of chondrocytes with IL-1 (in explant culture) stimulates the release of collagenase and that this is

accompanied by collagen degradation, mainly around chondrocytes in the cartilage explants. Since it is reasonable to assign the role of normal matrix maintenance to the chondrocyte it is also reasonable to, blame the chondrocyte for the damage caused by enzymes and factors produced by these cells. Although discussed further in this section, it is important to add here that these studied directly implicate the chondrocyte and stimulation by cytokines such as IL-1 in the destruction of articular cartilage. These cells may not only affected by the factors released by macrophages/monocytes which are resident in the inflammed synovium and circulate in blood, (211,302) but by chondrocytes themselves. In the deep zone, in particular, chondrocytes must be in communication with or affected by mediators from the cells in the inflammed subchondral bone marrow (220,221). Since collagenase has been detected biochemically in elevated amounts in rheumatoid arthritic cartilage (150, 303)osteoarthritic and and immunohistochemically, in the matrix in cartilage from the synovial pannus junction of rheumatoid arthritic cartilage (151), the high degree of collagen degradation around and near to chondrocytes in arthritic cartilage is not completely unexpected.

Experimentally, IL-1 was used to stimulate collagenase secretion in both human and bovine articular cartilage. Explants of bovine and human cartilage cultured with IL-1 showed early signs of collagen degradation when stained with the antiserum R181 as compared to controls. Marked staining, in particular pericellular, for type II collagen degradation was immunohistochemically detected in bovine cartilage after only 3 days in culture with IL-1, whereas in human cartilage collagen degradation was detected most strikingly on or after 9 days in culture with IL-1. These data, from explant culture studies, suggest a direct effect of IL-1 on resident chondrocytes and provide strong evidence of the role of the chondrocytes and the mediators such as Il-1 in cartilage degradation.

In the studies with bovine cartilage, increased extractable degraded collagen was detected immunochemically after exposure to IL-1 at 9-10 days when immunohistochemical staining for collagen degradation in situ was less pronounced. The increased staining in cartilage cultured for only 3-5 days with IL-1 suggests that unwound type II collagen may react in situ with antibody but the cartilage at these early time intervals may not contain significant amounts of extractable  $\alpha$ -chains or  $\alpha$ -chain fragments.

New evidence of possible alternative mechanisms of collagen degradation as an early event in cartilage breakdown is presented in the studies of extractable collagen. Extractable  $\alpha$  chains of type II collagen were detected in explants of bovine cartilage cultured with or without IL-1. Although these studies were not designed to be quantitative, one can make the general observation that more  $\alpha$  chains were extractable from cartilage explants which were cultured with IL-1 (Figure 24). Moreover, immunochemical detection of  $\alpha$  chains as seen in Figure 24 revealed that there was an increase in extractable  $\alpha$  chains with increasing culture time. These findings suggest that there is in addition to collagenase, another proteinases present and stimulated by IL-1 which is capable of cleaving collagen molecules in non-helical regions. Obvious candidates in vivo are elastase and cathepsin G both which have been shown to be capable of degrading collagen in the non-helical regions where intermolecular cross links occur. In addition there may be new or yet to be described proteinases or "cross linkases" which are present and stimulated by IL-1 in cartilage, adding

to the molecules which mediate the breakdown and destablization of the collagen fibril. The action of specific enzymes for cleaving cross-links between  $\alpha$  chains is one explanation of why intact  $\alpha$  chains are present in guanidine extracts of explant cartilage. Another possibility is that the collagen which is readily guanidine extractable after explant culture represents newly synthesized collagen although this arguement would be inconsistent with the finding that IL-1 can inhibit new collagen synthesis (304). The presence of extractable collagen  $\alpha$  chains in cartilage after explant culture requires further study.

Studies of collagen degradation in human cartilages revealed that arthritic cartilages exhibit much more evidence of collagen degradation than the corresponding normal adult cartilages. The staining of degraded collagen observed in arthritic cartilage did not correspond to any increased permeability due to loss of proteoglycan since there was no significant staining in the collagen staining sites. This staining with R181 for degraded collagen was independent of a loss of proteoglycans or glycosaminoglycans and there was no evidence for staining of intact helical collagen.

Both normal bovine and human adult articular cartilage exhibit low level staining for degraded collagen and which was present in certain pericellular sites and throughout the matrix. Since cartilage, like most connective tissues, is constantly undergoing turnover and remodelling for proteoglycans one would presume the pericellular staining may reflect basal collagen turnover. In all four normal human cartilages examined, the matrix in the superficial zone is also lightly stained. This suggests that there may be a more active process of collagen remodelling of the articular surface or that collagen degradation per se has taken place at or near the articular surface. In the human cartilages examined, differences in staining of degraded collagen were not only in intensity, but also in distribution. In 3 out of the 4 osteoarthritic cartilages examined, staining was observed mainly in the superficial and mid zones, often where fibrillation was occurring, with intense staining in both pericellular sites and moderate staining in territorial sites which may vary in location depending upon the joint pathology of each patient. The pericellular and strong diffuse staining associated with fibrillated superficial cartilage clearly indicates collagen degradation in these sites and explains in part the appearance of fibrillated cartilage.

In contrast, in rheumatoid cartilage there was very intense staining of the articular surface. This collagen degradation may be caused by proteolytic enzymes originating from the synovial fluid which are capable of degrading collagen. Obvious candidates are the collagen-degrading proteases, (175,305) which can elastase and cathepsin G be released by polymorphonuclear leucocytes upon attachment to articular cartilage, and which result in the degradation of the more superficial articular cartilage (306,307). In one specimen (KE), degradation was detected throughout the matrix. In the others it was concentrated in the deep and mid zones. Degraded type II collagen was detected around chondrocytes in pericellular and territorial sites in the deep zone close to the calcified cartilage. Most rheumatoid cartilage was examined from sites at or close to the cartilagesynovial junction. The data indicate that not only may type II collagen degradation occur at the cartilage-synovial junction, associated with mononuclear cell infiltration and pannus formation (151,257,258,308) but that it also occurs around the chondrocytes more remote from the articular surface and remote from the synovium and synovial fluid. Earlier,

ultramorphological studies of rheumatoid articular cartilage, using cationic dyes, also showed a loss of staining for proteoglycans and evidence for damage to collagen fibrils in the deep zone cartilage (259). Since much of the degradation in human cartilage was centered around cells, the chondrocyte is clearly implicated as the primary source of enzymes degrading the type II collagen, as in bovine cartilage. Experimently, these studies have shown in bovine cartilage that molecules such as IL-1 can diffuse into bovine cartilage and activate chondrocytes to degrade the collagen matrix throughout the matrix. The degradation of collagen around and between cells appears to result from chondrocyte activation resulting from cytokines, such as IL-1.

In addition to such cytokines originating from synovium, pannus and synovial fluid (223) they could also arise from the inflammed subchondral bone marrow. Inflammatory changes are well recognized in subchondral sites in rheumatoid arthritis and are associated with bone resorption and loss which can result from the action of cytokines such as IL-1 and tumour necrosis factor (197,262,309-312). Cellular infiltration from subchondral bone into cartilage has also been observed in rheumatoid arthritis (263-265). Earlier studies by Fell and co-workers demonstrated that stimulation of subchondral bone marrow with complement sufficient antiserum can cause degradation of the adjacent articular cartilage (220,221). The present observations thus indicate that degradative changes occurring in the deep zone cartilage may be initiated by the release of cytokines released from inflammatory cells not only in the joint cavity but also from underlying inflammed subchondral marrow cavities.

There is a large body of evidence that would link both collagen and proteoglycan-degrading enzymes to the loss of integrity of articular cartilage in arthritic diseases (223). The study described here has permitted the identification of cartilage collagen degradation in experimental and human pathology and has produced important observations and raised questions concerning the pathology of these diseases. Further studies utilizing these techniques should help to elucidate the destructive process involved and the mediators that regulate the control of cartilage destruction.

In addition to the investigations into collagen degradation and its assessment in tissue utilizing the immunohistochemical protocol with R181, the in vitro studies with human articular cartilage explants and IL-1, produced important findings. Although the data are circumstantial, the fact that explant cultures of human articular cartilage were stimulated with IL-1 to result in increased type II collagen degradation, implicates IL-1 as a mediator of cartilage type II collagen destruction in vivo. This provides new evidence that IL-1 is, in part, responsible for the collagen damage observed in diseased cartilage. Previously, the large body of evidence linking IL-1 to the stimulation of collagenase or activators of collagenase, was provided by the measurement of enzyme activity in vitro. The detection of low intensity staining for collagen degradation in normal, aging cartilages suggests that these processes are a natural part of maintaining cartilage integrity and are under strict control. The balance between inhibitor of enzyme activity or activator of latent enzyme is critical to the avoidance of excess degradation (or synthesis).

An important feature of these studies is that although it is well accepted that collagen fibrils are the supporting network or scaffold for entrapping the highly charged, highly hydrophilic proteoglycans, it is not as clear as to which is degraded (or lost first) in cartilages incapable of fulfilling there intended function. In these experiments, collagen degradation could be detected with marked intensity without a significant net loss of staining for proteoglycan (Figure 27) and most assuredly not with a total loss of proteoglycan.

The pharmacological effect of the metalloproteinase inhibitor, U24522, on arresting type II collagen degradation in explants of bovine articular cartilage explants stimulated with IL-1, was striking. These data demonstrates the utility of the immunohistochemical technique described within this thesis in studies where the effects of pharmocologic compounds and their mechanism of action are investigated. These studies represent the first demonstration that type II collagen degradation can be arrested <u>in vitro</u> by a non-toxic inhibition of metalloproteinase.

The experiments described in this thesis have permitted the identification of cartilage collagen degradation in experimental and human pathology and have produced several new observations and raised questions concerning the pathology of these arthritic diseases. Further studies utilizing these techniques should help elucidate the destructive processes and the mediators involved, that regulate and control cartilage destruction.

## II. EPILOGUE

The development of the antiserum specific for fragmented and denatured type II collagen and the immunochemical applications described here in this thesis, make possible future studies which examine collagen degradation and synthesis on a new basis. The uniqueness of the antibodies allowed, in these studies with cartilage and type II collagen, detection of fragmented (or unwound) type II collagen in situ in human and bovine cartilages for the first time. Collectively, these experiments suggest that collagen degradation in cartilage is an early event when chondrocytes are stimulated by mediators such as IL-1. When cartilage was in explant culture, IL-1 stimulated cartilage showed distinct staining for type II collagen degradation which if compared with the degradation seen in diseased cartilage, could suggest that this is an operative mechanism in vivo. Further studies utilizing this immunochemical approach to collagen degradation and well defined model systems where other factors (i.e. monokines, inhibitors of proteinases, inhibitors of mediators such as IL-1), could elucidate the precise control mechanism(s) which regulate the destruction and or synthesis of collagen in normal and abnormal cartilage.

The immunohistochemical study which identified extractable alpha chains and fragments of type II was the first observation of its kind and draws attention to the major role that collagen plays in cartilage integrity. It requires further study. This initial observation does not clarify the mechanism(s) involved which releases intact alpha chains from cartilage in explant culture. The existence of a novel enzyme which has its action on the collagen cross-links which stabilize the collagen molecules is a distinct possibility and would be the basis for a very interesting and important new set of experiments. These types of experiments would be quite difficult, although one approach could be to start by examining and characterizing molecules which might inhibit this phenomenon and approach the identification of the enzyme(s) involved by understanding the regulation of the enzyme(s) activity or production by using well defined proteinase inhibitors. Utilization of a bovine or human explant culture sysem (with IL-1) as described here could be used and provides a valid basis from which to interpret the results.

The studies have revealed collagen type II degradation to be an early event in contrast to the previously held notion that proteoglycan is initially degraded and a significant part of early cartilage destruction. These observations could extend a more detailed comparison of proteoglycan (and specific proteoglycan components) and collagen changes under various experimental conditions and pathological states. Similar antiserum could be generated to other collagen components of cartilage and their degradation in cartilage evaluated to understand the involvement of and the condition of these "minor collagens" in articular cartilage pathology.

The technology and application described within this thesis provides new and unique information regarding the ongoing events in articular cartilage and have opened new possibilities to analytically study collagen changes in cartilage homeostasis and pathology. Distinct patterns of degraded type II collagen were identified in arthritic cartilages which suggests that although some of the same mechanism(s) may be involved in cartilage destruction in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis, the results described here suggest that different mechanisms, mediators or regulation is involved in cartilage damage and loss of function. Other studies which would be a natural extension of this work would be <u>in situ</u> hybridization with cDNA probes for certain well described major components of cartilage destruction such as collagenase or an activator of collagenase, stromelysin. Correlation of these types of molecular studies with the immunohistochemical and immunochemical data provided in these studies described here would bring us closer to understanding the pathobiology and clinical condition and make possible the design of novel and effective therapies.

## References

- Eyre DR and Muir H. 1975. Distribution of different molecular species of collagen in fibrous, elastic and hyaline cartilage in the pig. Biochem J. 151:595.
- Bird HA, Tribe CR and Bacon PA. 1978. Joint hypermobility leading to osteoarthrosis and chondrocalcinosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 37:203.
- Trueta J. 1968. Studies of the development and decay of the human frame. Pitman Condor, pp 170-173.
- Barland P, Novikoff AB and Hamerman D. 1962. Electron microscopy of the human synovial membrane. J Cell Biol. 14:207.
- Roy S, Ghadially FN and Crane WAJ. 1966. Synovial membrane in traumatic effusion. Ultrastructural and autoradiography with tritiated leucine. Ann Rheum Dis. 25:259.
- Werb Z and Reynolds JJ. 1976. Stimulation by endocytosis of the secretion of collagenase and neutral proteinases from rabbit synovial fibroblasts. J Exp Med. 140:1482.
- Roy S and Ghadially FN. 1967. Synthesis of hyaluronic acid by synovial cells. J Path Bacteriol. 93:555.
- Ghadially FN. 1978. In: The joints and synovial fluid. Sokoloff L, editor, Academic Press, New York, pp. 105-176.
- 9. Eyre D, and Muir H. 1975. Type III collagen: A major constituent of rheumatoid and normal synovial membrane. Conn Tiss Res. 4:11.
- Gay S, Gay RE and Miller EJ. 1980. The collagens of the joint. Arthritis Rheum. 23:937.
- 11. Swann DA, Slayter HS and Silver FH. 1981. The molecular structure of lubricating glycoprotein-I, the boundary lubricant for articular

cartilage. J Biol Chem. 256:5921.

- Swann DA, Hendren RB, Radin EL, Sotman SL and Duda EA. 1981. The lubricating activity of synovial fluid glycoproteins. Arthritis Rheum. 24:22.
- Mankin HJ. 1962. Localization of tritriated thymidine in articular cartilage of rabbits. I. Growth in immature cartilage. J Bone Joint Surg. 44:682.
- Maroudas A, Bullough P, Swanson SAV and Freeman MAR. 1968. The permeability of articular cartilage. J Bone Joint Surg. 50B:166.
- 15. Miller EJ. 1971. Isolation and characterization of a collagen from chick cartilage containing three identical  $\alpha$  chains. Biochemistry. 10: 1652.
- 16. Kempson GE, Muir H, Swanson SAV and Freeman MAR. 1970. Correlation between stiffness and the chemical constituents of cartilage on the human femoral head. Biochem Biophys Acta. 215:70.
- Simon WH. 1970. Scale effects in animal joints. I. Articular cartilage thickness and compressive stress. Arthritis Rheum. 13:244.
- Armstrong CG and Gardner DL. 1977. Thickness and distribution of human femoral head articular cartilage. Changes with age. Ann Rheum Dis. 36:407.
- Simon WH. 1971. Scale effects in animal joints. II. Thickness and elasticity in the deformability of articular cartilage. Arthritis Rheum. 14:493.
- 20. Poole AR, Pidoux I, Reiner A and Rosenberg L. 1982. An immunoelectron microscope study of the organization of proteoglycan monomer link protein and collagen in the matrix of articular cartilage. J Cell Biol. 93:921.

- 21. Stockwell R. 1971. The interrelationship of cell density and cartilage thickness in mammalian articular cartilage. J Anat. 109:411.
- Collins DH. 1949. In: The pathology of articular spinal diseases. Edward Arnold, London, pp. 74-115.
- Hamerman D and Schubert M. 1962. Diarthroidal joints, an essay. Am J Med. 33:555.
- Bywaters EGL. 1937. The metabolism of joint tissues. J Path Bact.
  44:247.
- Roy S and Meachim G. 1968. Chondrocyte ultrastructure in human articular cartilage. Annals Rheum Dis. 27:544.
- Mitchell NS and Shepard N. 1981. Pericellular proteoglycan concentrations in early degenerative arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 24:958.
- Weiss C, Rosenberg L and Helfet A. 1968. An ultrastructural study of normal young adult human articular cartilage. J Bone Jt Surg. 50A:663.
- 28. Poole AR, Pidoux I, Reiner A and Rosenberg L. 1981. The ultrastructural organization of PG monomer and link protein in articular cartilage. Seminar Arthritis Rheum 11(suppl. 1):27.
- Poole AR, Pidoux I, Reiner A, Tang LH, Choi H and Rosenberg LC.
  1980. Localization of proteoglycan monomer and link protein in the matrix of bone and articular cartilage. J Histochem Cytochem.
   28:621.
- Rosenberg LC, Choi HU, Tang L-H, Johnson TL, Pal S, Webber C, Reiner A and Poole AR. 1985. Isolation of dermatan sulfate proteoglycans from mature bovine articular cartilages. J Biol Chem. 260:6304.

- 31. Poole AR, Webber C, Pidoux I, Choi H and Rosenberg LC. 1986. Localization of a dermatan sulfate proteoglycan (DS-PGII) in cartilage and the presence of an immunologically related species in other tissues. J Histochem Cytochem. 34:619.
- Brighton CT, Kitajima T and Hunt RM. 1984. Zonal analysis of cytoplasmic components of articular cartilage chondrocytes. Arthritis Rheum. 27:1290.
- Buckwalter JA, Mowers D, Ungar R, Schaeffer J and Ginsberg B. 1983.
  Morphometric analysis of chondrocyte hypertrophy. J Bone Jt Surg. 68A:243.
- Lutwak-Mann C. 1940. Enzymes in articular cartilage. Biochem J.
  34:517.
- Stockwell RA. 1967. Lipid content of human costal and articular cartilage. Ann Rheum Dis. 26:481.
- 36. Bonner W-M, Jonsson H, Malanos C and Bryant M. 1975. Changes in the lipids of human articular cartilage with age. Arthritis Rheum. 18:461.
- Redler I and Zimmy ML. 1970. Scanning electron microscopy of normal and abnormal articular cartilage and synovium. J Bone Jt Surg. 52A:1395.
- 38. Gardner DL and McGillivary DC. 1972. Living articular cartilages are not smooth. Structure of mammalian joint surfaces demonstrated <u>in</u> <u>vivo</u> by immersion incident light microscopy. Ann Rheum Dis. 30:3.
- Gardner DL. 1972. The influence of microscopic technology in knowledge of cartilage surface structure. Ann Rheum Dis. 30:15.
- 40. Maroudas A. 1973. Physico-chemical properties of articular cartilage.
  In: Adult articular cartilage. MAR Freeman, editor. Grune & Stratton,

NY pp. 131-170.

- Clark IC. 1971. Surface characteristic of human articular cartilage. A scanning electron microscope study. J Anat. 108:23.
- 42. Clark IC. 1971. Human articular cartilage surface contours and related surface depression frequency studies. Ann Rheum Dis. 30:15.
- Rosenberg L. 1971. Chemical basis for the histological use of safranin O in the study of articular cartilage. J Bone Joint Surg. 53A: 69.
- Repo RU and Mitchell N. 1971. Collagen synthesis in mature articular cartilage of the rabbit. J Bone Joint Surg. 53:541.
- 45 Horwitz AL and Dorfman A. 1968. Subcellular sites for synthesis of chondromucoprotein of cartilage. J Cell Biol. 38:358.
- 46. Kempson G. 1980. The mechanical properties of articular cartilage. In: The Joints and Synovial Fluid, vol. 2. L. Sokoloff, editor. Academic Press, New York. pp. 238-239.
- 47. Kempson GE. 1973. Mechanical properties of articular cartilage and their relationship to matrix degradation and age. Ann Rheum Dis. 34:111.
- 48. Ghadially FN and S Roy. 1969. Ultrastructure of synovial joints in health and disease. Butterworths, London, p. 36.
- 49. Fawns HT and Landells JW. 1953. Histochemical studies of rheumatic conditions. 1: Observations on the fine structure of the matrix of normal bone and cartilage. Ann Rheum Dis. 12:105.
- Maroudas A. 1979. Physicochemical properties of articular cartilage.
  In: Adult articular cartilage, 2nd ed. MAR Freeman, Editor. Pitman Medical, London, pp. 215-290.

- Muir H, Bullough E and Maroudas A. 1970. The distribution of collagen in human articular cartilage with some of its physiological implications. J Bone Joint Surg. 52B:554.
- 52. Bayliss M, Venn M, Maroudas A, and Ali S. 193. Structure of proteoglycans from different layers of human articular cartilage. Biochem J. 209: 387.
- 53. Ratcliffe A, Fryer P and Hardingham T. 1984. The distribution of aggregating proteoglycans in articular cartilage: comparison of quantitative immunoelectron microscopy with radioimmunoassay and biochemical analysis. J Histochem Cytochem. 32:193.
- 54. Eyre DR, Wu J.-J and Apon S. 1987. A growing family of collagens in articular cartilage: Identification of five genetically distinct types. J Rheum (Suppl. 14) 14:25.
- 55. Mehdler M, Eich-Beinder SG, Vaugham L, Winterhalter KH and Bruckner
  P. 1989. Cartilage contains mixed fibrils of collagen types II, IX and
  XI. J Cell Biol. 108:191.
- 56. Gay S and Miller EJ. 1983. What is a collagen, what is not. Ultrastruct Pathol. 4:365.
- 57. Miller EJ and Gay S. 1987. The collagens: an overview/update. Methods Enzymol. 144:3.
- 58. van der Rest M and Mayne R. 1988. Type IX collagen-proteoglycan from cartilage is covalently cross-linked to type II collagen. J Biol Chem. 263:1615.
- Miller EJ. 1985. The structure of fibril-forming collagens. Ann NY Acad Sci (USA). 64:12614.

- Atassi MZ. ed. 1977. Immunochemistry of protein. Volumes I and II.
  Plenum Press, New York.
- Crumpton MJ. 1974. Protein antigens: the molecular bases of antigenicity and immunogenicity. In: The Antigens. Sela M, editor. Volume II. Academic Press, New York, 1-78.
- Sela M, Schechter B, Schechter M, Borek F. 1967. Antibodies to sequential and conformational antigenic determinants. Cold Spring Harbor Symp Quant Biol. 32:537.
- Timpl R. 1984. Immunology of collagens. In: Extracellular Matrix Biochemistry. K. Piez and AH Reddi editors. Elsevier Press. Amsterdam, pp. 159-189.
- Michaeli D. 1977. Immunochemistry of collagen. In: Atassi MZ, editor. Immunochemistry of Proteins. Volume I. Plenum Press, New York, 371-399.
- 65. Timpl R. 1976. Immunological studies on collagen. In: Biochemistry of Collagen. G.N. Ramachandran and A.H. Reddi, editors. Plenum Press, New York. pp. 319-375.
- 66. Hahn E and Timple R. 1973. Involvement of more than a single polypeptide chain in the helical antigenic determinants of collagen. Eur J Immunol. 3:442.
- 67. Beil W, Timpl R and Furthmayr H. 1973. Conformation dependence of antigenic determinants on the collagen molecule. Immunology. 24:13.
- Michaeli D, Martin GR, Kettman J, Benjamini E, Leung DYK and Blatt BA. 1969. Localization of antigenic determinants in the polypeptide chains of collagen. Science. 166:1522.

- 69. Furthmayr H and Timpl R. 1976. Immunochemistry of collagens and procollagens. Int Rev Connect Tissue Res. 7:61.
- 70. Furthmayr H, Stoltz M, Becker U, Beil W and Timpl R. 1972. Chicken antibodies to soluble rat collagen II. Specificity of the reactions with individual polypeptide chains and cyanogen bromide peptides of collagen. Immunochemistry. 9:789.
- Steffen C and Timpl R. 1970. Immunogenicity and specificity of collagen. X. Investigations on collagen determinants by inhibition experiments with peptides obtained after multiple degradation. Zeit. Immunitätsforschung. 139:455.
- 72. Becker U, Nowack H, Gay S and Timpl R. 1976. Production and specificity of antibodies against the aminoterminal region in type III collagen. Immunology. 31:57.
- 73. Furthmayr H, Beil W and Timpl R. 1971. Different antigenic determinants in the polypeptide chains of human collagen. FEBS Lett. 12:341.
- 74. Timpl R, Furthmayr H, Hahn E, Becker U and Stoltz M. 1973. Immunochemistry of collagen. Model properties of a natural protein antigen. Behring Institute Mitt. 53:66.
- 75. Golds EE, Stephen IBM, Esdaile JM, Strawczynski H and Poole AR. 1983. Lymphocyte transformation to connective tissue antigens in adult and juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, systemic lupus erythematosus and a non-arthritic control population. Cellular Immunol. 82:196.
- 76. Adelmann BC and Kirrane J. 1973. The structural basis of cell mediated immunological reactions of collagen. The species specificity

of the cutaneous delayed hypersensitivity reaction. Immunology. 25:123.

- 77. Freytag JW, Noelken ME and Hudson BG. 1979. Physical properties of collagen-sodium dodecyl sulfate complexes. Biochemistry. 18:4761.
- 78. Butkowski RJ, Noelken MR and Hudson BG. 1982. Estimation of the size of collagenous proteins by electrophoresis and gel chromatography, in Methods in Enzymology Vol. 82. LW Cunningham, Frederiksen DW, editors, Academic Press, New York. pp.410-423.
- 79. Strawich E and Nimni ME. 1971. Properties of a collagen molecule containing three identical components extracted from bovine articular cartilage. Biochemistry. 10:3905.
- Kühn. 1987. The classical collagens: Types I, II, III. In: Structure and function of collagen types. R. Mayne, R.E. Burgeson, editors. Academic press, New York, pp. 1-42.
- Petruska J-A and Hodge AS. 1964. A subunit model for the tropocollagen macromolecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci (USA). 57:871.
- Trus BL and Piez KA. 1976. Molecular packing of collagen: three dimensional analysis of electrostatic interactions. J Mol Biol. 108:705.
- 83. Hoffmann H, Fietzek PP and Kühn K. 1978. The role of polar and hydrophobic interactions for the molecular packing of type I collagen: a three dimensional evaluation of amino acid sequence. J Mol Biol. 125:137.
- Hulmes DJ and Miller A. 1979. Quasi-hexagonal molecular packing in collagen fibrils. Nature (London) 282:878.
- 85. Miller EJ and Lunde LG. 1973. Isolation and characterization of the cyanogen bromide peptides from the  $\alpha(II)$  chain of bovine and human

cartilage collagen. Biochemistry. 12:3153.

- Stark M, Miller and Kühn K. 1972. Comparative electron-microscope studies on the collagens extracted from cartilage, bone and skin. Eur J Biochem. 27:192.
- 87. Wiedmann H, Chung E, Fuji T, Miller EJ and Kühn K. 1975. Comparative electron-microscope studies on type III and type I collagens. Eur J Biochem. 51:363.
- Gay S and Miller EJ. 1978. Collagen in the physiology and pathology of connective tissue. Gustav Fisher, Stuttgart. pp. 618-630.
- 89. Gross E and Witkop B. 1961. Nonenzymatic cleavage of peptide bonds: the methionine residues in bovine pancreatic ribonuclease. J Am Chem Soc 83:1510.
- Layman DL, McGoodwin EB and Martin G. 1971. The nature of the collagen synthesized by cultured human fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci (USA). 68:454.
- 91. Bellamy G and Bornstein P. 1971. Evidence for procollagen, a biosynthetic precursor of collagen. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 68:1138.
- 92. Ninomiya Y, Showwalter M, van der Rest M, Seidah NG, Chretien M and Olsen BR. 1984. Structure of the carboxyl propeptide of chicken type II procollagen determined by DNA and protein sequence analysis. Biochemistry. 23:616.
- 93. Fessler LI, Kumamoto CA, Meis ME and Fessler JH. 1981. Assembly and processing of procollagen V(AB) in chick blood vessels and other tissues. J Biol Chem. 256:9640.
- 94. van der Rest M, Rosenberg LC, Olsen BR and Poole AR. 1986. Chondrocalcin is identical with the C-propeptide of type II collagen.

Biochem J. 237:923.

- 95. Poole AR and Rosenberg LC. 1986. Chondrocalcin and the calcification of cartilage. Clin Ortho and Related Res. 208:114.
- 96. Gross J and Levene CJ. 1959. Effect of beta-aminopropionitrile on extractability of collagen from skin of mature guinea pigs. Am J Pathol. 35:687.
- 97. Bornstein P, and Piez KA. 1966. The nature of the intermolecular cross-links on collagen. Biochemistry. 5:3460.
- 98. Rauterberg J, Fietzek P, Rexrodt F, Becker U, Stark M and Kühn K. 1972. The amino acid sequence of the carboxyterminal nonhelical cross link region of the α1 chain of calf skin collagen. FEBS Lett. 21:75
- 99. Sigel RC, Pinnell SR and Martin GR. 1970. Crosslinking of collagen and elastin. Properties of lysyl oxidase. Biochemistry. 9:4486.
- 100. Siegel RC. 1974. Biosynthesis of collagen cross-links: Increased activity of purified lysyl oxidase with reconstituted collagen fibrils. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 71:4826.
- 101. Deshmukh K, and Nimni ME. 1971. Characterization of the aldehydes present on the cyanogen bromide peptides from mature rat skin collagen. Biochemistry. 10:1640.
- 102. Eyre DR and Glimcher MJ. 1972. Reducible cross-links in hydroxylysine-deficient collagens of a heritable disorder of connective tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 69:2594.
- 103. Boucek RJ, Noble NL, Gunja-Smith Z and Butler WT. 1981. The Marfan syndrome: a dificiency in chemically stable collagen crosslinking. New Engl J Med. 305:988.

- 104. Fuji K and Tanzer ML. 1977. Osteogenesis imperfecta: Biochemical studies of bone collagen. Clin Ortho Rel Res. 124:271.
- 105. Nimni ME. 1974. Collagen: its structure and function in normal and pathological connective tissues. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 4:95.
- 106. Butzow JJ and Eichhorn GL. 1968. Physical chemical studies on the age changes in rat tail tendon collagen. Biochem Biophys Acta. 154:208.
- 107. Gonzalez Cadavid N, Denduchis B and Mancini RE. 1963. Soluble collagens in normal rat skin from embryo to adulthood. Lab Invest. 12:598.
- Eyre DR. 1980. Collagen: molecular diversity in the body's protein scaffold. Science. 207:1315.
- 109. Bailey AJ, Ranta MH., Nicholls AC, Partridge SM and Elsden DF. 1977. Isolation of α-amino adipic acid from mature dermal collagen and elastin, evidence for an oxidative pathway in the maturation of collagen and elastin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 78:1403.
- Bornstein P and Sage H. 1980. Structurally distinct collagen types. Annual Rev Biochem. 49:957.
- 111. Haralson MA, Mitchell WM, Rhodes RK, Kresina TF, Gay R and Miller EJ. 1980. Physical properties and polydispersity of proteoglycan from bovine nasal cartilage. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 77:5206.
- 112. Chung E, Rhodes RK and Miller EJ. 1976. Isolation of three collagenous components of probable basement membrane origin from several tissues. Biochem Biophys Res Comm. 71:1167.
- 113. Niyibizi C, Fietzek PP and van der Rest M. 1984. Human placenta type V collagens: evidence for the existance of an alpha 1(V), alpha

2(V), alpha 3(V) collagen molecule. J Biol Chem. 259:14170.

- Trueb B and Bornstein P. 1984. Characterization of the precursor form of type VI collagen. J Biol Chem. 259:8597.
- 115. Martinez-Hernandez A, Gay S and Miller EJ. 1982. Ultrastructural localization of type V collagen in rat kidney. J Cell Biol. 92:343.
- 116. Linsemayer TF, Gross J, Fitch JM and Mayne R. 1985. Are collagen fibrils in the developing avian cornea composed of two different collagen types? Evidence from monoclonal antibody studies. Annals NY Acad Sci. USA. 460:432.
- 117. Von der Mark M, Aumailley M, Wick G, Fleischmayer R and Timpl R.
  1984. Immunochemistry, genuine size and tissue localization of collagen VI. Eur J Biochem. 142:493.
- 118. Jander R, Rautberg J and Glanville RW. 1983. Further characterization of the three polypeptide chains of bovine and human short-chain collagen (intima collagen). Eur J Biochem. 133:39.
- 119. Odermatt E, Risteli J, van Delden V and Timpl R. 1983. Structural diversity and domain composition of a unique collagenous fragment (intima collagen) obtained from human placenta. Biochem J. 211:295.
- Bruns RR. 1984. Beaded filaments and type VI collagen. J Ultrastructure Res. 89:136.
- 121. Timpl R and Engel J. 1987. Type VI collagen. In: Structure and Function of Collagen Types. R. Mayne and R. Burgeson, editors. Academic Press, New York. pp. 105-140.
- 122. Wu JJ, Eyre DR and Slayter HS. 1987. Type VI collagen of the intervertebral disc. Biochemical and electron-microscopic characterization of the native protein. 1987. Biochem J. 248:373.

- 123. McCormick D, van der Rest M, Goodship G, Lozarno G, Ninomiya Y and Olsen BR. 1987. Structure of the glycosaminoglycan domain in the type IX collagen-proteoglycan. Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA. 84:4044.
- 124. Vaughan L, Huber S, Chiquet M and Winterhalter KH. 1987. A major, six-armed glycoprotein from embryonic cartilage. EMBO J. 6:349.
- 125. Eyre DS, Apon S, Wu JJ, Ericsson LH and Walsh KA. 1987. Collagen type IX: evidence for covalent cross-linkages to type II collagen in cartilage. FEBS Lett. 220:337.
- 126. van der Rest M and Mayne R. 1987. Type IX collagen. In: Structure and Function of Collagen Types. R. Mayne and R.E. Burgeson, editors. Academic Press, New York. pp.195-221.
- Reese CA and Mayne R. 1981. Minor collagens of chicken hyaline cartilage. Biochemistry. 20:5443.
- 128. van der Rest M, Mayne R, Ninomiya Y, Seidah NG, Cretien M and OlsenBR. The structure of type IX collagen. 1985. J Biol Chem. 260:220.
- 129. Huber S, van der Rest M, Bruckner P, Rodriguez E, Winterhalter KH and Vaughan L. 1986. Identification of the type IX collagen polypeptide chains. The alpha 2(IX) polypeptide carries the chondroitin sulfate chain(s). J Biol Chem. 261:5965.
- 130. Yasui N, Benya PD and Nimni ME. 1986. Coordinate regulation of type IX and type II collagen synthesis during growth of chick chondrocytes in retinoic acid or 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine. J Biol Chem. 261:7997.
- Reese CA and Mayne R. 1981. Minor collagens of chicken hyaline cartilage. Biochemistry. 20:5443.
- 132. Burgeson RE and Hollister DW. 1979. Collagen heterogenecity in human cartilage: identification of several new collagen chains.

Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 87:1124.

- 133. Rosenberg L, Hellmann W and Kleinschmidt AK. 1975. Electron microscopic studies of proteoglycan aggregates from bovine articular cartilage. J Biol Chem. 250:1877.
- 134. Eyre D and Wu J-J. 1987. Type XI, a 1α, 2α, 3α. In: Structure of Collagen Types. R. Mayne and R.E. Burgeson, editors. Academic Press, New York. pp. 261-281.
- 135. Burgeson RE, Hebda PA, Morris NP and Hollister DW. 1982. Human cartilage collagens. Comparison of cartilage collagens with human type V collagen. J Biol Chem. 257:7852.
- 136. Smith GN, Williams JM and Brandt KD. 1985. Interaction of proteoglycans with the pericellular (1 alpha, 2 alpha, 3 alpha) collagens of cartilage. J Biol Chem. 260:10761.
- 137. Kempson GE, Muir H, Pollard C and Tuke M. 1973. The tensile properties of the cartilage of human femoral condyles related to the content of collagen and glycosaminoglycans. Biochem Biophys Acta. 297:465.
- 138. Paulsson M, Mörgelin M, Wiedmann H, Beardmore-Gray M, Dunham D, Hardingham T, Heinegård D, Timpl R and Engel J. 1987. Extended and globular protein domains in cartilage proteoglycans. Biochem J. 245:763.
- 139. Doege K, Fernandez P, Hassell JR, Sasaki M, and Yamada Y. 1986. Partial cDNA sequence encoding a globular domain at the C terminus of the rat cartilage proteoglycan. J Biol Chem. 261:8108.
- 140. Hascall VC and Heinegård D. 1974. Aggregation of cartilage proteoglycans: II. oligosaccharide competitors of the proteoglycan

hyaluronic interaction. J Biol Chem. 249:4242.

- 141. Muir H. 1979. In: Adult Articular Cartilage. A.R. Freeman, editor,2nd edition, Pitman Medical, Tunbridge Wells, England. pp. 145-214.
- 142. Rosenberg L, Hellmann W and Kleinschmidt AK. 1970. Macromolecular models of protein polysaccharides from bovine nasal cartilage based on electron microscopic studies. J Biol Chem. 245:4123.
- 143. Caterson B and Baker JR. 1979. The link proteins as specific components of cartilage proteoglycan aggregates in vivo. Associative extraction of proteoglycan aggregate from Swarm rat chondrosarcoma. J Biol Chem. 254:2387.
- 144. Bonnett F, Dunham DG and Hardingham TE. 1985. Structure and interactions of cartilage proteoglycan binding region and link protein. Biochem J. 228:77.
- 145. Roberts CR, Mort JS and Roughley PJ. 1987. Treatment of cartilage proteoglycan aggregate with hydrogen peroxide. Relationship between observed degradation products and those that occur naturally during aging. Biochem J. 247:349.
- 146. Hascall VC and Sajdera SW. 1970. Protein polysaccharide complex from bovine nasal cartilage. A comparison of low and high shear extraction forces. J Biol Chem. 245:4920.
- 147. Hascall VC and Heinegård D. 1979. Aggregation of cartilage proteoglycans. I. The role of hyaluronic acid. J Biol Chem. 249:4232.
- 148. Wahl M, Wahl SM, Mergenhagen SE and Martin GR. 1975. Collagenase production by lymphokine-activated macrophages. Science. 187:261.

- 149. Dayer JM, Russell RGG and Krane SM. 1977. Collagenase production by rheumatoid synovial cells: stimulation by a human lymphocyte factor. Science. 195:18.
- Ehrlich M, Mankin, H, Jones H, Wright R, Crispen C and Vigliani G.
  1977. Collagenase and collagenase inhibitors in osteoarthritic and normal human cartilage. J Clin Invest. 59:226.
- 151. Woolley DE, Crossley MJ and Evanson JM. 1977. Collagenase at sites of cartilage erosion in the rheumatoid joint. Arthritis Rheum. 20:1231.
- 152. Gross J and Nagai Y. 1965. Specific degradation of the collagen molecule by tadpole collagenolytic enzyme. Proc Nat Acad Sci. USA. 54:1197.
- 153. Stricklin GP, Bauer EA, Jeffrey JJ and Eisen AZ. 1977. Human skin collagenase: isolation of precursor and active forms from both fibroblast and organ cultures. Biochemistry. 16:1607.
- 154. Stricklin GP and Hubbs MS. 1988. Biochemistry and physiology of mammalian collagenases. In: Collagen Vol. 1: Biochemistry. M.E. Nimni, editor. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida. pp. 187-205.
- 155. Nagase H, Jackson RC, Brinckerhoff CE, Vater CA and Harris ED Jr. 1981. A precursor form of latent collagenase produced in a cell-free system with mRNA from rabbit synovial cells. J Biol Chem. 256:11951.
- 156. Fini ME, Plucinska IM, Mayer AS, Gross RH and Brinckerhoff CE. 1987. A gene for rabbit synovial cell collagenase: member of a family of metalloproteinases that degrade the connective tissue matrix. Biochemistry. 26:6156.

- 157. Swann JC, Reynolds JJ and Galloway WA. 1981. Zinc metalloenzyme properties and active and latent collagenase from rabbit bone. Biochem J. 195:41.
- 158. Christner J-M, Brown M and Dziewiatkowski DD. 1977. Interaction of cartilage proteoglycans with hyaluronic acid: The role of the hyaluronic acid carboxyl groups. Biochem J. 167:711.
- 159. Muller D, Quantin B, Gesnel MC, Millon-Collard R, Abecassis J and Breathnach R. 1987. The collagenase gene family in humans consists of at least four members. Biochem J. 253:187.
- 160. Miller EJ, Harris ED Jr., Chung E, Finch JE Jr., McCroskery PA and Butler W. 1976. Cleavage of type II and III collagens with mammalian collagenase: site of cleavage and primary structure at the NH<sub>2</sub>terminal portion of the smaller fragment released from both collagens. Biochemistry. 15:787.
- 161. Gross J, Highberger JH, Johnson-Wint B and Biswas C. 1980. Mode of action and regulation of tissue collagenase. In: Collagenase in Normal and Pathological Connective Tissues. D.E. Woolley and J.M. Evanson, editors. John Wiley and Sons, New York. pp. 11-36.
- 162. Gadher SJ, Eyre DR, Duance VC, Wotton SF, Heck LW, Schmid TM and Woolley DE. 1988. Susceptibility of cartilage collagens type II, IX, X and XI to human synovial collagenase and neutrophil elastase. Eur J Biochem. 175:1.
- 163. Vaes G and Eeckhout Y. 1975. Procollagenase and its activation. In: Dynamics of connective tissue macromolecules. M.C. Burleigh, A.R. Poole, editors. North-Holland Amsterdam. pp. 129-146.

- 164. Werb Z, Mainardi CL, Vater CA and Harris ED Jr. 1977. Endogenous activation of collagenase secreted by rheumatoid synovial cells: evidence for the role of plasminogen activator. N Eng J Med. 296:1017.
- 165. Nagase H, Cawston TE, DeSilva M and Barrett AJ. 1982. Identification of plasma kallikrein as an activator of latent collagenase in rheumatoid synovial fluid. Biochem Biophys Acta. 702:133.
- Murphy G, Cockett MI, Stephens PE, Smith BJ and Doherty AJP. 1987.
  Stromelysin is an activator of procollagenase. Biochem J. 248:265.
- Solomon L. 1976. Patterns of osteoarthritis of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg. 56B: 176-183.
- Cawston TE, Galloway WA, Mercer E, Murphy G and Reynolds JJ.
  1981. Purification of rabbit bone inhibitor of collagenase. Biochem J.
  195:159.
- 169. Stricklin G and Welgus H. 1983. Human skin fibroblast collagenase inhibitor. Purification and biochemical characterization. J Biol Chem. 258:12252.
- 170. Killackey J, Rougley PJ and Mort JS. 1983. Proteinase inhibitors of human articular cartilage. Coll Rel Res. 3:419.
- 171. Burleigh M, Barratt A and Lazarus G. 1974. Cathepsin B1. A collagen lysosomal enzyme that degrades native collagen. Biochem J. 137:387.
- 172. Ohlsson K and Olsson I. 1974. The neutral proteases of human granulocytes. Isolation and partial characterization of granulocyte elastases. Eur J Biochem. 42:519.
- 173. Anastasi A, Brown M, Kembhavi A, Nicklin M, Sayers C, Sunter D and Barrett A. 1983. Cystatin, a protein inhibitor of cysteine proteinases.

Improved purification from egg white, characterization, and detection in chicken serum. Biochem J. 211:129.

- 174. Hall P and Roberts R. 1978. Physical and chemical properties of human plasma α<sub>2</sub>-macroglobulin. Biochem J. 171:27.
- 175. Burleigh MC. 1977. Degradation of collagen by non-specific proteinases. In: Proteinases in Mammalian Cells and Tissues. A.J. Barrett, editor. Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam. pp.285-309.
- 176. Mort J, Recklies A and Poole AR. 1984. Extracellular presence of the lysosomal proteinase cathepsin B in rheumatoid synovium and its activity at neutral pH. Arthritis Rheum. 27:509.
- Murphy G, Nagase H and Brinckerhoff CE. 1988. Relationship of procollagenase activator, stromelysin and matrix metalloproteinase 3.
   Coll Relat Res. 8:289.
- 178. Werb Z and Burleigh MC. 1974. A specific collagenase from rabbit fibroblasts in monolayer culture. Biochem J. 137:373.
- 179. Poole AR. 1977. In: Lysosomes, A Laboratory Handbook. J.T. Dingle editor, 2nd edition, North Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 245-312.
- Harris ED Jr. and Krane SM. 1972. An endopeptidase from rheumatoid synovial tissue culture. Biochem Biophys Acta. 258:566.
- 181. Galloway WA, Murphy G, Sandy JD, Gavrilovic J, Cawston TE and Reynolds JJ. 1983. Purification and characterization of a rabbit bone metalloproteinase that degrades proteoglycan and other connectivetissue components. Biochem J. 209:741.
- 182. Seltzer JL, Adams SA, Grant GA and Eisen AZ. 1981. Purification and properties of a gelatin-specific neutral protease from human skin. J Biol Chem. 256:4662.

- 183. Chin J, Murphy G and Werb Z. 1985. Stromelysin, a connective tissuedegrading metalloendopeptidase secreted by stimulated rabbit synovial fibroblasts in parallel with collagenase. J Biol Chem. 260:12367.
- 184. Okada Y, Nagase H and Harris ED Jr. 1986. A metalloproteinase from human rheumatoid synovial that digests connective tissue matrix components. J Biol Chem. 261:14245.
- 185. Gunja-Smith Z, Nagase H and Woessner JF Jr. 1989. Purification of the neutral proteoglycan-degrading metalloproteinase from human articular cartilage tissue and its identification as stromelysin matrix metalloproteinase-3. Biochem J. 258:115.
- 186. Wilhelm SM, Collier IE, Kronberger A, Elsen AZ, Marmer BL, Grant GA, Baur EA and Goldberg GI. 1987. Human skin fibroblast stromelysin: structure, glycosolation, substrate specificity and differential expression in normal tumorigenic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA. 84:6725.
- 187. Vater CA, Nagase H and Harris ED Jr. 1983. Purification of an endogenous activator of procollagenase from rabbit synovial fibroblast cultural medium. J Biol Chem. 258:9374.
- 188. Ito A and Nagase H. 1988. Evidence that human rheumatoid synovial matrix metalloproteinase 3 is an endogenous activator of procollagenase. Arch Biochem and Biophysics. 267:211.
- 189. Gavrilovic J, Reynolds JJ and Murphy G. 1985. Inhibition of type I collagen film degradation by tumour cells by using a specific antibody to collagenase and the specific tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP). Cell Biol Int Rep. 9:1097.

- 190. Werb Z, Mainardi CL, Vater CA and Harris ED Jr. 1977. Endogenous activation of latent collagenase by rheumatoid synovial cells. Evidence for a role of plasminogen activator. N Eng J Med. 296:1017.
- 191. Fini ME, Karmilowicz MJ, Ruby PL, Beeman AM, Borges KA and Brinckerhoff CE. 1987. Cloning of a complementary DNA for rabbit proactivator. Arthritis Rheum. 30:1254.
- 192. Quinones S, Saus J, Otani Y, Harris ED Jr. and Kurkinen MK. 1989. Transcriptional regulation of human stromelysin. J Biol Chem. 264:8339.
- 193. Atkins E. 1960. Pathogenesis of fever. Physiol Rev. 40:580.
- 194. Dinarello C. 1984. Interleukin 1. Reviews of infectious diseases. 6:51.
- 195. Gery I and Waksman BH. 1972. Potentiation of the T-lymphocyte response to mitogens. II. The cellular source of potentiating mediator(s). J Exp Med. 136:143.
- 196. Krane S, Dayer J-M, Simon LS and Byrne S. 1985. Mononuclear cellconditioned medium containing mononuclear cell factor (MCF), homologous with interleukin 1, stimulates collagen and fibronectin synthesis by adherent rheumatoid synovial cells: Effects of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> and indomethacin. Collagen Relat Res. 5:99.
- 197. Saklatvala J, Sarsfield SJ and Townsend Y. 1985. Pig interleukin 1. Purification of two immunologically different leukocyte proteins that cause cartilage resorption, lymphocyte activation and fever. J Exp Med. 162:1208.
- 198. Gery I and Lepe-Zuniga J. 1984. Interleukin 1. Uniqueness of its production and spectrum of activities. Lymphokines. 9:109.
- 199. Dinarello C. 1989. Interleukin-1 and its biologically related cytokines. Advances in Immunology. 44:153.
- 200. Clark BD, Collins KL, Gandy MS, Webb AC and Auron PE. 1986. Genomic sequence for human prointerleukin-1 beta: possible evolution from a reverse transcribed prointerleukin-1 alpha gene. Nucleic Acids Research. 14:7897.
- 201. Dayer JM, de Rochemoneix B, Burrus B, Demczuk S and Dinarello CA. 1986. Human recombinant interleukin 1 stimulates collagenase and prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> production by human synovial cells. J Clin Invest. 77:645.
- 202. Ratcliffe A, Tyler JA and Hardingham TE. 1986. Articular cartilage cultured with interleukin 1. Increased release of link protein, hyaluronate-binding region and other proteoglycan fragments. Biochem J. 238:571.
- 203. Dingle JT, Thomas-Page DP, King B and Bard DR. 1987. <u>In vivo</u> studies of articular tissue damage mediated by catabolin/interleukin 1. Ann Rheum Dis. 46:527.
- 204. Campbell IK, Golds EE, Mort JS and Roughley PJ. 1986. Human articular cartilage secretes characteristic metal dependent proteinases upon stimulation by mononuclear cell factor. J Rheumatology. 13:20.
- 205. Dayer J-M, Trentham D and Krane S. 1982. Collagens act as ligands to stimulate human monocytes to produce mononuclear cell factor (MCF) and prostaglandins (PGE<sub>2</sub>). Coll Rel Res. 2:523.
- 206. Malemud C and Sokoloff L. 1977. The effect of prostaglandins on cultured lapine articular chondrocytes. Prostaglandins. 13:845.

- 207. Lippiello L, Yamamato K, Robinson D and Mankin H. 1978. Involvement of prostaglandins from rheumatoid synovium in inhibition of articular cartilage metabolism. Arthritis Rheum. 21:909.
- 208. Nouri AME, Panayi GS and Goodman SM. 1984. Cytokines and the chronic inflammation of rheumatic disease. The presence of interleukin-1 in synovial fluids. Clin Exp Immunol. 55:295.
- 209. Wood DD, Ihrie EJ, Dinarello CA and Cohen PL. 1983. Isolation of an interleukin-1-like factor from human joint effusions. Arthritis Rheum. 26:975.
- 210. Schnyder J, Payne T and Dinarello CA. 1987. Human monocyte or recombinant interleukin 1 are specific for the secretion of a metalloproteinase from chondrocytes. J Immunol. 138:496.
- 211. Trechsel U, Dew G and Murphy G. 1982. Effects of products from macrophages, blood mononuclear cells and of retinol on collagenase secretion and collagen synthesis in chondrocyte culture. Biochem Biophys Acta. 720:364.
- 212. Meats J, McGuire M and Russell R. 1980. Human synovium releases a factor which stimulates chondrocyte production of PGE and plasminogen activator. Nature. 286:891.
- 213. Pettipher ER, Higgs GA and Henderson B. 1986. Interleukin 1 induces leukocyte infiltration and cartilage proteoglycan degradation in the synovial joint. Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA. 83:8749.
- 214. Larrick JW. 1989. Native interleukin 1 inhibitors. Immunol Today. 10:61.
- 215. Prieur AM, Kaufman MT, Griscelli C and Dayer JM. 1987. Specific interleukin-1 inhibitor in serum and urine of children with systemic

juvenile chronic arthritis. Lancet. 240:1242.

- 216. Seckinger P, Lowenthal JW, Williamson K, Dayer JM and MacDonald HR. 1987. A urine inhibitor of interleukin 1 activity that blocks ligand binding. J Immunol. 139:1546.
- 217. Liao Z, Grimshaw R and Rosenstreich D. 1984. Identification of a specific interleukin-1 inhibitor in the urine of febrile patients. J Exp Med. 159:126.
- 218. Brinckerhoff CE, Mitchell TI, Karmicowicz MJ, Kluve-Beckerman B and Benson MD. 1989. Autocrine induction of collagenase by serum amyloid A-like and β<sub>2</sub>-microglogulin-like proteins. Science. 243:655.
- 219. Dwulett FE, Wallace DK and Benson MD. 1988. Amino acid structures of multiple forms of amyloid-related serum protein SAA from a single individual. Biochemistry. 27:1677.
- 220. Fell HB and Barratt MEJ. 1973. The role of soft connective tissue in the breakdown of pig articular cartilage cultivated in the presence of complement-sufficient antiserum to pig arythrocytes. I. Histological changes. Int Arch All Appl Immunol. 44:441.
- 221. Fell HB, Barratt MEJ, Welland H, Green R and Poole AR. 1976. The capacity of pig articular cartilage in organ culture to regenerate after breakdown induced by complement-sufficient antiserum to pig erythrocytes. Calcif Tiss Res. 20:3.
- 222. Eeckhout Y and Vaes G. 1977. Further studies on the activation of procollagenase, the latent precursor of bone collagenase. Effects of lysosomal cathepsin B, plasmin and kallikrein, and spontaneous activation. Biochem J. 166:21.

- 223. Poole AR. 1986. Changes in the collagen and proteoglycan of articular cartilage in arthritis. J Rheumatol. 10:316.
- 224. Stuart J, Postlethwaite A and Kang A. 1976. Evidence for cellmediated immunity to collagen in progressive system sclerosis. J Lab Clin Med. 88:601.
- 225. Endler A, Zielinski C, Menzel E, Smolen J, Schwägerl W, Endler M, Eberl R, Frank O and Steffen C. 1978. Leukocyte migration inhibition with collagen type I and collagen type III in rheumatoid arthritis and degenerative joint diseases. Zeit Rheumatol. 37:87.
- 226. Trentham D, Kammer G, McCune W and David J. 1981. Autoimmunity to collagen. A shared feature of psoriatic and rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 24:1363.
- 227. Fisher WD, Golds EE, Lyons HE, van der Rest M, Cooke TD and Poole AR. 1982. Stimulation of collagenase secretion from rheumatoid synovium by human collagen peptides and evidence of autoimmunity. J Bone Joint Surg. 64A:546.
- 228. Champion BR and Poole AR. 1982. Immunity to homologous type II collagen after partial meniscectomy and sham surgery in rabbits. Arthritis Rheum. 25:274.
- 229. Champion BR, Sell S and Poole AR. 1983. Immunity to homologous collagens and cartilage proteoglycans in rabbits. Immunology. 48:605.
- 230. Trentham D, Dynesius R and David J. 1978. Passive transfer by cells of type II collagen-induced arthritis in rats. J Clin Invest. 62:359.
- 231. Stuart J, Cremer MM, Townes A and Kang A. 1982. Type II collageninduced arthritis in rats. Passive transfer with serum and evidence that IgG anticollagen antibodies can cause arthritis. J Exp Med. 155:1.

- 232. Holoshitz J, Naparstek Y, Ben-Nun A and Cohen I. 1983. Lines of T lymphocytes induce or vaccinate against autoimmune arthritis. Science. 219:56.
- 233. Courtenay JS, Dallman MJ, Dayan AD, Martin A and Mosedale I. 1980. Immunization against heterologous type II collagen induces arthritis in mice. Nature. 283:666.
- 234. Holmadahl R, Klareskog L, Rubin K, Larsson E and Wigzell H. 1985. T lymphocytes in collagen II-induced arthritis in mice: Characterization of arthritogenic collagen II specific T-cell lines and clones. Scand J Immunol. 22:295.
- 235. Andriopoulos NA, Mestecky J, Miller EJ and Bradley EL. 1976. Antibodies to native and denatured collagens in sera of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 19:613.
- 236. Moskowitz RW and Goldberg VM. 1988. Osteoarthritis. In Primer on the rheumatic diseases. 9th edition. H. Ralph Schumacher, Jr. editor. Arthritis Foundation, Atlanta GA. pp. 171-176.
- 237. Goldenberg D, Egan M and Cohen A. 1982. Inflammatory synovitis in degenerative joint disease. J Rheumatol. 9:204.
- 238. Altman R, Asch E, Bloch D, Bole G, Borenstein D, Brandt K, Christy W, Cooke TD, Greenwald R and Hochberg M. 1986. Development of criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum. 29:1039.
- 239. Mankin HJ and Thrasher AZ. 1975. Water content and binding in normal and osteoarthritic human cartilage. J Bone Jt Surg. 57A:76.
- 240. Mankin H and Lippiello L. 1970. Biochemical and metabolic abnormalities in articular cartilage from osteo-arthritic human hips. J

Bone Jt Surg. 52A:424.

- 241. Venn M and Maroudas A. 1977. Chemical composition and swelling of normal and osteoarthrotic femoral head cartilage. I. Chemical composition. Ann Rheum Dis. 36:121.
- 242. Adam M and Deyl Z. 1983. Altered expression of collagen phenotype in osteoarthrosis. Clinic Chim Acta. 133:25.
- 243. Mankin HJ. 1974. The reaction of articular cartilage to injury and osteoarthritis. N Eng J Med. 291:1285.
- 244. Vignon E, Arlot M, Hartmannn, D, Moyen B and Ville G. 1983. Hypertrophic repair of articular cartilage in experimental osteoarthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 42:82.
- 245. Barrett A. 1978. The possible role of neutrophil proteinases in damage to articular carilage. Agents Actions. 8:11.
- 246. Schrier D, Gilbertson R, Lesch M and Fantone J. 1984. The role of neutrophils in type II collagen-induced arthritis. Am J Path. 117:26.
- 247. Zvaifler N. 1988. Rheumatoid arthritis, In: Primer on the Rheumatic Diseases. Ninth edition, H.R. Schumacher, editor. Arthritis Foundation, GA. pp. 83-87.
- 248. Mitchell D. 1985. Epidemiology of rheumatoid arthritis. In: Rheumatoid Arthritis, Etiology, Diagnosis, and Management. P.D. Utsinger, N. Zvaifler, G. Ehrlich, editors. Lippincott, Phila. pp.133-150.
- 249. Panayi GS, Wooley P and Batchelor JR. 1978. Genetic bases of rheumatic diseases: HLA antigens, disease manifestations and toxic reactions to drugs. Brit Med J. 2:1326.

- 250. Hurley CK, Giles RC and Capra JD. 1983. The human MHC evidence for multiple HLA-D region genes. Imm Today. 4:219.
- 251. Kunkel HG and Tan EM. 1964. Autoantigens and disease. Adv Immunol.4:351.
- 252. Trentham D, Dynesius R, Riclin R and David J. 1978. Cellular sensitivity to collagen in rheumatoid arthritis. New Engl J Med. 299:327.
- 253. Stuart J, Postlethwaite A, Townes A and Kang A. 1980. Cell-mediated immunity to collagen and collagen α chains in rheumatoid arthritis and other rheumatic diseases. Am J Med. 69:13.
- 254. Golds EE and Poole AR. 1984. Connective tissue antigens stimulate collagenase production in arthritic diseases. Cellular Immunol. 86:190.
- 255. Trentham DE, Townes AS and Kang AH. 1977. Autoimmunity to type II collagen: an experimental model of arthritis. J Exp Med. 146:857.
- 256. Dayer JM, Breard J and Chess L. 1979. Participation of monocyte macrophages and lymphocytes in the production of a factor that stimulates collagenase and prostaglandin release by rheumatoid synovial cells. J Clin Invest. 64:1386.
- 257. Harris ED Jr., DiBona DR and Krane SM. 1970. A mechanism for cartilage destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Trans Assoc Am Physicians. 83:267.
- 258. Harris ED Jr., Glauert AM and Murley AHG. 1977. Intracellular fibers at the pannus-cartilage junction in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 20:657.
- 259. Mitchell NS and Shepard N. 1978. Changes in proteoglycan and collagen in cartilage in rheumatoid arthritis. J Bone Joint Surg. 60A:349.

- 260. Steinberg J, Tsukamoto T and Sledge C. 1983. Breakdown of cartilage in a tissue culture model of rheumatoid arthritis. Biochem Biophys Acta. 757:47.
- 261. Witter J, Roughley PJ, Webber C, Roberts N, Keystone E and Poole AR. 1987. The immunologic detection and characterization of cartilage proteoglycan degradation products in synovial fluids of patients with arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 30:519.
- 262. Thomson BM, Mundy GR and Chambers TJ. 1987. Tumor necrosis factors  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  induce osteoblastic cells to stimulate osteoclastic bone resorption. J Immunol. 738:775.
- 263. Tateishi H. 1973. Ultrastructure of synovio-cartilage junction in rheumatoid arthritis. Kobe J Med Sci. 19:15.
- 264. Uhlinger E. 1971. Bone changes in rheumatoid arthritis and their pathogenesis. In: Rheumatoid Arthritis: Pathogenic Mechanisms and Consequences in Therapeutics. W. Muller, H.G. Horweth, K. Fehr, editors. London Academic Press, pp.25-36.
- 265. Bromley M and Woolley DE. 1984. Chondroclasts and osteoclasts at subchondral sites of erosion in the rheumatoid joint. Arthritis Rheum. 27:968.
- 266. Epstein EH. 1974. 1 [ α 1(III)]3 human skin collagen. Release by pepsin digestion and preponderance in fetal life. J Biol Chem. 249:3225.
- 267. Tang LH, Rosenberg LC, Reiner A and Poole AR. 1979. Proteoglycans from bovine nasal cartilage. Properties of a soluble form of link protein. J Biol Chem. 254:10523.
- 268. Heinegård D. 1972. Extraction, fractionation and characterization of proteoglycans from bovine tracheal cartilage. Biochem Biophys Acta.

285:181.

- 269. Scott PG, Tesler AG and Veis A. 1976. Semiquantitative determination of cyanogen bromide peptides of collagen in SDS-polyacrylamide gels. Analytical Biochem. 70:251.
- 270. Eyre DR and Muir H. 1975. Characterization of the major CNBrderived peptides of porcine type II collagen. Connective Tiss Res. 3:165.
- 271. van der Rest M, Bennett H-P J, Solomon S and Glorieux F. 1980. Separation of collagen cyanogen bromide-derived peptide by reversed phase high performance liquid chromotography. Biochem J. 191:253.
- 272. Hjelm H, Hjelm K, and Sjöquist J. 1972. Protein A from Staphloccus aureus. Its isolation by affinity chromatography and its use as an immunosorbent for the isolation of immunoglobins. FEBS Lett. 28:73.
- 273. Champion BR and Poole AR. 1981. Immunity to homologous cartilage proteoglycans in rabbits with chronic inflammatory arthritis. Coll Rel Res. 5:453.
- 274. Rosenberg LC, Choi H, Tang L-H, Johnson T, Pal S, Webber C, Reiner A and Poole AR. 1985. Isolation of dermatan sulfate proteoglycans from mature bovine articular cartilages. J Biol Chem. 260:6304.
- 275. Laemmli UK. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature. 227:680.
- 276. Towbin H, Staehelin T and Gordon J. 1979. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets procedures and some applications. Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA. 76:4350.

- 277. Matsudaira P. 1987. Sequence from picomole quantities of proteins electroblotted onto polyvinylidene difluoride membranes. J Biol Chem. 262:10035.
- 278. Pappas PW. 1971. The use of a chrome alum-gelatin (subbing) solution as a general adhesive for parafin sections. Stain Technology. 46:121.
- 279. Poole AR, Dingle JT, Mallia AK and Goodman DS. 1975. The localization of retinol-binding protein in rat liver by immunofluorescence microscopy. J Cell Sci. 19:379.
- 280. Danscher G and Nögaard JOR. 1983. Light microscopic visualization of colloidal gold on resin-embedded tissue. J Histochem Cytochem. 31:1394.
- 281. Cawston TE and Barrett AJ. 1979. A rapid and reproducible assay for collagenase using [<sup>14</sup>C] acetylated collagen. Analytical Biochem. 99:340.
- 282. Miller EJ. 1985. The structure of fibril-forming collagens. Ann NY Acad Sci. 460:1.
- 283. Van der Rest M, Cole WG and Glorieux FH. 1977. Human collagen "fingerprints" produced by Clostridopeptidase A digestion and high pressure liquid chromatography. Biochem J. 161:527.
- 284. Eyre DR, Wu J-J and Apon S. 1987. A growing family of collagens in articular cartilage: Identification of 5 genetically distinct types. J Rheum (Supplement 14). 14:25.
- 285. Galloway D. 1982. The primary structure. In: Collagen in Health and Disease. J.B. Weiss, M.I.V. Jayson, editors. Churchill Livingstone, New York. pp. 528-558.

- 286. Fietzek PP and Kühn K. 1976. The primary structure of collagen. In: International Review of Connective Tissue Research, Vol 7. D.A. Hall and D.S. Jackson, editors. Academic Press, New York. pp. 1-56.
- 287. Fell HB, Mellanby E and Pelc SR. 1956. Influence of excess vitamin A on the sulfate metabolism of bone rudiments grown <u>in vitro</u>. J Physiol (London). 134:179.
- 288. Tyler A. 1985. Chondrocyte mediated depletion of articular cartilage proteoglycans in vivo. Biochem J. 225:496.
- 289. Dingle JT, Horsfield PM, Fell HB and Barratt MEJ. 1975. Breakdown of proteoglycan and collagen induced in pig articular cartilage in organ culture. Ann Rheum Dis. 34:303.
- 290. Tyler J. 1985. Articular cartilage cultured with catabolin (pig interleukin 1) synthesizes a decreased number of normal proteoglycan molecules. Biochem J. 227:869.
- 291. Campbell IK, Roughley PJ and Mort JS. 1986. The action of human articular cartilage metalloproteinase on proteoglycan and link protein. Biochem J. 237:117.
- 292. DiPasquale G, Caccese R, Pasternak R, Contaty J, Hubbs S and Perry K. 1986. Proteoglycan and collagen-degrading enzymes from human IL-1 stimulated chondrocytes from several species: Proteoglycanase and collagenase inhibitors as potentially new disease-modifying antiarthritic agents (42416). Proc Soc Exptl Bio and Med. 183: 263.
- 293. Caputo B, Sygowski LA, Wolanin DJ, Patton SP, Cacesse RG, Shaw A, Roberts RA and DiPasquale G. 1987. Effects of synthetic metalloprotease inhibitors on cartilage autolysis <u>in vitro</u>. J of Pharm and Exptl Therapeutics. 240:460.

- 294. Kempson GE, Tuke MA, Dingle JT, Barrett AJ and Horsfield PM. 1976. The effects of proteolytic enzymes on the mechanical properties of adult human articular cartilage. Biochem Biophys Acta. 428:741.
- 295. Maroudas A, Ziv I, Weisman N and Venn M. 1985. Studies of hydration and swelling pressure in normal and osteoarthritic cartilage. Biotechnology. 22:159.
- 296. Sweet M, Thonar E, Immelman A and Solomon L. 1977. Biochemical changes in progressive osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 36:387.
- 297. Bayliss M and Ali S. 1978. Isolation of proteoglycans from human articular cartilage. Biochem J. 169:123.
- 298. Mort JS, Poole AR and Roughley PJ. 1983. Age-related changes in the structure of proteoglycan link proteins present in normal human articular cartilage. Biochem J. 214:269.
- 299. McDevitt C, Gilbertson E and Muir H. 1977. An experimental model of osteoarthritis; early morphological and biochemical changes. J Bone Joint Surg. 59B:24.
- 300. Johnson R, and Poole AR. Degenerative changes in dog articular cartilage induced by a unilateral tibial valgus osteotomy. Experimental Path. 33:145.
- 301. Bader DC, Kempson GE, Barrett AJ and Webb W. 1981. The effects of leukocyte elastase on the mechanical properties of adult human articular cartilage in tension. Biochem Biophys Acta. 677:103.
- 302. Fell HB and Jubb RW. 1977. The effect of synovial tissue on the breakdown of articular cartilage in organ culture. Arthritis Rheum. 20:1359.

- 303. Pelletier JP, Martel-Pelletier J, Altman R, Ghandur-Mnaymneh L, Howell D and Woesnner J. Jr. 1983. Collagenolytic activity and collagen matrix breakdown of the articular cartilage in the Pond-Nuki dog model of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 26:866.
- 304. Tyler JA and Benton HP. 1988. Synthesis of type II collagen is decreased in cartilage cultured with interleukin 1 while the rate of intracellular degradation remains unchanged. Coll Rel Res. 8:393.
- 305. Starkey PM, Barrett AJ and Burleigh MC. 1977. The degradation of articular collagen by neutrophil proteineases. Biochem Biophys Acta. 483:386.
- 306. Ugai K, Ziff M and Jasin H. 1979. Interaction of polymorphonuclear leukocytes with immune complexes trapped in joint collagenous tissues. Arthritis Rheum. 22:353.
- 307. Ugai K, Ishikawa H, Hirohata K and Shirane H. 1983. Interaction of polymorphonuclear leukocytes with immune complexes trapped in rheumatoid articular cartilage. Arthritis Rheum. 26:1434.
- 308. Kobayshi I and Ziff M. 1975. Electron microscopic studies of the cartilage in pannus formation in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 18:475.
- 309. Saklatvala J. 1986. Tumour necrosis factor α stimulates resorption and inhibits synthesis of proteoglycan in cartilage. Nature. 322:547.
- 310. Gowen M and Mundy GR. 1986. Actions of recombinant interleukin 1, interleukin 2 and interferon-γ on bone resorption <u>in vitro</u>. J Immunol. 136:2478.
- Bertolini DR, Nedwin GE, Bringman TS, Smith DD and Mundy GR.
  1986. Stimulation of bone resorption and inhibition of bone formation

in vitro by human tumor necrosis factors. Nature. 319:516.

- 312. Aggarwal BB, Kohr WJ, Hass PE, Moffat B, Spenser SA, Henzel WJ, Bringman TS, Nedwin GE, Goeddel DV and Harkins RN. 1985. Human tumor necrosis factor. Production, purification and characterization. J Biol Chem. 260:2345.
- 313. Morgan K, Clague RB, Collins I, Ayas SD, Phinn PJ and Holt L. 1989. A longitudinal study of anticollagen antibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 32:139.